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FOLDER:
4365

DESCRIPTION:

O'Brien, James
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| POOR QUALITY |
ORIGINAL

Police Court—_ =~ District. R

Wity and Conniy 155 ) % . @
of Yot Pork, [T L rrrcrect: o e

of No. Cé: %z - _ Street, aged JZ" yoars,

occupation. I U —L L duly sworn

deposes and says, that the premises No .=, . Street,
zn t?’z’ty and County aforesaid, the said being a

and in WINL s wee wh (Rs INe Tommnn Bedng; Ry ™NTRA

were BURGLARIOU SL.Y entered by means of forcibly

on the

Jollowing property Seloniously tedeen, stolen, and carried away, viz

the property of. /\—y%

and deponent further says, that he Jias great cause_to believe, and does believe, that the aforesaid

BURGHARY was co%l and Hossthresaid property taken, stolen, and carried away by

- P 0 TP L B ([ P2 Ee /z//_//'/{/g/ _____________
e L —— .

’ 4”%/ 5-/
% . y Mm}:; 07%&&{ = O R i
] . /ﬂﬁo He o Cezez 22l .
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%0 2ren peeil //%dee el LD /ﬂ{;-()

4
//é%bf%i&dafé' ,4£Z;Zazaa) a7 ;/494;234a) i

7,

V4 = 7/
%) é/f/ L oz o f.‘éc"é()

o District.
Magistrate

ON THE COMPLAINT OF

THE PEOPLE, &c.,

T R i) —

Police Court,




POOR QUALITY
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CITY AND COUNTY } ss
OF NEW YORK,

aged years, occupat1on

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affida

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

P

éw’o7’7¢/z/0/07’e e, Jz s ™
A

day of ..

Police Fusiice,




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

See. 198—=200, it e . DYistriet ¥olice Court

crry AYH/counTy ) . ;
OF N YORK, (%% ﬂ
W%Z‘O . C WW being duly examined before the under-

signed according to law, on the annexed charge, and being informed that it is h T right to
male a statement in relation to the charge against b—3 that the statement is designed to
enable h—— if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against b

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h waiver cannot be used
against h on the trial.

Question. W, is your nam%
Answer. - /%7 147 m
Question. How old are you?

Answer. g% 7 Z A7 —
Question. WHheéYe were you%
77 o -

Answer.
Question. Where do you live and how long have you resided there?

arier. AL B Lreat T et — T e —

Question. WhaZAs your business or profession?
-7

Answer. C//‘;/w ‘;/&J/Z_:

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony
against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation?

s B

ofoq vy,

M'a;zo
//

/

/// ‘,‘/ ;
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thercin mentioned has been

Tt appearing to 111¢ DY the within depositions and statements that the cring
/%L mf‘%

conmitted, and that there is sufficient cause 1o belicve the within nanved.

be Tueld to answer the sarme and Tee be admitted 1o bail in the sun of

Guilty bl oF, I orcer that he
=X
z _CZa g THundred Dollars and be committed to the Wardern and Keeper of

sor, of the City of Neww Tork, wretil

the City

Date

T have admilted the above-named........

to bail to answer by the undertalcing Tereto annecxed.

Police Justice.

18

Dated

There being no swujficient cause to believe the withir named

Suilty of the offence withir mentioned. I order to be discharded.

Police Justice.
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Gont of Genwerst Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Texr ProPLE OF THE STATE OoF NEW YORK

against

C"' CZrrpn ') (Q ‘ O@M Lz NS

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New Yorl, by this indictment, accuse

? -
K W 2

—

Ward of the City éf New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

2 (,/c'/U in the year of our Lord one
in the >/(_/7/L:/ time of the same da.y, at the

late of the 2 0 'Z,’/\

2 7 ZaN dayof -
thousand eight hundred and ninety- <zZero

. € of

Ward, City and County aforesaid, a celtmn building there situa to wit, the .-

one
2 i A

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, with intent to cox:lyi/, some »
e, N

chiZﬂﬂ in, to wit: with intent the goods, chattels and personal property of the said
e .. (',/ / in the said \sf/éfdsm -

then and there being, then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal, take and carry away,

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dignity-




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

SECOXND COUNT—

aforesaid, by this indictment; further accuse the said

@ /é/jé)j/‘t/(_f_— 1/'\\“,

And the Grand Jury

of the CRIME OF committed as follows :

@ S

The said

-

& S S o 9

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year aforesaid,

at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the % (,7 lo4- - time of said day, with force and arms,

/ %
2 L. .
“Coze.c. -.j\/é»" v %‘_, P --f.—/(// Cra €

< )

el ez v \,,,z;‘,« Cc o2 v ‘/(4 %/ \é‘bfoy\_/‘ ( é//cﬂ a&@»—c‘/_a_,c/.)\
\_/C(,”/L///é%o‘—vm V2 f ‘-/éz (2/"(6 - =, Pl S 4 @——é&\/ﬁ/-

c,/'(/( PR Cer e c

~

ezl é?/v./ C,c’z—z_/éao , Gzaz Cd¢<,,&L/C</W Ccre. e Covpe
"%@' C_ereet . /:v:_,<_/ C/C/ e ,_/Ze‘ji

[ g "LC Sl VR/OL'( 28 O oI e = s

)J/C . Q/yq,xé@w (Z -,/(?l/ R e nt c’:.a/éé,a\
6691&4,/\/01 f % Cora beocc Sy /&——(/\_/2 Coec_ .- ljf‘

k/ <o ‘(«c/(«)-(/i— Qg J C/y/"-’ Z& e g-/lf’ /// %”‘—g/dﬂ‘“——\_/

~

«9’\ ot GOP T e et Mo, ey
4@ 4 conn L C—-«M e A /o,/ 4/6&_4 e % z/a,g
7T

~C <. (/vc_,./yx:(]/ ~ji1/k —%—é . Q_.A._v"v,«l_/ég € o A~

of the goods, chattels and pelsona,l propelty of one Dé%_/z/\/( @( %,/3

in the \_/—— ‘/W'_‘"\MQ__,/" . of the said Og&%@m_d

there situate, then and there being found, in the \/@al(_z

aforesaid, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute

in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York

and their dignity.
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THIRD COUNT:

tL:ls jindictment, further accuse the said

And t!wfe ‘Grand Jury aforesaid, by

< / re )
N @ v2r v a < rtn v

of the c;zxﬁg or/ARECEIVING STOLEN GOODS, c?nmitted as follows :

{ 7 o g
Ml . =2 e ( AN
_____,_/

——

The said

late “of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year afore-

said, with force and arms, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid,

el o L Tt 7o e

PRI /( o & (. o,
\-‘/ oA N e ,( \OC/( P Q. (,_t/(/ //‘(.QW(/‘%‘P_A/(
oz ////L/CJ e A L c-"»-c/(/-?/(_// // “/—(%N-Q
)
—

é'V’L-&(,/C/-C/‘C‘?'@ w/;w

—_

/

of the goods, chattels and personal property of pé(:{? I SN

by a certain person or persons to>the Grand Jury aforesai

iously stolen from the said C O e /(

did feloniously receive and have /gt,he said

unlawfully and unjugtl

knowing the said goods, chattels and persona,l property to have been felon-

jously stolen, aghinst the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the
peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Aitorney.
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Afidavii—Larceny.

City and Eounty )
, o N
of Sew Yok, (7

7 \(//'
ocerep :
(bJ 07/77/ <2 é//%,?{tt the City of

R = ////('11//4//-5/ > L=
esly Ealecen, stolen and cierri ecl aicalf
/\

and that this deponent

u//iyﬁt W rty was felorni-
( A RN e e -

/ EET . . oo e 2 e

77 e < /0//’ <
usZz/ talkern, stolen an d carried away 0Y..C

T A

g /V// ﬂ// R N M%/MW

... Bl e e L A

i ﬂ/ﬂW et ... R e 2 T

7z

%1 e (4/,// /(;(/( ..........

L JE/(///Z A

ET L /z’/ ot = /0"'(/(;% /_/ e ﬂ/w/@é/\
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POOR QUALITY
onlcmuu.

N / beln"‘ dnlv e\‘lmmed ],9101e the wunder-
sxn'ne aceou;lm" to law, h ~ 11«rht to
1 a statement in relation to the (,harge agamst h 4 7/1
 if he see fit to answer the charge and expLun the f'L_cts a.lle"'erl aframst h
js at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h4©  waiver cannot be -ed

against L'\\\ on the trial.

Question.

Answer.

Question: & old are you!
// P
Ansaéer. ,/CA/IL_, P SN

YW here were you born?

Answer. 7@% g

Questzon. Where clo you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer. ‘92/?/ j // L e e @4,& e -

Question. What is your business or profession ?

Amnswer. U e 2

Question. Giveany explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpatlon ’% L

- ///(é/ i y«czﬁg

e e TR /(/




“anamp
™ omapsa[

Ty

Tt appearing to

coranitied, and that there s suwfficiont o

ereof, I order that e be held ansier tle sonve, and

e be cormmitted

T Ivave admiitted the above—tLT e (T o eees i s e

to bail to answer by the wndertalking hereto annexved .

he be admiitted to bail i the swunr of

6 the Warden and Keeper of

;7,—/
olice Juwsbice.

..A189

Datedd,

Police Justice.

There being no stefficient cawse to believe the within named
ZSuilty of the offense within mentiorned, I order h

to be dischargded.

_.. Police Justice.
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Gowmt of General Sessions of the Peare

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tyr ProrLE OF THE STATE OF NEw YOREK

wgainst

Y v @ﬁ,‘;@_ﬂ& 7

The Grand Jury) of the City and County of N

N O%z/v Opl Qfﬂ/o&/z/\u, \“’-’/—'.'

aCens s .
of the Q_an £ G ASD LAROD\*Y IN Tﬁgl - [~ e e e ”Q DEGREE, committed

Tow Yorl, by this indictment, accuse

~

as follows:

r ey
The said -

) e
late of ¢ City of New York, 1u the County of New York A'Ceqaid on the 7 %
d

day of _ ¢W1n the year of our T.ord omne thousand eight hun and
ninety- @-&) at the City and County afores: aid, with force and arms,

MC‘//\;, et o e %

LZ77/L (&% C:'“ZAC..-/"K,.,/Q,.a-—&__// %‘/
- W"cﬂ/ (_/9 j e AT (/Cd-’ééﬁ_fv/o cree @ < d‘fkﬂ/%

M V/é/;//\,z, \/(/‘Zg/gc/-'(, < . OL‘K/ \/Z/c/c ~er L. /@/ZéaJ Vo
f ¢ )
= ] cZo»@A @/ /%e/

< (/M ha ZOPCR S Sl o 1

. /
Vo e

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one

bt T
then and there being found, then and there feloniously did . steal, take and carry away, against

the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the @fmce of ,the People

of the State of New York and their dignity. /@(
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04/26/92
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Nl »O0O0R QUALITY |

Police Court, - é, g%sgri@ﬂb
City and County } ss. i -1 -

of New A

. Tt --.----- .-\ -'----:.-..A. ol ool £ SUUEL AR S SR S
aof o4 ... Sirée, g _&&_3,_.,_____%____, years,
ccrpatio ... being duly sworn, deposes and says,
o ,
that on the .

ORIGINAL .



"_7"__"' | POOY

Jec. 198—=¢ Ag[)istrict Police LCourt.

CI AND COUNTY '
ﬁ NEW, ORE, }SS- %*//
v A being duly examined before the under-

signed according to law, on the annexed charge ; and being informed that it is h < 'right to
make a stutement in relation to the charge against k%, ; that the statement is designed to
enable ho4<_ if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h-&

is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h € waiver cannot be used

Sec. 198—200,

that he
against h 4, on the trial.

Question. What is your name.

answor STl i PR e

Questiorn. How old are you ?

Answer. @/‘// % y & O

Question. Where were you born 2
Answer. W a-z»vo\

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ? '

Answer. o%% @e/ W - W
- S

Question. What is your business or profession ?

Amnswer. , &W/ M&,l/

Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

xculpation ?
o W M et )
= ot

Q uestion

/7///4')‘55/(’) &z gé« @‘f’z@

WYSNSL 3080
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.Mmls!ﬁ“m......A.....A..,...... ey eve e e e oL

“pang

It appearing to e by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

commitied, and that there is sufficient cawse to believe the within named
) ,@/ L_A_L /&(éc/(/(/‘{/\

thegeof, I order that He pe held io answer the same, and he Z)e/deiitecl 10 bail in the sum of

and be committed to e Warden and Keeper of

T ofthe City of New TYork, until he-gipg/such badl. ) )
789 /2/?% __________ : A e . Police Justice.

Lu¥

olice Justice.

There being no swjficient cawse to believe the within nanved

Suilty of the offense within mentioned, I order I to be discharged.

189 Police Justice.’




(Sec. 343,
Penal Code.)

POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

- e gr—r———

Gonrt of General Sessions of the

or THE Clty AND CouNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

AGAINST

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment

CRIME OF KEEPING A ROOM TO BE USED FOR GAMBLING, committed as

of the

follows :

o . ,/@‘W
The said Z/éz%/w/ & S

late of the 7 %J Ward of i;l}eﬁ(;‘{y of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid,
on the é ad D_A day of M—»v“/,(_:y in the year of our Liord one thousand
eight hundred and ninety- - clc e » and on divers-otlier days and times as well before as after,

to the day of the taking of this inquisition, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, with force and

arms, anlawfully did keep a certain room, in a certain building there situate, to be used for gambling,
against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their dignity.

SECOND COUNT. (Sec. 844, Penal Code.)

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this-indictment further accuse the said

il (O e

of the CRIME OF ALLOWING A ROOM, ESTABLISHMENT, TABLE AND APPARATUS TO

BE USED FOR GAMBLING PURPOSES, committed as follows :

The said ' - . & ’ M

c

to wit: On the day and in the year aforesaid,

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards,
y aforesaid, a certain room in a

and on said other days and times, at the Ward, City and Count




) ,’_‘,' ,"’ L

certain buildine there situate, and a certain gambling table and establishment, aud divers cards,
chips, devices and apparatus, a more particular description whereof is to the Grand Jury afore-
said unknown, and eannot now be given, the same being suitable for gambling purposes, with force
and arms, feloniously did allow to he used for ﬂanlblmg purposes, against the form of the Statute

in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and

their dignity.

THIRD COUNT. (Sec. 385, Pcnal Code.)

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment further accuse the said

~— . M&/t/(/ & \({/ LR S T

of the CRIME OF MAINTAINING A PUBLIC NUISANCE, committed as follows:

The said J/f%/,(//(( S (9 KE”LM N/

-

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year afore-

said, and on said other days and times, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, a

lucre and gain unlawfully and injuriously

certain common gaming house there situate, for o
said common gaming house, then and on said other days

did keep and maintain ; and in 1.0
and times, there unlawfully and injuriously did cause and procure divers idle and ill-disposed persons

to be and remain, and the said idle and ill-disposed persons, on the day and in the year aforesaid, and
on said other days and times, to game together and play at a certain unlawful game of cards called

ZL/;A_/& 7 in the said common gaming house aforesaid, there did unlawfally and in-
juriously procure, permit and suffer, and the said idle and ill-disposed persons, then, and on said

other days and times, in the s&ld common gamlng house aforesaid, by such procurement, permission

d sufferance of the said % @\W
an ance 1e sa - e @

there did game together and play at said unlawiul game of cards, for divers large and excessive sums

of money, to the great annoyance, injury and damage of the comfort and repose of a great number of

’ Pel sons, good citizens of our said State, there inhabiting and residing, and passing and repassing, to

the common nuisance of the said citizens, against the form of the Statute in such case made and pro-

vided, and against the peace and dignity of the People of the State of New York.

DE LANCEY INICOLL,

District Attorney.
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POOR QUALITY
ORIGINA

(1365)

: District. Ammglvit—Larceny.

-

PPolice Court—.

@ity and Gonnly -
of Fetw Pork, o

of No.___ —-// IR A A o e R 7 o -/ age(l-__,2,__,%...._.1/0((.”;,

being duly sworn,

occupatiorn....... el LT S T
e— .
{ day of. W..._L«S‘Q Ztktha City of New

deposes and says, that on the ~
Yorle, in the County of New Xark, was Feloniowsly talken, stolen and carried away frony the possession

of depornent, in the.. .l T 570 tinme, the Following property, viz:

and that this deponent

sgtidhroperty was feloph wWZen

CeNn Cepze . _




N POOR QUALITY 1B
] ORIGINAL




(1333)

Sec. 198—=200. b Z ------------------------ _District Police Court.

e T T
CITY AND COUNTY
- N;’% }SSC L/ o
waljeing duly examined before the under-

- “miefhed according to law, on the snnexed charge, and being informed that it is b right to

7 alkke a statement in relation to the charge against bh—=__ 5 that the statement is designed to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

that he i§ at liberty to waive making a statoment, and that h _\&iver cannot bem
against h .~ onp the trial.

Question. WWhat is your name 2
P W

s5tion. How old are you?

dnswer. = 7 %W

Question. Where were you born?

Answoer. Q—//O‘JC/M

Question. Where do you live and how long have you resided there? \
Ansacer. 5 4 W—m y — LL7( i 1"-@

Question. What is your jness or profession ?

Answer. W

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony
against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation?

sy ow 240/0q usyN],

7

ooustfe 9930




m oo
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) Sec. 151.

Police Court Lnistrict.

e State. or New I orks To the Qhenﬁ' or' the County

CITY AND COUNTY I the name oy the I’eap’e of. th
OF NEW YORK, SS.  of New York, or_ar Lurshal

Whereas, Complaint in writing, and u

Justices ”{h%of New erk, by

of No.

of the value of
the property of.. ...

w &2 . 1aken. stolgty ¢ nd cargfd away, suspect, and does suspect and

believe, by
YWherefore, the said Complammant has prayed ihat the said Detendant  may be apprehended and bound to

answer the said complaint.
These are Thergfore, in the name of the PEOPLE of the State of New York, to command you the said

Sheriff, Murshals az Policemen, and every of you, to apprehend  tie D....of the said Defendant
and forthwith bring {42 lefore me, at the, R DISTRICT POLICE COURT, in the said City, or in

_ case of my absence or inability to act, before the nearest or mest accessible Police Justice in this City, to answer the

said charge, and to be dealt with according to law.

<

Dated at the City of New York, this 7 - o i
/bé PoLice JUSTICE.




AUY

Police Court PDistrict.

i

Q
4

THE PEOPLE, &c.,
ON TIITE COMPLAINT OF

nolq uvaq
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Magistrate

%aém/ Officer.es,

taken, and brought before the Magistrate, to answer
the within charge, pursuant to the command con-
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tained in this Warrant.

Officer.

Dated 188

This Warrant may be executed on Sunday or at

night.
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nd statements that the crime theigin mentioned has been

Tt appearing 4o me by the rwithin depositions a

committed, ared that there is sufficient cawse to believe the within named

Juilty thereof, I order that he be held to ansicer the same, and he be admiitted to bail in tlhe swn of

T R o Yy 1 o T o 2 L4 4 be committed to the Warden and Keeper of’

the City Prisory of the City of New Xori, wnitil he Sive such%%
A v
A 7. ZL P Police Juestice.

/’

+

T have admitfed the above-named..........to o Fr el
%Lexed.

to bail to 7we by the wndertaking hereto &r
L W % Police Justice.

There being no sufficient cawse to believe the within named

swilty of the offense within mentiorned, I order R to be discharged.

.Police Justice.




POOR QuarLjyTy

@omt of General Sessions of the Ereace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tur PEOPLLE OF THE STATE OF NEw Yorxk

afairnst

/
7 e C)—»o Ry —

of the CBC\_E_E, \/q PSSy LARCDNY N " e o et L cj/ gx/{ committed

as follows :- er/ ] @7 ! C)(z' J’?,--'(.-'\...e/{//(

The said .
//

111'/9( the Cxty and Co ty of New York, by this indictment, accuse
- '

late of the 1!;; c} New Yollx, in the County ¢ New York aforesaid, on the // //%
lay “of / “L in the year our Lord omne thousand eight hundred and
aay P W
,(,¢ , at the City and Cou esaid, b(exg tll%nd there the d/—/({(i’/?_/
of o L 4 I g _ BN m——e

ninety-

~ _/6' R then and there having in his
and as such —— a,

rol certajn NW;Lttels and personal property of the said

~
. owner thereof, to wit: M CZ .
the true O o e . e 2z - -

K/C'(/(/ / /&;/‘V C/(M"égw/ I ar W Q/ZA/:/M__/

P

(- / Z//\,(/
% /% \4/7(//(4/2/ \//?‘/c/u d/&/m/\,j ;

t1 id T v S O 0’) L /z/ég/ - afterwards, to wit:
e sal - -

on the day afd 1 the year aforesaid, at the C1ty and County aforesaid, with force and arms,
did feloniously appropriate the said //(km,_d o %/éa /4 P { /64/.4;»_/.« it y‘ﬁ‘-—%\_m@
C ' /‘)_
/ " . .
to his own use, with intent to deprive and defraud the sa.if'l__, M s j&—,{__(,_ M:a__ .

P

(

of the same, and of the ke and beriefit thereof; and the same goods, chattels and personal

Property of the sald e s Y/Z/’ (_’e//éa__m. et

did then and there and thereby feloniously steal, against the form of the statute in such case
made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their

dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

Disgrict Attorney.
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O'Donnell, Margaret
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04/13/92

JILLAIN

4365
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OF INEW YORXK. .

of Nv /(/ '/,,_

SN o

at the Cily of New York, in the County of New '

occteppattion.. . .

that o the
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Bee. 297
CITY ANDP COUNTY
OF NJ&XV YORK, fss'
K4
Zl(cec o M %
e being duly exanined l)efWunder-
,Ok ) . beine infopmed that it is right to
make 2 statemen-tf 11]1 relation to the charge against h Tat the stutement is designed t
i e see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against lb/

enable h
that 4 is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h waiver cannot be used

against h the trial.

Question. What is_@Gur name?
A7nsSwer:

Question. Flow old ax

Answer.

Question.

Answer.

Qreestion.

Answer.

Question. What js your Jusiness or profession ?

Answer.

33 . o i 7 B 1 i
Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

Qreestion.
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
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commitied, and that there is sujfficient cawse to believe the within rnamed ..

It appearing to me by the within depositinrs and staterments that the c%ﬂ:@W

guii}d;\thereof, T order that he be held to answer the same, and he be admitted to bail in the sunv of
/ et 1o Ared DOLLaTS, oo oernne eeeenn e TFUE DO committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Gty of New Yorik, until he giv%a’i}
LZ.._ 189 2 /)Lg’”/‘* ’_*"Wr\\ Police Justice.

I have admitted the above-named
to bail to answer by the wndertaking hereto anneved.

Police Justice.

189 ~

Dated,

There beind no sufficient cause to believe the within named

guilty of the offense withir mentioned, I order h to be discharged.

Police Justice.
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Court of Geueral Sessions of the Leace

1IN AND ror THE CITY AXD CouxTtY oF NEW YORE.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

AGAINST

—
The G‘rran(}/ ;Iur

S~ % e cx e @ ZSL&-VVL-qz/é./ Sy

anp WinFonLy e Chcor (/ ~ o, PERSONAL PROPERTY OF ANOTHER,
',

62/—(/6// ﬁ T/<9\f—j/’?////’(/€/_(//é

The said / ( - J S . -
/

late of the Ci tj of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

v of the City and County of New York, by this indictment accuse

of the CRIME OF UNLA@U

committed as fe_lows

day of in the year of our Y.ord one thousa

ninety- o , at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

7

of the value of ' 1/_:(_/ M( /)‘L/Q
of the goods, ch s and personal property of one (z = Z Z CMC/& ‘*’L_/

then and there being, then and there foloniously did unlawfully and w11fu11y \_,/ A
— e

Cre A ole ,.»W'C;—(/u_’/a

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their dignity.
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SECOND COUNT.

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment further accuse the said

—  Drwinenit (9 Sl

of the CRIME oF UNLAWFUILY XD WILFULLY 0(/(,/-1/006'7,(/;/. { REear, PROPERTY OF ANOTHER,

oot O £

committed as @_owvs :

The said /%,&@/ﬁ

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year aforesaid, at the

City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

2 E /?( \%/,«/Cw(g /écc/e/a//

7. v - - - e ——— — .
of the value of s a&»/ X o W
1 i the realty of a certain building of one

in, and forming 1 and parce:

there situate, of the real property of the said

then and there feloniously did unlawfully and wilfully %Vt@///g _

Hos ey
-

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorrey.
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Police Court—. .. . %istriet.
@ity and Connty % . ’

of etv i‘" k, (/ . /éw(/d
of No. 2 7 c%nf%%t’ Stﬁ jaged..... >4~-/~4---7Jm’3’

. being (]uZ!(-au.O7n

" d
deposes and says, that the prenises No s, War

o -
in the City and County aforeswid the said heing a. : C/_P'_’— /é/yu 7O ,%/I/VZ%;'

. , ~
cwnd which was occupzﬂl, b;l/ depoient as e //L/M\J . %/s////

it boeing by "

occupution . .

wwéB URCJ"L A.RL() USL 3_7 enter eé 6// 7nc(1n<:0j7‘o; ct/';lz/ /)/&@/

7"022020777// properiy fdow?ousll/ tcileen, stolen, and ccerr wed quoay, viE!

the property of... AT, /‘2//% L7

and deponent, ]‘Lw t/ie suysl that he has great cause to belicve, and does belicve, that the aforesaid

BURG—LAHY:/H agmmitted wnd the «fos 5.5(&2(!1)/ operty talker, stolen and cariried awday by

YLl <.
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istrict,
Magistrate.

1

....to anvcer General Sessions.

)
TOE PEOPLE, &e.,
on the complaint of

Witnesses,
No,

Police Court




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

of No.

N
tr e(,f“};eln(r duly, sworn, deposes and

o ~

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of . (L& AT

S

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are ttue of deponent’s own

e, /¢/¢/ 2

knowledge.

S0

Sworn to bcf?ﬁ%ﬁe, ﬂwsd//}\/
Ay OF oo e = L1896 A4

Police Justice.

(3692)
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i

.,

IDistrict Police Court.

/ M’/ being duly examined before the under-

annexed charge ; and being informed that it E/h‘} right to
make a statement in relati to the charge agains ; that the statement is designed to
see fit to answer the charge and explain the.facts alleged againsg bt~

enaﬁ.lﬁgh,\d if he
tha e is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that ‘_h/vo waiver cannot be used
\

against h " on the trial.

Question. How old are you 2

Answer. O.Z /

Question. "Where were y6u born ?

Answer.

Question. ere do you livd, and /how long have you resided there ?
Answer. %

Question. What is/your business or profession ?

Answer. /\

Question. G—i@y explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any 13 wou think will tend to your

ﬁ exculpation ?2

t

WYL 9940 ==
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and staien

commnitted, and that there is@i’e?‘, cawsg to believe the ¥iaige

7/
the\reof I order that hie be hbld to answer lhe same, and

Suilt Z
M‘é// and be committied to the Warden and Keeper of

the City J?"ifs/él

/ Al SN AT e e lZ <——"Police Justice.

Iie be acdmitted to bail ire the sum of

I have have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the wundertalking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

There being no swfficient cawse to believe the withir named

Suilty of the offense within mentioned, I order v to be discharded.

Dated, 189 Police Justice.
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Gt of General Sessions of the Leare

OF THE CITY AND COURTY OF NEW YORK.

Tur PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEwW YORK

against

Coelle oo (e e

by this indictment, accuse

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York,

of the CrME oFr BURGLARY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows :

late of the 7 /K Ward of the Cltyco:l: l\"ew Yorl, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

,2 Z(_ day of / C&(/wA_/ in the year of our Lord omne

thousand é&ight hundred and nlnet . C—m in the %y #~ time of tl}e\ same day, at the

Wa.1d Clty\d County &fmesmd., 7 certain building there situa

to wit, the _ éucmj of

one Lol Prat _/(/C/é,)(/

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, with intent to comzﬁgiﬁ» ome
crime t El:ein, to wit: with intent the goods, chattels and 139::5911&1 I?roperty of the said Z,_j\_,
— ‘ e ¢ o 7 . in the said N £ R

then and there beiﬁg, then and there feloniously and burglariously t@s eal, take and carry away,
against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dignity.




POOR QUALITY
onucnm:.

SECOXD COUXNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment; further accuse the said

of the CRIME OF O\.&M/ LARCENY —_— committed as follows:

™ C/C(/c/c/\/ @6’/1/

late of the Waxd, City and County atoresmd afterwards, to,wit: on the day and in the year aforesaid,

at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the '7/L/7’l//~— time of said day, with force and arms,

N Z‘ééw&%g

a@é 2ttt I/va//w> Cg/ (\/é/pg

__—

o e —

(B, Gl

of the goods, chattels and pelsona,l property of one

of the said

there situate, then and there being found, in the

aforesaid, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, agal t the form of the statute

in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York
and their dignity. /{QC/ e W
(ZANE g i




BOX:
477

FOLDER:
4365

DESCRIPTION:

Ohearn, John

DATE:

04/20/92

R

4365
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CITY AN D OOUJVTY{ ss. - - POLICE COURT : DISTRICT.

O NETW YORI,

being duly sworn deposes and says,

o o OK/ZSS\
Q’Y'z/d Vl/‘f/‘w P
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POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAY.

Police Courtumte . JDIsftTict. g Aflidavit—Larceny.

e 0

ity and Eounty lﬁ.a /’ p
; o . 3 - 7
of Eew Hfork, | ) F o Sl .
. -
" 2 &

.Strecet. aased. . .. years.
occttpttion being dily sworn,

deyoses and says, that on the. ... / 7 _____________ \iclij,of_,,_ 189 2wt the City o

New York, in t fcen, stolen ard cuarried away

s
Fromne the possessioh/of deponert, in thell ‘.//,'« _______
(S

eyci//ffﬁ,ﬁu/é L=

lre C/'O}bnt!/ :’Cﬂ%w Yoric, was felonionsly
&‘: 7O 1o
tiTne, tlhe following property, viz

- P
_/béx/lov\_/(

the property of.
p,

and that this deporent

AN
X

&
<
S
S
=
el
(=3
S
S
<SS
~
-~
3
.=
D
K
T
=

hat thesaid property was felorni- )

A ﬂ‘b&%ﬂfuﬂpy\/é
~~ -

%/M/:{/ :KM’ﬂ‘)‘?LGM

as a probable cause to suspect, and does suspect, z

: vsly taken, stolen and carried away byf%/t/ LN G CRAAL
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CTTY AND COUNTY |

OF NEW YORK, %% { )
/ arL / ) //;/J/w Y1 e
aged . years, oceupation Mc‘l/lf‘— z of No.
J"? -/%W%W\«C . Street, being duly sworn deposes and

Q. 2z, 0&%

rs, that he has heard read the foregoing afiidavit of
and that the facts stated therein on information of ézﬁnnent are true of deponents’ own

P
knowledgze.

Sworn 1o hefore me, his

dey of.

Pilice Tustice.
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POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

District olice Court.

being duly examined before the under-

ac /ording to law, on the annexed charge, and being informed that it is b right to
h ~—that the statement is designed to

o answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against bh

h —avaiver cannot be used
~
Question. i / %
. W L EZenr

Answer. /
Question. are you?
Z 3
Answer. / ¢ 2%
Question. her ere you boyn? ’
2l X

Answer.

Question. Where do you live and ho long have you resided there ?
i 9 0 n WHg

i, S F L S

Question. What is yeur business or profession ?

Answer. = W

ou may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony
v facts which you think will tend to your exculpation?

i /
£
£ L el Ty

w i

—

Quesiton. Give any explanation y
against you, and state an

- . . s
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Offense. <. & -
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Freniesy STt

e1sISerg

‘ZGSI

“”1/52};

O™

i

Dated, - _ %ﬂ /%%&/?,;7 zh? Jrustice.

I lave admitted the above-named
to Dail to answer DY the wndertaking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

189

Dated,

There Leing no suwfjicient cawse to belicve the within named
LSuwilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be discharded.

» Police Juwstice.




/,_ £Z aforesaid unknown, for the payment of and of the value of

POOR QUALITY
omtclmu.

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE OF THE CITY AXND COUNTY
O NEW YORK.

Tiieg PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,

rrSeeinst

pv%/éﬁ\ %W o

THE GRAND JURY OF T CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK, by this
indictment, accuse ’ i 0— o e

e

of the CBIMECOF GRAND LARCENY IN THE W'DEGBEE,

ya committed as follows:

9L
The said , N «C—--a,/x'/'"j/?

late o <bhe ity of New York in the County of New York aforesaid, on the /; % ' day of

el in the year of our Liord one thousand eight* hundr&nd ninety-

at the City and County aforesaid, with force ancd arms, in the P 2. — time of said day,
divers promissory notes for the payment of money, being then ::d/@ﬁre due and unsatisfied (and of

the kind known as United States Treasury Notes), of a number and denom1nat10n2£;e Grand Jury

S —<__

dollars ; divers other promissory notes for the payment of money, being then and there due and un-

satisfied (and of the kind known as Bank Notes), of a number an denomination to the, Grand Jury
aforesaid nnknown, for the payment of and of the value of ‘Z/@ - %I/Wb
dollars ; divers United States Silver Certificates, of a numbeér and denomination to the Grand Jury
’\—//\/&“ -

4R

ifightes, of a number and denomination to the Grand Jury

z e/~

aforesaid unknown, of the value of 7
ng/

dollars ; divers United States Gold

aforesaid unknown, of the value of /OL,-—"?,/"\/:

dollars ; divers c?s/of a numbeyr, ki and denomination to the Grand Jury aforesaid unlknown, of

the value of  ~—-%_ dL/‘(_/\é;/ / verc. <,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one - ' (6 /% U w
oy e Qo Cu then an ere be1ng found,

L O L

B é /7
B v ey R VS ) o AU QT T g >((/ (@——“_&/J
thén and there feloniously did steal, take a carry away, agains form of the sta,tute inm

case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their

dignity.
DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.
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FOLDER:
4365

DESCRIPTION:

Oswald, Otto

DATE:

04/12/92

4365




BOX:
477

FOLDER:
4365

DESCRIPTION:

Lindsey, Richard

DATE:

04/12/92

L

4365
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POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

e e e e i

S.

TR o L
Crry OFZZ‘,LL", [11,L\ County ol Tt te .
; s

AND STATE OF NEW YORK.

(L coilcon

of 41 Park Row, New York City, being duly sworn depos;

Y BN
21 years of age, and is employed as__.&=2%& ,f..ﬁ_agcnt of 1,/ = h

that he has just cause to believe, is i

Suppression of Vice,

'/‘7 . son
and charge that //CA c/ég cen ceccl ze Lj’

whose—segl _name

did, at the.....J( .  ee—— County

_and State of New York, on er—=bom the. {55~ .. day ofnf,/]/(a 1,(1& _1892-,

"unlawfully use a room, table, establishment or apparatus for gambling purposes—and

did engage ws—xdeator—er—gunt pes.in a gambling or banking game, where money or

property was dependent upon the result——and did sell, or offer to sell what is com-

monly called a ¢lottery policy,” and a certain writing, paper, or imsurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a certain lottery, hereto annexed, and did endorse and use a book or

other document for the purpose of enabling others to sell or offer to sell lottery policieé,

writings, papers or documents in the nature of a bet, wager or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a lottery, against the form of the statute of the State of New York

in such case made and provided, and particularly section 344 of the Penal Code.

Deponent further says, he has just cause to believe, is informed and verily does

believe, his information being based upon personal observation and from statements may

e

{

ledd
aforesaid, mwowe hauvt in. (el possession, at in and upon

certain premises occupied by.m _and situate and known as nu1nbel/‘§//é°6<«r//"

;35 T
T

 in the__ Cr—Th—n  of e _and within

the County and State aforesaid, for the purpose of using the same as a means to commit a
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AND STAaTE OF NEW YORK.
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CLlectte e

of 41 Park Row, New York City. being duly sworn depost

. /./“ "
21 years of age, and is employed as.. V¥eed f ~agent of 1

Suppression of Viee, that he has just cause to believe,

- 1 A}
and charge that. . [Use fg cen ol coeel ze lf’

wirose—eal _name unknow

3¢l 3 by

did, at the. Cx«} - —of——— County
‘ o

j ”
of——__ .and State of Ncw York, oi er—xbowt the . [ % « day of. //{a el 1892,
unlawfully use a room, table, establishment or apparatus for gambling purposes—and

did engage —rerdeTter—or—rare—teeepen. in 2 gambling or banking game, where money or
property was dependent upon the result—and did sell, or offer to scll what is com-

monly called a ‘<lottery policy,” and a certain writing. paper, or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a certain lottery, hereto annexed, and did endorse and use a book or

other document for the purpose of enabling others to sell or offer to sell lottery policies,

writings, papers or documents in the nature of a bet, wager or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a lottery, against the form of the statute of the State of New York

in such case made and prowvided, and particularly section 344 of the 1’cnal Code.
informed and verily does

Deponent further says, he lhas just cause to believe, is

believe, his information being based upon personal observation and from statements may

K/ T et €
/

—that the said

t
i 5 L oleMd v .
L&-L"T&/eu{ aforesaid, v hawy in, ‘e possession, at in and upon

. % o P
certain premiscs occupied by Ija_Z:u«« and sitnate and known as number. /4 . Ccen A B

B} =
in the. . o7 cand within

{7

to commit a

the County and State aforesaid, for the purpose of using the same as a means
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eé and says, he is more than

of 41 Park Row, New York City, being duly sworn depos

A}
21 years of age, and is employed as____,,ééé—.:t.‘::{.__agent of the New York Society for the

Suppression of Vice, that he has just cause to believe, is informed and verily does believe,

ﬂ el ze LA() A Qu g j'/ZLLL recid~—
7V et Qoecogld

seal pame unknown _but—whe—esn—be-identifed by

~.

.did, at the...Cx
of,fy./L(a,A_(xﬁ 1892,

4
IWVITOST

.County

‘unlawfully use a room, table, establishment or apparatus for gz mbling purposes—and

where money or

did engage re—a—deater—er—wanretecepes.in a gambling or banking game,

property was dependent upon the result—and did sell, or offer to sell what is com-

monly called a ‘‘lottery policy,” and =a certain writing, paper, OT insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a certain lottery, hereto annexed, and did endorse and use a book or

other document for the purpose of enabling others to sell or offer to sell lottery policies,

writings, papers or documents in the nature of a bet, wager or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a lottery, against the form of the statute of the State of New York

in such case made and provided, and particularly section 344 of thie Penal Code.

Deponent further says, he has just cause to believe, is informed and verily does

believe, his information being based upon personal observation and from statements may

A T @C@é':x/’f_,,#_\

cle . .
aforesaid, mow= havt in..lfceid possession, at in and upon

Ijzzm,,,and sitnate and knowmn as nun’lbel/é//ga——f/h

certain premises occupied by.

. S - £ ) o
e in the___ﬂ_égf_*ﬁ\,_m /‘/’/“"\and within

the County and State aforesaid, for the purpose of u

sing the same as a meansto commit a
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AND STATE OF NEW YORK.
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sworn deposes and says, he is more than

of 41 Park Row, New York City. being duly

21 ycars of age, and is employed as.,m__.f-//p‘v‘ff (./,_,__agent of the New York Society for the

clieve, is informed and verily does believe,

Suppression of Vlcc, th'\t he has just cause to b

& )
(._k‘(;gl{) _(Luxc /l\c,arc&l""

ad @(/& (,04/{/\1*&’( zj‘ . ct ef
whose—seal name nknowen . but-whe—ean—be-identifed-by-

aid, at the.. 6&/]((, — _‘_,_u{.._.... - County

/% ...day of. //(u L /4 1892—,

_and State of New York, on er—xbont thc

unlawfully use a room, table, establishment or apparatus for gambling purposes—:’lnd

did engage m&cﬂi‘cx—-cﬂ—getfne—}eeepe'&.in a gambling or banking

result—and did sell, or offer to sell what

game, where money or

property was dependent upon the is com-

monly called a <<lottery policy,” and a certain writing, paper, or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a certain lottery, hereto annexed, and did endorse and use a book or
other document for the purpose of enabling others to sell or offer to sell lottery policies,

writings, papers or documents in the nature of a bet, wager or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a lottery, against the form of the statute of the State of New York
in such case made and provided, and particulal‘ly section 344 of the Penal Code.

Deponent further says, he has just cause to believe, is informed and verily does

believe, his information being based upon per! sonal observation and from statements MY by

to d ‘\ onent

said

(£a £ 4 i, in L i -
. oo’ M By = O 7 GENE _aforesaid, me== havt in. _possession, at in and upon

-

certain premises occupied by Ij:!ZuA and situate and known as number. /é// gzt-nf

-—"7

Lin the. *//“-w‘ and within

the County and State aforesaid, for the purpose of using the same as a means to commit a
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he is more than

of 41 Park Row, New VYork City, being duly sworn deposeé and says,

21 years of age, and is employed as_ L __agent of the New York Society for the

Suppression of Vice, that he has just cause to believe, is informed and verily does believe,

< A3
and charge that.._ [}/{4 Mé‘gcu A s ‘L-J-Q-Lf

“unlawfully use a room, table, establishment or apparatus for gambling purposes—and

in a gambling or banking game, where money or

did engage ws—deater—or—gany leee

property was dependent upon the result—and did sell, or offer to sell what is com-

monly called a «<lottery policy,” and a certain writing, paper, or insurance, upon the drawing:

or drawn numbers of a certain lottery, hereto annexed, and did endorse and use a book or

other document for the purpose of enabling others to sell or offer to sell lottery policieé,

writings, papers or documents in the nature of a bet, wager or insurance, Upom the drawing

or drawn numbers of a lottery, against the form of the statute of the State of New York

in such case made and provided, and particularly section 344 of the Penal Code.

Deponent further says, he has just cause to believe, is jnformed and verily does

believe, his information being based upon personal observation and from statements m

. ....aforesaid, mew havt in.C(Fesd possession, at 1in and upon
lﬁ“—* and situnate and known as number. Va&44 5a,f

certain premises occupied by.tALE

in the % of & and within

the County and State aforesaid, for the purpose of using the same as a means to commit a
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public offense, divers and sundry device, apparatus, tables, establishment and paraphernalia
layouts, chips, deal poxes, cards, lottery tickets, lottery policies, writings, papers, books
and documents for gambling purposes, in violation of the Provisions of Chapter IX of the
Penal Code of the State of New York, wherefore deponent prays that warrants may be
issued for the arrest of the persons named aforesaid, and to search for, seize and take

possession of all of said unlawful matter, and that all be dealt with according to law.

Subsecribed and sworn to before me this O\A&mw—&&r\ppx‘*rxk_
A E L day of_,&"'u\rLC

=

crry OFnlLLM)__Y‘fHL[\,..._.AND CouNTY op_,li_l__ a1 )

€
being further sworn deposes and says that on the.. ... / 3“ ______ day of&/(a_&r/é/

ISQ..Z., deponent visited the said premises, named aforesaid, and there saw the said

LO/l/a C%/./u\aj A ﬂl»o\a( ﬁ F/zadoél<% aforesaid, and

as follows:

)

gy
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Deponent further says, that he is informed, has just cause to believe, and verily
does believe from personal observation, transactions, and statements had with the said

that the said

aforesaid

in possession in, at, in, and upon certain premises occupied by

cribed in foregoing Affidavit in

and situate and known as the premises and place des

the of , and within the County and State aforesaid, for the

purpose of using the same as a means to commit a public offense, divers and sundry device,

apparatus, tables, establishment, paraphernalia, layouts, chips, deal boxes, cards, lottery

tickets, lottery policies, writings, papers, boolks and documents for gambling Ppurposes, in

violation of the provision of Chapter IX of the Penal Code of the State of New York.

Subscribed and sworn to before n’?is L

2189

e fbeiyz/umer--»-»
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THE PEOPLE
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Affidavit of Compl
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See. 19<—200. / _pistrict Police Court.
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CI'FY AND COUNTY ) |
OF NEW YORK, §°%
A Y

being duly examined before the under-

chufge ; and being informed that it s e~ 1right to

muke a statement in relation to the charge against hr~— ; that the statement is designed to
see fit to answer the charge and explain the fncts alleged against No—e—s

ennble h amee if he
waiver cannot be sl

that he is_at liberty to wiaive making a statement, and thut h

against L o~~~ on the trial

Qreestiore.  YWhat is your name ¢

snswer. . iR an A K o e,

Question. Iow old are you ?

Answer. oz aé- M .

Question. Where were you born?

Az swer. %f" M

Qreestion. IWhere do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer. 3 é V72N % M//L //E Aﬁ:— / W .

Question. What is your business or profession ?
r

Amnswer. JUUNEN

vou muay think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
will tend to your

Qirestion. Give any explanation
testimony

xculpation %
Answer. ﬂé V7275 /n(r/"

against you, and state any facts which you think

0459 UM

47 51 2

H

)

L Y
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W COUNTY OF g0
¥YND STATE OF NEW YORK,

In the neeme of the Deople of the, State, q:fw

Peuce Offices or the Cagenty of. L4
the City qT' W .

G REEIING :
Whereas, Complﬂint in writing
Fustices {or the (‘it:\-’ of.. LYARAAL TS VL

41 Ol

¥ at the City of....
(J.lﬂ]xm .

v

and upon oath, has

No. Street,

of

....-..;in the County of---

POOR QUALITY
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Police Court,:

S

- RS

)

Yord - 1o the Sheriff, or any Depuly Sherifi or

or to uny Marshadl, Co nstable o Policcman of

he undc_rsl? ﬁe of the Police

been

chza

that the crime of
.

has been committed, and accusing .. 207

e bn A= 576" Foana

fr—

unknown but who can

be identified by Wh ﬂ;

thereof.

Wherefore, the said Complainant has prayed that th
answer the said complaint.

These are, Therefore, in the nume of the PEOPLE of

Depuly Sieriffs, Peace Oficers, Aarshals, Constables

and 1)1ln“‘.../.edAé!f.‘:-.fN..fOIth\vn_h before me. at Lhe
act, before the nearest o

Defendant
or in case of my absence or inability to
the said charge, and to be dealt with according to law, !

Datedd at tie , 7S k-
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and Policemerz, and each and every of you, to appt

c

ork, to command you the said Slkersd,
rchend the said

the State of New Y

DISTRICT POLICE COURT, in the said City

r most accesstble Police Justice in this City, to answer
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District Police Court.
-

=eee, 19=5—200.

i N e
CITY AN COUNTY ?
OF NEW YORK., §°
duly examined before jthe under-
hAe right to

signed according
; that the statement is designed _to

make a1 starement in relation to the charge against  he——
enable h ame—— if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the :{:lcts alleged against h es
that he js at liberty to waive making @ statement, and that h ~  waiver cannot be usod

\ .
against L ~—=— on the trinl
Questiore. WWhat is your name!
Questior.. How old are you ¢

Answer. ‘,,Z é

Question. VWhery were you born ¢
<

Answer. W M

\Where do you live, and how long have you r

Answer.

! . i e ?
Questior. esided there ?

Amnswer. /y / M yd 7 ff—h W—: / M

Questiorn.. What is your business or profession ?

Answer. %fﬁ/\ @[ afiin

Question. Give any explanation you may
testimony against you, and state any
exculpation ?

e S o P e ot B

think proper of the circumstances appearing Iin the _
facts which you think will tend to your
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Tt appearing €2 e Dy the 1within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned FRaoas beewn

cotremnitied, wwd that tleere is sufficicrt ca,usj

belicve the withire ramed

Suwilty t7b(’7'c‘04, T order that he be held to answer the swme, i Tee be admitted to Lail in the sumnt of

ITiendred Dollars, .. . arnel De committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Prison of the City of New York, wnbil he give st

Dectéed,. ... %M/ g _ZSQK\

Police Jiwwstice.

RIS

to Deeil to answer by the wndertaking lherclo annexed.

Danted, %M ...... /? ...... 189 Se___—

7 Nwreve admitéed the ahove-12@mne ... . eeaee e

There beited no sufficient cawse to believe the wilthin named..

Srilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h ischarged.

Police Justice.
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@ourt of General Sessions of the Leace

or TtHE Ciry AND CouxnTy oF NEwW YORE.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK }

AGAINST
{

)

</>vMo O virex el o

- . (7L/I/t_C// .
Qﬁ(./@/LK,C/L.C/'/ /[/7@1 ey /

The Grand Jury of the City and County ol New Yorlk, by

DXl (Dot A ot Wﬁdmﬁ o
S, committed

of the CriMe or EEEPING A ROOM TO BE USED FOR GAMBLING PURP

this indictment accuse

as follows:

The said O¥I Ly Ococd “y,,, s O&MM W% A

late of the Z Ward of the#ity of New York in the County of New
York aforesaid, on the J Lirpuliei Lb . da of —- /LCW/@M - in the year of our
Tiord one thousand eight hundred and ninety- _{.curq - - , at the Ward, City and County aforesaid,
with force aud arms, unlawfully did keep a certain room in a certain building there situate, to be
used for gambling purposes, to wit: to be used for the purpose of therein conducting a certain gambl-
ing game commonly called “Policy,” where money and property was dependent upon the result,
against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their dignity.

SECOND COUNT :

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment further accuse the said

4 2 PURPOSE OX TLILING

of the Crine or KEEPING A ROOM TO E USED FOR THERE
LOTTERY POLICIES THEREIN, committed as follows:

The said

— -

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, t
at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, unlawfully did keep a certain room in a certain building

situate, to be used for the purpose of therein selling and offering to sell what are commonly called
Lottery Policies, and divers writings, papers, and documents in the nature of bets, wagers and in-
surances upon the drawing or drawn numbers of certain public and private lotteries, and of therein
endorsing and using books and other documents for the purpose of enabling divers persons to sell
and offer to sell lottery policies and other such writings, papers and documents, against the form of
the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New

B < ~/(/6 Oﬂxztrcc/cﬂc\/(w et O/(/ﬂ/m -
it : on the day and in the year a Aaid,

thel e

York and their dignity.
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THIRD COUNT:

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment further accuse the said

( ,-\/Z An Q,—su,uc&ﬁ (/( @, 4 (J/Q)/l (% cel 6/1{12/16#(7 -

of the CriME oF SELLING TO ANOTHER WHAT IS COMMOXNLY ENOWXN AS LOTTERY
POLICY, committed as follows :

The said

(O s Oawolc/ ct o/, arclS i 0(’@7 N
spdd,

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit ¢ on the day and in the year afor

at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, feloniously did sell to one

RS 3 Pre Tty
<63//peﬂ‘, instru-

a certain paper, instrument and writing, commonly called a Lottery Policy, which sai
ment and writing, called a Lottery Policy, is_as follows, that is to say:

G-t 5RC
By s Gy S-S

B/ 673
/

g. o8 "8y, /0

and writing so commonly called a Lottery
w be given), against the form of the
ate of New

(a2 more particular description of which said instrument
Policy is to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, and cannot no
statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the St

York and their dignity.

FOURTH COUNT:

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment further accuse the said

e Oaz/{o <_) paved qz(q/ @o@/émo/ Mdsu ----- -
A BELAND

of the Omide oF SELLING A PAPER AND WRITING, IN THE NATURE OF
WAGER UPON THE DRAWN NUMBERS OF A LOTTERY, committed as follows :

The said

e @u&( {;’&«(/taﬁ.c;/ %/ WQ@@W _\f”‘?f’fﬁzg//(

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the yea re-

said, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, feloniously did sell to one

Crtsbans 8. FreClelle

a certain paper and writing, in the nature of a bet and wager upon the drawn numbey§ of a certain
lottery, the same being a scheme for the distribution of property by chance among persons who had
paid or agreed to pay a valuable consideration for such chance (a more particular description of
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which said lottery is to the Grand Jury aforesaid anknown, and cannot now be given), which said

paper and writing is as follows, that is to say :

J GRS By SO

(2 more particular description of which said paper and writing is to the Grand Jury aforesaid
unknown, and cannot now be given), against the form of the statute in such case made and provided,
!

and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity. ;

'

FIFTEH COUNT:

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment further accuse the said

C)J/éfw 6:47/( arctl O/ “, — /@ A O/A/ ce C/ ()(/;1,4_ cAla e

of the CrmvME or SELLING A WRITING PAPER AND DOCUMENT IN THE NATURE OF

AN INSURANCE UPON THE DRAWING OF A LOTTERY, committed as follows :

The saicl P ) 4
- djl—/b @Au/ua/(// <, MWO/O(ALA 0(/07, -4
(afore—

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the ye
said, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, feloniously did sell to one

Gl D Tt
% . (/{/,W/ YAy MC@
an 1msurance up e l'&\v]llg Of a cerfain . -

a certain paper, writing and document in the
ibation of property by chance among certain person

lottery, the same being a scheme for the dist
who had paid or agreed to pay a valuable consideration for such chance (a2 more particular desecrip-

tion of which said lottery is to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown and cannot now be given), which

said paper, writing and document is as follows, that is to say :
o G <
(B tdeter, BY / S
Cy.. J N AS2
O é‘%//()n

IV /673
S o 285 - ST

(a more particular description of which said paper, writing and document is to the Grand Jury afore-
said unknown, and cannot now be given), against the form of the statute in such case made and
provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.
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York, ss:

Cbk%/\ Bzing duly sworn, dzposes and says
that EO/‘;{X @ oald e’ Iex,e@vkxo( oE.;L\A/J—Qza'

ere present Ang the one’ kunown and called as
W, A A %/p;w Oy 9

respectively in the annexed Affadavit dated the L‘&'&’aay of

QAAJLLVQ\ 1892.
Cqbgor‘ib(’(‘, and swvern to btefore me :qu - é i;

(g¥aay of tiarch 1892

} 2, el 2
J/ / ge '/’/ﬁ—,;ié:/\j_(;—/

Pol'v oe u*mtfe .

o




amﬂm }Ka

=2ing duly sworn epc

CQL «,-'L,{ ..agent of

mipfjrésfsron‘ of Vice, that he has just cause to believe, is inforun..

. 2ol Prticce,

To—

but who can be identified by. / g jz'f ﬂﬂ%l~

.did, at the. .. CE -..._ —of County

//u “day of/%k('lfé 1802,

and charge that

whose real nameb. ¢/t unknown,

_and State of New York, on or about the.

unlawfully use a room, table, establishment or apparatus for gambling purposes—and

where money or

did engage as—a—dealer waye-keeper in a gambling or banking game,

property was dependent upon the or offer to sell what is com-
monly called a ¢‘lottery policy,” and a certain writing, paper, or insurance, upon the drawing
or drawn numbers of a certain lottery, hereto annexed, and did endorse and use a book or
other document for the purpose of cnabling others to sell or offer to sell lottery policies,
writings, papers or documents in the nature of a bet, wager or insurance, upon the drawing
or drawn numbers of a lottery, against the form of the statute of the State of New York
in such case made and provided, and particularly section 344 of the PPenal Code.

Deponent further says, he has just cause to believe, is informed and verily does

pelieve, his information being based upon 1 statements made by

.to deponent
——that the said

ST 0l el Sreiies TVl

_aforesaid, now had in 1/24_44 _possession, at in and upon

e 5
certain premises occupied by L{fj te« and situate and known as nurnbe;...___[:?[.,,Oa/c/&i_

13E - glieid

Lin the___.,C’L/:, /ZQLJ//L ~ _..and within

the purpose of u51n<>‘ the sanle as a means to commit a

the County and State aforesaid, for
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=SSN

71
L{ 81 {f{_L\.l ¥ é\

sing duly sworn depc

C GL x'( { _agent of

is inforn.. . cert L oo LG,

sappression of Vice, that he has just causc to beliceve,

A 7
and charge tlmt,___%}éaktc {/LO . %.,‘S:A:geif:#é&'— FE I ‘( /,\",/"/( 1cc?, w é*ﬂ .
/4? }/l /‘ﬂ(//i,

- - r
(& —of————————— T County

whose real named ¢¢*2f unknown, but who can Dbe identified by

did, at the.

73
—rf———— _and State of New York, on or about the / :/u day of //f«z[ !//L7 18072

nnlawfully use a room, table, establishment or apparatus for gambling pur

-y in a gambling or banking game, where money or

(11(1 engage Ks8| deonlaa- oy 0!1111‘,1' et

property was dependent tpon the result—and did sell, or offer to sell what is com-

monly called a ¢‘lottery policy,” and a certain writing. paper, or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a certain lottery, hereto annexed, and did endorse and use a book or

other document for the purpose of cnabling others to sell or offer to sell lottery policies,

writings, papers or documetts in the nature of a bet, wager or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a lottery, rainst the form of the statute of the State of New York

in such case made and provided. and particularly scction 344 of the Penal Code.

Deponent further says, he has just cause to believe, is informed and verily does

on W@mml statements made by

believe, hiis information being based up

to dceponent

- e ——— - that the said

; Z/zxg[; /[7//(

had in Z(cxlj _possession, at in and upon

g € ¢~

[ aforesaid, now

= &
certain prelniscs occupiced by L/f[cl.»« and situate and known as number /9. Cre e #

and within

the County and State aforesaid, for the purpose of using the same as a means to commit a




: POOR QUALITY
GLUED PAGE . ORIGINAL

z.:,./A-// &/3 7"'44{/6/

QI 7

& . COUNTY (')F.__)..Z:{L.L./k/ N 4\ )(
sS.

aTE OF NEW YORK. (

5

MA« yéldmuﬁf L

ew York City. being duly sworn deposes and says, he is more than

is employed as_ CQ&«,«.{ __..agent of the New York Society for the

that he has just cause to believe, is informed and verily does believe,

o+ qQ I/
Ao Seadetetle, aod Grucices .

DUPPIrEssivat wa i,

and charge that

> h.00

whose real namen>. cc/2f .. unknown, but who can be identified by /
ounty

__.did, at the_... .Ceb  ofmmmT s
7y
and State of New York, on or about the/,‘7u _______ day of../%ai.f/%___ngZ\,

unlawfully use a rooin, table, establishment or apparatus for gambling purposes and

did engage asa-deales pamre-keeper in a gambling or banking game, where money or

property was dependent upon the result—and did sell, or offer to sell what is com-

monly called a ¢lottery policy,” and a certain writing, paper, or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a certain lottery, hereto annexed, and did endorse and use a book or

other document for the purpose of enabling others to sell or offer to sell lottery policies,

writings, papers or documents in the nature of a bet, wager or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a lottery, against the form of the statute of the State of New York

in such case made and provided, and particularly section 344 of the Penal Code.

Deponent further says, he has just cause to Dbelieve, is informed and verily does

believe, his information being based upon n statements made by

.to deponent

that the said

/3.5

¢/

_and within

the County and State aforesaid, for the purpose of using the same as a means to commit a
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K COUNTY rn-‘)L((: x‘(ﬂ 4 }
: 8.
or New Yorx., ¢ \

-~

. /ﬂ _
Hmﬂm G an \ML

ew York City. being duly sworn deposes and savs, he is more than

is employved as___,__ca(.xL{ __.agent of the New York Society for the

.,

that he has just cause to believe, is informed and verily does believe,

/7
.ZAALQM/O Qs —ff~+€3—4:ﬁ—>r PRV //\/n/{‘[{(_q/ W/d

~ -
ST Duppreasteat s v dney

{ T~
s

and charge that...

whose real name ¢¢’2f unknown, but who can be identified by / /7/) }/7 /’ﬂ(//i,

did, at the. C’&%_‘ | —of———— County

prZan ]
_and State of New York, on or about the. / s _.day of /‘//f.cc 1[{4’ 1802,

unlawfully use a room, table, establishment or apparatus for gambling purposes and

did engage as—=- dealer—er—marre—hoeper in a gambling or banking game, where money or

property was dependent upon the result—and did sell, or offer to sell what is com-

monly called a <‘lottery policy,” and a certain writing, paper, or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a certain lottery, hereto annexed, and did endorse and use 2 book or

other document for the purpose of enabling others to sell or offer to sell lottery policies,

writings, papers or documents in the naturc of a bet, wager or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a lottery, against the form of the statute of the State of New York

in such case made and provided, and particularly scction 344 of the IPcnal Code.

Deponent further says, he has just cause to believe, is informed and verily does

helieve, his information being based upon 1 statements made by

to deponent

said

/ (SRR aforesaid,

e | o
certain premises occupied by e4c?tea and situate and kuown as number SF L Cecr .

WA R aodreiA

in the_ = o Of /Zé‘cJ///y? "Z{ _and within

the County and State aforesaid, for the purpose of using the same as a means to cominit a
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__.COUNTY OF. LCu L;
ss.
AND ST.\'I‘L OoF NEwW YORK.
awl’@w WLML

eposes and says, he is more than

acent of the New York Society for the

"""" —TS

Buppression of Vice, that he has Just cause to believe, is informed and verily does believe,

and charge that._ 34&\4,% < 10 2 4%/ Mé( %I{/uccpj.
o/ unknown, but who can be identified by_/ g }?l p&/

—

whose real nameb__

did, at the —ot T e

/;{Z%’day of%&%‘. 1802,

and State of New York, on or about the. ...

‘ounty

unlawfully use a room, table, establishment or apparatus for gambling purposes—and

did engage as—a-dealesr panre-keepesr in a gambling or banking game, where momney or

property was dependent upon the result—and did sell, or offer to sell what is com-

monly called a ¢<lottery policy,” and a certain writing, paper, or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a certain lottery, hereto annexed, and did endorse and use a book or

other document for the purpose of enabling others to sell or offer to sell lottery policies,

writings, papers or documents in the nature of a bet, wager or insurance, upon the drawing

or drawn numbers of a lottery, against the form of the statute of the State of New York

in such case made and provided, and particularly section 344 of the Penal Code.

Deponent further says, he has just cause to believe, is informed and verily does

believe, his information being based upon Pem@:maﬂé—ﬁ'eﬁl statements made by
/2 /7 %L() C‘/(/Z - o ' | .to deponent

that the said

/ _—

- i 3
aforesaid, now had in. . A__possessmn, at in and upon

certain premises occupied by_”bibuﬁ..and situate and Lknown as number. .. Va4 M
yi L :
/3 e adaiad

.in the @;(/ of_M Lol r1. and within

he purpose of using the same as a means to commit a

the County and State aforesaid, for t
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us, tables, establishment and paraphernalia

public offiense, divers and sundry device, apparat

layouts, chips, deal boxes, cards, lottery tickets, lottery policies, writings, papers, books
and documents for gambling purposes, in violation of the Provisions of Chapter IX of the
Penal Code of the State of New vork, wherefore deponent prays that warrants may b€
he arrest of the persons named aforesaid, and to search for, seize and take

issued for t
and that all be dealt with according to law.

all of said unlawful matter,

possession of

Subscribed and sworn to before me this &LLMLLV&LAL

%%-T?la.y of

__AND CoUuNTY OF.f—7

ays that on the /62 YZZ =~ _daye of. Maacta

being further sworn deposes and s
and there saw the said

named aforesaid,

[W ,__‘__.,_____aforesa_id, and

189~7‘, deponent visited the said premises,

d dealings and conversation with_

Neponent entered premises szy JOIN OTTO pressnt in

ctore who said to Dercnent: "vou didn’t get anything on Youtv

ay this morhing." peronent said: "All right, I will try it apain
‘or thig afternoon on the Sdiae gig, 19 28 37", and handsa
JOIr OTTO the suin of ten centse. The sald JOIRT OTTO toolr the rlay snd
went inlo a rear TOOMm, returned in about ihre= aanutes and handed
Deron=nt paper aforesaid zood marked "Exhibit A", for which peyponent

paid the sald JOILY OTTO +the sum of ten cents

peponent fu 17th. day of hLizrch 1892,

Dey onent again visited saldd ypremises and saw JALES 0TT0. T™WO inel

were present in lhe Toom wheT sald JALED OTTO was behind & long
ith a ma,ni‘-fo'lci ool such as is usad for rezcording what are com-

Rack of

o

monly called 'Lothtery Policy" lying befcre him on the desk.
caid desk was blackboard with two lines of numbers, 1‘ep1“c“‘enuln€,’ t he

drawings marked upon it in chalk




Deyonent

JALFS OTTO hamdzd ons

st ha figpures

54

al.d handed Seald

upcn it

"'give me tlrogas for 211 (:-’_;y

the rpaper, ana wnsn taking

weni fold shee

it unde~ his

ur-n manifeld and rapar

on Lop of thao rlay,

and handed Lhe

the sum of twenty cents

tventy-five cent silver

The Ssai JALES

m=dium s

JOIN OTTO

+t asked th= crid

T ne Sx'n-id g}’«“\l BONY

for~ five
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nigh

a risc

OTTO for last

.

JATES

+0o Duronsant, than toolk

OTTO &t Sl

=

JALIEES OTYO tool

cants.” The Sadd

of bLlanrk from

recorded

ith a lsad regncil wrote

JALFS OTTO

said

JALESD OTTO a

baclk cents chuanige.

PDeponent he about twanty-

w1 hair and mustache.

ponent to be ahout twenty—

snd rTather small

AN muastache,

stzture.
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Deponent further Says, that he is informed, has just cause to believe, and verily

does believe from personal observation, transactions, and statements had with the said

B SaYze)
A Jrtid A

novw had in K/&ILM possession in, at, in, and upon certain premises occupied by 0 ¢ i,

and situate and known as the premises and place described in foregoing Affidavit in

the 0;4:1,’— of ]f , and within the County and State aforesaid, for the

purpose of using the same as’ a means to commit a public offense, divers and sundry device,

apparatus, tables, establishment, paraphernalia, layouts, chips, deal boxes, cards, lottery

tickets, lottery policies, writings, papers, books and documents for gambling purposes, in

violation of the provisiom of Chapter IX of the Penal Code of the State of New York.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this _—
/ L P73 P €
A

s ff._gi.day/ of_ﬁ(azl.c:

fiopgo g PUD SULQUIDEY
0 TVE 995 MOV

THE PEOPLE
ON COMPLAINT OF

Otwm@)mm JW .

Affidavit of Complaint.
WITNESSES
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/ District Police Court.

i _being duly examined before the under-
signed nceording to law, on the nnnex:«d charge ; and being informed that it is hes right to
mnke o statement in relation to the charge against h~—— 5 that the statement is designed to
i fit to answaor the charge and explain the facts alleged against ho———

enable e if he see
~ -
malcing n statement, and thag h ~~  waiver cannot be used

that he  is at liberty to waive

- . -
against I ~a=—~w on the trial.

Question. What is your name ¢
Question. Flow oid nre you !

Answer. /g é

Question. Where were you born 7

Answer. / /4/7?\,7; Lannl

Qrestion. \Where do you live, and how long have you resided there

Answer. /A//, &4/1" S I =z W——- / Wl/\’

Question. What is your business or profession ?

S SN

may thinlkk proper of the circumstances appearing in the
and state any facts which you think will tend to your

Answer.
2

Qrestion.  Five any explanation you
testimony against you,

ezuulpation ¢
Answer. 74 M M

Ot oot

//sug H 240./59 wayng
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/ _____ _District Police Court.

See, 195—1200,

CITY AND COUN
OF NEW YOQR

being  duly (“mpnnbﬂ before the under-
right to

Sl“‘n('d ac u.udux"' to Lu\, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is  h —
make a statement in 1€ slation to the charge against ho—= ; that the statement is designed fo
enable I e if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h ~~s
that he is nt liberty to waive making n statement, and that h waiver cannot bz used

4 -
against h o~ on the trial.

Queestion. WWhat is your name!
.

Question. Tlow old are you !

Answer. LS W

Question. VWhere were yYou born ¢

Answer. M

WWhere do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer.

Qrestion.

Answer. I T A eet~ / > = 2AiaT - & e

What is your business or profession ?

-

Answer. M

Qrestion., Give any b\l)ltbllcltlUn
testimony uagainst you, and state any facts which yo

~cculpation ¢

W

Qurestion.

you may thinlk proper of  the circumstances appearing in the |
v think will tend to your
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@ity and (lfnﬁﬁtg of E)P{ein \ﬁﬂrh,‘ 55 -

In the narne of the People of the State of New York:

To any Peace Officer In the City and ‘County of New York:

by affidavit having been this day made before me, by A
A (:Z; G eu/@gf . .. .of Ny A A VA0 S oo ot VB ey S ..Street, New York
elieving that A4 AL At M /"’4"" u“’ﬂ

has in. /&ﬁlm _possession, at, in and upon certain premises occupied by %&W and situated-and known number

/é‘ / ga, A / 5%_”ﬂ‘//k—"— .. . ﬂt,&’/{,\f £y A ... . .certain and divers

icies, lottery tickets, circulars, writings,

City, that there is probable cause for

device, Establishment, apparatus and articles suitable for gambling purposes, lotlery po
papers and documents in the natare of a bet, wager or insurance upon the drawing or drawn numbers of a lottery, books and
other documents for the purpose of enabling others to sell Jottery policies and other writings, papers and documents, black-

with intent to use the same as a means to commit a public offense.

mﬂ/m@z/&‘

boards and gaming tables,

vOU ARE THEREFORE COMMANDED, at any time of the dayv

time to make immediate search on the person of the said .

oAl

and in the building situate and known as number.. /é(/ f o T N— : . ¢ ..aforesaid,

e 22

for the following property, to wit : . A/Z/Q Faro layouts,

Rouge et Noir, or Red and Black layouts,

of cards, - LK. .dice, .. a,Q/e ndeal boxes, ..

circulars, _.. ..c5=EL writings, ... 2l ... papers,

lottery tickets, .. gcﬂbgu
C..,./é/ books

insurance upon the drawings, or drawn numbers of a lottery, ...
.black-

documents in the nature of bets and wagers, or

__documents for the purpose of enabling others to gamble or sell lotlery policies,

boeards, a/@f slips or drawn numbers of a lottery, w . money to gamble with, and all device,

establishment, apparatus and articles suitable for gambling purposes.
And if you find the same, or any part thereof to brmg, 1t forthwith before me at the. M ... District

L’Z; RS- & in the City of New York.

Dated at the City of New York,

Police Court at....

JusTicE *
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th.: Peace Officer by whaom this sarrnt wis executed :

layvouts, Roulette Wheels, Reoniette Inyouts, Rouge Noir lay-

outs. . gaming  bles, packs of aards, deal

markers, «r tal:v cards.

boxes, deal trays for holding chips.

ivory balls, lottery policies, - lottery tickets, wrungs,

NIPCTS, . slips, or drawn numbers in policy,
I

jm/;e;‘g %/E
Ze2so o A %’Mﬁ/f(/

City of I/L(M/U WL . . . and County Q/‘/)/W 1 s
M & -
N 45 49 o A ( the Oflicer by whom this warmant was executed,

do swear that the above Inventory contains a true and detailed account of all the property taken by me in this warrant

Sworn o before me, this.. /. L % _{W%Z//ﬁ%«-

day of ¢ YU

. Police Justice.

PUBIIE AN T[OIBOG

District.

&ec.,

<
ON THE COMPLAINT OF

THE PEOPLE

“Palice Count.--- /
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¢

IR
‘arvy

T IIPIENY
B VIR

g
fs
vp/”

g L’V/"‘y/ ww)u;g))

>

,W y SRS
W

3

O/]"m%e...“%:w : 4

L

Tt appearing to m.e Dy the within depositions and statements theet the erime therein mentioned

that there is sufjicient cawse to belicve the within ramed

comrenvibted, aied }

e be held to ansiwer the same, and
ctrell be commnitted to the Warden and Keeper of

guilty ther 5d order that he be admiilted to bail in the swn 27—

Tlindred Dollers, ..

the City Prison of the City of New York, wuntil he give szoch.y/ g
==
e T O el 2. - '_fo%lﬂséice.

& /7 e 189 2
D

s

Deciecd,. .. L2 e

T have admitted the ohove-nanted. ... . oeceeeee e o SN T FRE

to hinil to answer by the undertaling lereto anncved. = )
L T

Dirtedt, 27 - / ’ A . = Z P ~Police Justice.
. R Z - e )
. T e - - . A -

There being no sufficient canse to beliere the within named

suwilty of the ojfense withirn mentioned, I order h to be discharged.

Police Justice.

Deterd
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Court of General Sessions of the

or THE Clry aAXD CounTy oF NEW YOREK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

AGAINST

Aty Cpiirclat

ALt (//

. _,(/ﬁ;l.@/é_md (/C:ﬂ/c cla.e iy
7

. L . s .
The Grand Jury of the City and County” of New York, by this indictment accuse

i)l e (I trarlad Ay /(//{)/L@AC(/LC/C/(EW (/(/u/t? L

of the Cume oF KEEPING A ROOM TO BE USED FOR GAMBLING PURPOSES, c¢ itted

as follows :

The said Og/ab @WC)/@L\Q‘\ (J()/be'/ZL_C,L/)_ C/ C/(/WWC/(A-? - KO/ZK

late of the / :‘V/\,'. Ward of the City of New York in the County of New

York aforesaid, on the (- ,(ﬁw,o/l/&/( /A, da__y of - Ve G’(/(/@/A/ - in the year of our
T.ord one thousand eight hudred and ninety- AN - , at the Waurd, City and County aforesaid,
with force aud arms, unlawfully did keep a certain room in a certain building there situate, to be

used for gambling purposes, to wit : to De used for the purpose of therein conducting a certain gambl-
ing game commonly called «Policy,” where money and property was dependent upon the result,
against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their dignity.

SECOND COUNT:

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment further accuse the said

Oty Ovnvenles , Keakaned dmcw:? -
ING

FOR THE PURPOSE OF SHELY

of the Cnime oF KEEPING A ROOM TO BE USE
LOTTERY POLICIES THEREIN, committed as follows :

me e (O Orcvedets, bibicin AN Aoy Lo

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwaxrds, to wit : on the day and in the year aforesaid,
at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, unlawfully did keep a certain room in a certain building there
situate, to be used for the purpose of therein selling and offering to sell what are commonly called

Lottery Policies, and divers writings, papers, and documents in the nature of bets, wagers and in-
surances upon the drawing or drawn numbers of certain public and private lotteries, and of therein
endorsing and using books and other documents for the purpose of enabling divers persons to sell

and offer to sell lottery policies and other such writings, papers and documents, against the form of
the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New

York and their dignity.
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THIRD COUNT:

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indietment further accuse the said

CAhle & pcveele/ b, (Arch oot cfcfirictose, — ——-
< A

of the CriME or SELLING TO ANOTHER WHAT IS COMMONLY ENXOWX AS 2 LOTTERY

POLICY, committed as follows :

The said

d Lty Ovicvecd A 2, Wm@/afmdﬂf/ Ltk

iate of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwa,rcé, to wit : on the day and in the §epf aforesaid,
feloniously did sell to one

at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

C//Z{f M Oj . C)/Lf/@.@/(/%. R

commonly called a Lottery Policy, which said -paper, instru-

a certain paper, instrument and writing,
ment and writing, called a Lottery Policy, is as follows, that is to say :

@wﬂd(%/yﬁ

G- SRS B
BE S — S JLT DD

and writing so commonly called a Lottery
t now be given), against the form of the
ace of the People of the State of New

(a morve particular description of which said instrument
Policy is to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, and canno
statute in such case made and provided, and against the pe
York and their dignity. ’

FOURTH COUNT:

And the Grand Juary aforesaid, by this indictment further accuse the said

¢ b rocoiled U, (j[icéou?,o/%zo(ﬂﬁ

of the Crive or SELLING A PAPER AND WRITING, IN THE NATURE OF ET AND
WAGELR UPON THE DRAWN NUMBERS OF A LOTTERY, committed as follows:

The said

L Otls Dncoratot e, Rohor v ctoeey boce

on the day and in the year Q;)re-

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit :
niously did sell to one

said, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, felo

' (//3/)6&0/(2/ 05 Do i Lly —

on the drawn numbers{ of a certain
by chance among persons who had
(a more particular description of

a certain paper and writing, in the nature of a bet and wager up
lottery, the same being a scheme for the distribution of property 1
paid or agreed to pay a valuable consideration for such chance
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which said lottery is to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, and cannot now be given), which

and writing is as follows, that is to say :

(9 /C/o(@[(_, S5

N N TS
L/( - //S/, ,_/ P s
96 “<ry e gD e

paper

/

is to the Grand Jury aforesaid

(a more particular description of which said paper and writing
and provided,

anknown, and cannot now be given), against the form of the statute in such case made

and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

FIFtE COUNT:

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment fmrther accuse the said

Oﬁgé{’ C"""‘/"‘Q[C// Q&C/ O&@/AWC// Kecta ey

of the Crive or SELLING A WRITING PAPER AND DOCUMENT IN THE NATU%]':;: OF

AN INSURANCE UPON THE DRAWING OF A LOTTERY, committed as follows:

The said

B

N - : )
2 wona, o {lacl bl < Snad s T |
B N N O T P

said, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, feloniously did sell to one

(A s b AT —

riting and document in the nature of an insurance upon the drassihg of a certain
a scheme for the distribution of property by chance among certain persons
(a more particular descrip-

row be given), which

a certain paper, w
lottery, the same being
who had paid or agreed to pay a valuable consideration for such chance

tion of which said lottery is to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown and cannot 1
ting and decument is as follows, that is to say :

Bl ety /f)S

a2l
36 V5 J//Q

said paper, wri

(a more particular description of which said paper, writing and document is to the Grand Jury afore-
said unknown, and cannot now be given), against the form of the statute in such case made and

provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity-

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorrney.
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FOLDER:
4366

DESCRIPTION:

Pacciarelli, Michele

DATE:

04/29/92

JIATIB

4366
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L e e e & e T S,

’,_.5-.‘\;’--—4 A NI a3 seem s .
e e

See. 192.

CITY AND COUNTY ) .
OF NEW YOREK, %% / -
o L A g -A. ..~ Police Justice

An information having been laid before

of the City of Naz»rk, chargipg. ’
-
the offence of . “ M;épm .......

Defendant with

1 been brought before said Justice for an examination of said charge, and it having been made

and he havir
ice that said examination should be adjourned to some other day, and

to appear to the satisfaction of said J
the hearing thercof harving been ac

o fr AN L2 .Defendant of No...

_Street ; by occupation a. 54.71/‘4,5([/‘/—

of No..3.&l. 7 //

Surety, hereby jointly and severally undertake

that the above named .. ..Defendant
shall personally appear before the said Justice, at the District Police Court in the City ofdiet® York,

during the said examination, or that we will pay to the People of the State of New York the sum or/?")/(

Hundred Dollars.

Zalken and acknowledy
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THE PEOPLE, COURT OF GENERAL SESSI1ONS, PART 1.

VSe
BEFORE JUDGE COW1NG.

M1CHELE PACClARELLI.
Thursday , February g9, 1893.

Assistant District Attorney Macdonnza, for The People.

Mr. LeBarbier, for The Defendant.

Indiectment for RAPE and ABDUCTI1ON.

A jury was empannelled and swormn, and Mr. Macdonm

opened the case for the People.

,eBarbier: 1 ask that your Honor direct tlhe District Attorney

to select the count he will go to trial one.
Court: Not at present ~- 1 will reserve my decision.
LeBarbier: Note an exception. Furth ermore, 1 would like to

have it appear upon the re:cord now that 1 excert and object
to the remarks of the learned District Attorney in his op en~

ing, wherein he states that for two months illicit relations

continued, at intermittant times, and that she, the com-~

plainant, had a conversation with the defendmt, to the ef-

Feet that he would take her to Brooklyn, which he did, go-

ing to 107 East 4th street, which room he hired and paid

for; as immaterial, irrelevant and incompetent, and as

likely to prejudice the jurye 1 also ex¢ept ' to the open-

ing of thhe learned District Attorney, wherein he states that

Mrs. Moore will certify that she saw him therwe, went there

in the night-time and came out in the mo rming; on the same

ground. And 1 also exgept to the District Attorney's state

ments, on the ground that the defendant took her to a place.
in the city of Brooklyn, on the ground that that is not

within the jurisdiction of this court; and on the further

N

gyound that the District Attorney stated that this act oec-
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curred on Sunday , February 7, and this indictment charges

that it was on the 9th day of February, 1891.

MAR1ANA PELUSO, sworn and examined, through the inter-

preter:
By Mr. Macdonna:
Qe Does she speak English?

lnterpreter: She says nNnoOe

Qe What is her name?® A. Mariana Pelusoe.

Qe Where do you live? A. 1In 71 Mulberry sStreet.

Qe In this eity? A. Yes, sire

Qe How old is she?

Objected to, as incompetent and immnaterial.

Obj ect ion overrulede. Except ion.

A. Fourteen years olde.

When, what day is her bitthday?

A. 1 don't renember, mmy mother can say wnen 1 was borne

Mr. LeBarbier: 1 move that that be stricken out, her st atement,

that she says she is fourteen Yyears of agee.
The Court: I will leave that ine
Mr, LeBarbier:? Note an except ione.

By Mr. Macdonna:

Qe Were you employed in October, 1892, by the fixrm of Angene

at No. 4 Birmingham street, in this city?

Leone & Co.,
A. Yes, sir, 1 was in February, 1892,

Court:

A, Yes, sir.

In the city of New York?

Macdonna?

What is that place, what kind of a factory?

A. A macaroni factory.
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Was this deferdant emploied there too?

A. Yes, sir; he was a foreman ther e,

Was he your foreman?

A. Yes, sir, he was the fToreman of me alsoce.

Now, did you ever have connect ion with this det endant , at

that place?

Objected to, except at the time specif ied in the

indietmente.

On or about Febraary 9, 18927

Objected toe. Object ion overraled. Exceptione.

A, Yes, sir, 1 heads

Whereabouts in those rooms, whai floor?

A. On the fourth floor.

About what time of day?

A. 1t was between eleven and twelve o'elock in the mo rn-

ing.

Iin the day-time? A. Yes, sir.

Were there other girls in the place at the time, or was she

alone with this defendat?

A, There was another girl on the first floor, ~ut 1 was

alone with him on the fomrth floore.

There was nobody in the building from the first floor,

where there was a girl, up to the fourth floor where you

were with this defendant?

A, Ho, sire.

Ask her if she can fix the day of the week?

cAe Sundaye.

The factory was not open for work?

A, No, it was on a Sunday; and on the Sunday the factory;

doesn't worke.

How 4id you come to be there on Sunday, if there was no

]




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

work ? A. The prisoner told me that 1 should go

on Sunday to shift over the paste, macaroni.

And you went there to do that?

A, Yes, sir; we knew nothing at all, and we

And aid you turn over any paste that day?

A VYes, sir, we turned over sane paste.

Now, ask her to describe exactly what occurred when they got

on the fourth floor, what he said and what he aiae

A. We were on the first floor and he toll me to go up to

the fourth floor to turn over the paste on that floare. When

we got on the foarth floor 1 saw that there waw no paste at

all to turn over, and there and then he threw me on the

then, when 1 was on the floor, he says, "You are a

floor;

darling, and a dear thing," to me, and he put his hand on

my mouth, saying, "1 will marry you." 1 said, "1 want to

Bome , leot me go." He said, "1f you leave me now 1 shall

kill you, 1 shall shoot yoi, and then afterwards 1 will

shoot myself."

Go on? A. And then he had connection with

"me on the floore
Now, was there conplete connect ion?%
A, Yes, sir; and 1 am in the family way now also.

pid you ever, befcre that time or sinee that time, have con-

neet ion with any other man ?

A. NO, Sire

Ask her was there complete penetration, did his person entexf

Qe
hers?
lnterﬁireter: She sags that it did, and that she is now in the

family waye

Macdonma:

Now, did you go hame then, that day?




-

|

POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

A. Yo, sir, 1 did not; he didn't want me to go hane.

Qe What else oceurred that day?

A. He took me over to Brooklyn, and he hired a house

she says,in Brooklyn, and 1 lived theres—-—--—————---

Mr. IL.eBarbier: I move that part of the answer be stricken out, on

the ground that it is immmterial, incompetent and irrel-

evanto

The Court: On the ground of the abduction count it might be mater-

iale.

Mre. LeBarbier: Let the time be sepcif iede.

By Mr. Macdonna:t

Qe How long after this Sunday, when the defendant had connec-—

tion with her, was it that he took her to Brooklyn?

A. The day after he took me t o Brooklyn.,.

And whereabouts in Brooklyn did he take you to?

A, It is 34th street, in Brooklyn, across the river.

She doesn't know the number, does she?
A. No, sir.

Was it 4th street or 34th street?
A, She says 34th street.

Does she know Mrs. Moore?

A. We crossed the river at 34th street, and then we Went:

to Brooklyne.
Does she know the number of the house he took her to

Brooklyn?% A, 1 forget the number.

Do you know Mrs. William Moore?®

A, Yes, 1 do.
Was it to her house he brought her in Brooklyn -~-— is this

the 1lady (pointing to a lady) to whose house hr broaught her

A. Yes, sire.

L ¢ T U

Did you go there in the night-time or in the day-time?
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A. We went over at five o'clock in the aftemoone.

Did you stay there all night?

A. Yes, sir, and the next morning he took me back to
my worke

pid vyou sleep with him in that house, in the same bed?
A. Yes, sire.

The next day did you go over again, did he bring yoa over

again? A. Yes, sir; after 1 finished my work

I went again to Brooklyn with him,

How marny times, did you continue to go to that house?

A. A weeke.

Did you see your mother, during that time, around about the

place in Birmingham street?

A, Wo, sir; he dian't want me to se=s my mothere.

Did he say anything to you about not se=ing yoir mother®
A. 1 was erying, and begged him to let me see¢ my mother;

he says, "You must not see your mother, and if you go and

see yvour mother then I will go and shoot yoau, and then after

wards 1 will shoot myselfe.

You continued to live at this house of Mrs. Moore's, in

Brooklyn, with him until he was arrested?

A, Yes, sir —— my mother had him arrested on a Saturday

night °

Now, after he was armested and indicted -- did you go to

Pit tsburgh with him r~hen he went away?

Objected to.

Barbier: Note anexcept ion.
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Court:
Ask her if she is the wife of the defendant, or ever was?

A, No, sire.

Never was married to him?
Ae. No, Sire.

Macdonna?

Do yoar know whether he is married or not?

A, Yes, sir, he has got a wife and two children.

CROSS EXAMINATION?

LeBarbier:

When was it that yoa first went to this macaroni fact ory?

A, 1 aon't remember the date -- my mother knows all
about ite

Mr. ILeBarbier: 1 move that that be stricken out.

The Court: Yes, strike it out.

By the Court:

Q. when she first went to work there —-- how long was it?
A, 1 don't remember; it was after two months that 1 was

working in that factory when sueh a thing happened.

LeBarbier:

Did you go every day to that factory?

A. Yes, si=o.

And were there many girls working theres?

A. Yes , Sir, there was two other Sicilian girls.

But were there other girls, not Sicilian, working in the

fact ory during those two months?

A. We were first three of us, and afterwards two more

came o

On what floor did yoa work?

A, One day wework ed on the first floor, and another day
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on the second, ard another day on the fourth, and so one.

When vyoa went to that factory, how long did yau work on the

first floor?

A, Every day we change, going up and down, from one floor

to the othare.

When you worked on the Tirst floor were there other girls

working with you? Ae No —- there was one on an-

other floor, and two others on another floor.

How long was it aftexr you went there that you worked onthe

fourth floor? A, We change, going up and down,

when the paste was dry up st airs then we changed floorse

Fix the time, in and aroand the 7th of February, when she

says the de fendant did this act. Had she been working the

day before, or two or three d4days before, on the foarth

floor? A, Yes , sire
Had yax been working there alone?

A. No, there was another girl along with me.
What was tre name of the other girl?
A, Carolinee.

Caroline what?
A. 1 don't know her other nameo
Had Caroline been working there winen you went to the fac—

tory? A. Caroline took me t o work in that fac-

toxYrye

What was the work that was caryied on on that fourth floor?

A. We turned over the paste, drying it.

Was there any paste there the day before, or two or three

days before, the time that you say the defendant 4did this'

act? A, Yes,sir; there was.

Was there any paste on that floor the Saturday previous to
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A. There was long paste, there

this Sunday?
long paste but not small paste.

was an Saturday Macaroni

Now, you say "We went there;" who do yoixr mean by that?

A. I went on that Sunday with Carolinee.

And after yai reached the factory did youa go directly to

the foaarth floar? A, When we got into the

factory we stopped first down below, near the office.

After stopping at the office what did you do?

A, The boss then tald re that he required me

Court?

That is, the prisoner told her?

A. No, no, the boss, Angene Leone (Pointing to a man

in court) That man there told me to go up on the foarth

floor to worke

LeBarbiers:

Was the boss there that day, that Sunday?

A. Yes, sir, he waso

He, the boss, was there that Sunday®?

A. Yes, siro

Why did you say in yvour examination-in-chief that when you

got to the factory there was nobody there?

A. First 1 said there were no working people in the fac-
tory that day.

Well, was there anybody else besides the boss and this girl

Caroline there, and the de fendant?

A, There was some other people at worko,

A moment ago you said there were no working people thereo

Now, how many people were thherzm that Sunday?

A. When 1 went first into the factory then 1 saw peop le

got theres When

working; that was not on a Sunday that 1
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this thing happened to me, when 1 was there, there were no

people workinge

Now, then, on this particular Sunday, the 7th of February,

was there anyhody there besides the boss, Caroline, the de-

fendant and yourself?
A. There were only myself, Caroline, the boss and himself

when such a thing happened.

Did you go with the d:fendant alone to the factory that dar?

(Question withdrawn.)
Whe e: did yoar meet Caroline that day to go with the defendatf

A. On the Saturday evening 1 told Caroline to come and

call for me, at my houseo

Had Caroline ever czlled at your house bef are?

Ae Wo, sirxre

Why did you ask Caroline to call that next day?

A, Caroline czme that morning to my house; she says, "Let

us go up to the factory to turn up the paste;" and 1 went.

Up to this time, on that Sunday, vyou hadn't as yet seen the

def endmrt ¢ A. Yes, 1 knew hin before, because
he was the: lforemano
That is not my question; my question was if Caroline had ---
Court:

Diii she see the deiendant before she got to the factory that
Sunday? A. She says, I knew him when 1 was
working there.

When did she see him for the first time, thatday?

A. I saw him that morning, in the fTactory.

For the first time that day? A. Yes, sir; then

I saw him when 1 got into the factory.
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IL,eBarbier:
Had vy a1 ever been arocund to that factory on any previous

A. No, that vas the only Sunday.

Sunday?
That was the first time that yoa had gone there to that fac-

tory on a Sunday with Carcline?

A, Yes, sir; it vas the first timeo
The Tirst thing, then, that you knew about going to that

factory was when Carocline came toyour house , and said,

"ILet us g0 to the factory to turn over the paste?”

A. Yes, sir; that is it.

what time was it that Caroline called upon you that Sunday?

A. Pive minutes to ten o'clockos

Why do you say five minutes to ten o'clock?

Ao, Because 1 looked at the clock before T left the house.

A. Yes, sire.

Was there a clock in your house?

You are quite certain about that?

A, Yes, sir.

what kind of a clock is it ?

A, 1t is one of these clocks that they put on the mantel-

piecee.

What kind of & cluck was it, can yoa describe it?

Ao, 1t is about this height (showing), with a glass face

and & wooden frame.

When Caroline came there that morning, were you alone?

Ao There was my mother with mee. My mother didn't care

for me to go, but Caroline forced me to goe

in wat way did she force you to go to the factory?

A, Caroline told me, "You know we have got to go over

to tum this paste." 1 said, "All right;" and 1 went.

But you didn't know it till Caroline told yoa?
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A. She showed me how to turn over the pasteo.

Did Caroline say anything to you about Angene Leone, the

boss, at the time she called on you that Sunday?

A, She didn't say enything particular about Angene, but

she says, "Let us go to turn over the paste, as the boss

wants us to do so."

Didn't Caroline tell var tha she was going there that Sun-

day to meet the boss? A, Caroline told me only

that we had to go to turn over this raste.

Had there: been any extra number of employeces the week before

this Sunday in question, there at the factory?

A, 1 didn’'t count them, 1 don't knowe.
Well, was there more than the usual munber?

A. 1 don't knowe.

Had you ever, during these twoc months previous to this Sun-

day in question have oceasion to go to the factory not on

working days, to turn over the paste?

A, No, sir; 1 id note

Nor:. 2id you ever go there sinece that time, to turn over

paste? A, No, siz.

dourt?

Did you ever turn over any paste after this 7th of Febru-

ary? A, Mo, sire

LeBarbi ex:
What time did you and Caroline leave your house that Sunday

mo rnin g? A, 1 alreadytold yoa once before that

it was five minutes to ten,

Don't look so cross at me. How long did it take you to go

to the factory? ) A, Five minutese.

That is, did you go from 71 Mulbery»y street to No, 4
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Birmingham street --- is that the number of the Tactory?

A. 1don't know the number of the factory, if it is 4

or 60

When you arrived at the Pactory who was the first person

you saw there? A. On the Saturday night

they, the prisoner and the boss, gave the key to the other

girl; and on the Sunday morning it was that we opened the

factorye.
Now, on the Saturday night previously, wen the key was

given to this other girl, do vy mean Caroline?

Ao Yes s Sir.
Was anything then said about coming to the lactory the follw

ing aday? A. They told us, "You will have to

come to-morrow mo yning, to turn over the paste, at ten
o'clock. We shall be here at eleven o'clock."
Then you knew that vou were t o go to the factory?

A. 1 didn't know it., but the other girl knew it.

What do you mean by saying that when the key was given to

Caroline you were told to came the following day to the fac-

tory —-— vou just answered that aguestion yourself.

interpreter: She answered that gquest ion, saying that she heard

from that girl.
When the key was given to Caroline on the night before,

what were the words that yoa heard said?

A. 1 was near the door, and Caroline was near the door,

and I didn't hear the conversation nor knew wvhat they did.

Then why did you say, a moment ago, that when the key was

given to Caroline -- that is, that she or you were to come

the following day ., or bothe

lnterpr eter: She said that the other girl told her thate.

13
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Mo, she didn't; 1 refer to the minutes that there may be no
on that Saturday

misunderst anding. 1 ask you, did you,

night previous to the Sunday in question, hear from anybody

that you were to go to the factory the following day?

A. NOe.
Now, 1 ask you to be positive. The tollowing day, wien
oline called at your house, as vou say, at five minates

ten, did you know for what purpose slhie came to see you?
Ae. I didn't know ite

On the Saturday previous to the day in quest ion did yaa

a key given to Caroline?

A. 1 have already told you that 1 didn't.

Now, then, after you arrived at the factory, within five

wvho opened the door?

minates --—
A. Carolines.

Did you go right in with her then?
A, We did go inside together,and then the door

againe.

Now, was there any other entrance to the factory?

A. 1 aon't know if there any other entrance, but

prisoner at the bar and the boss came down from

Now, after you went into the factory and locdted

did j;rou and Caroline first go?

A. We turned the paste on the first floore.

How long did it take you to turn the paste on thatfirst
f£loor? A, About a quarter of an houzro
Were you and Caroline alone on that first floor during that

gpart er of an hour? A. Yes, sire.

Bnhen what did you do?
A. Then we saw the prisoner and the boss coming up from

the tope
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Court:
Coming down from the Lt op?

A. Coming down from the top.

T,eBarbierxr:
DRid you see tnmm cane in from the roof —-— you said that a

moment ago? A. Yes, sir; we saw them coming down
the steps from the roofo.

Was there any aperature in that rocf, to get into the fac-

tory, any opening?

A. There is a door that opens on the roofe.

Did you see that door open?

A. That door is fastened by an iron bolt; they opened it

and they came downe.

Was that the only lock on that door from the roof?

A., Only the bolte.

You caald see that bolt from where you were; could you not?

A. No, sir, 1 couldn't see it; but there was no other

way for them to cane in, 1 saw that doore.

Now, 1 ask you, that I may not misunderst and you -- did you

see then coming in that opening from the roof?

A, 1 didn't see then coming through that door, but they

told us that they came from the roofe.

That is, Angene and the de fendant told you that; is that so?

A. He told me that he came from the roof when he done

that thing t o me.

You have stated that you remained a quarter of an hour on

the rirst flceor, it took yoa that time to turn over the
paste, that it was then that you saw the deferdant and the

boss.e Now, is that the fact, did you see them at that

moment ? A. They came down from the top,
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we saw them and they saw us whilst we were turning the paste

on the first floor.

What did you say to the deferndant when yoi: saw him on the

first floor? A. 1 tald him, "What are yoa

doing here, why did you come from the roof, what are yoa

going t o dof" and he answered, “"We don't want anything, &

we don't want to do anything.”

You said to the dafendant, "Why did yoa come from the roof?"

and you said a moment ago that you didn't know he came from

the w»oof until he told you, when he did the aet. You please

explain?

A. 1 says, "Why 4idq you not cane throagh the door?" He

said, "1t was mach bette T for us to comne through the roof,

because, otherwise, people might have seen us coming in

here."

Mow, 1 ask you --- after you ent ered the factoryyou went up

one flight of stairs; did you not %

A, No, sir, we didan't, we went in the first floor, the

gyround f loore.

1s the ground flcor on the same floor that the entrance-door

to the factory is?

A. The re are some steps from the street, to goup to

first floar, but 1 don&t know how many.

How many do you think? A, I don't knowe.

Can you say a dozen steps, Or one or two steps?

A, About ten -— 1 don't know.
Did the steps go right up straight aftexr you ent ereded the

door? A. No; yvou have got to walk a little

bit before you reach the steps, a2nd then you get on top of

the stairs and get into the firstfloor.
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Now, 1 ask you, after you opened that door, and you got

in —-- what is tle distance from the door to the st eps,

zbout? Ae. The distance is from here t o yourself.

About four - that is a yard, is there not an open

vard? A. No, it is not a yard; there is a small

passage.

1s a passage-way from the door, where you enter, to the

steps?
Objected to as immterialo

You snid, did you not, that the reason why the de fendant

szid he did not come in through the door, was becamse he dia
not want to be seen by people onthe street?

A. Yes, sire.

Now, to shorten matters, 1 ask you, could you sSee that door

from the firstfloor, the door of the street, upoI, whichy oa

egnt ered? A, 1 could see the doore.

Now, then, when the defendant came into that room, wha t
othe r conversation, kesides what you have Are:lat ed, did yoa
have with him?

A. He told me, "You will go up stairs to the fourth
floor,and the other girl will remain down here."
Ave those about the first words that he said to vy ou?
in.

A, That is what he told me, as soon as he came

Then did youa go with him?

A. 1 knew nothing at all, and 1 went up to the

floor.

Did Caroline say anything at this moment when the de fer dant

asked you to go up to the fairrth floor?
A. No, sir; she dxl not.

Aft er you got on the fourth floor, was there any paste’
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there? . A. When 1 got up there 1 told him, "Wherz

is the paste that youn broagiit me up here to t urn?®
prisoner answered, "There is no paste here to tturn."

When you were going up to the fourth f loor did the defendant

do anything to you, did he touch you in anyway?

A. He daidn't touch me going up. When we arrived there

1 asked him, "Where is the paste to turn?" He said, "What

paste, there is no paste here."”

Did yai have any conversat ion with him going up to the

fourth floor? A. He was ahead of me on the faurth

floor, when 1 arrived there.

When you started out from the first floor, how far ahead of

you was the defendant? A. The distance between us

was from here to this gentleman (showing)-

And did it continue in that way up to the fourth floor?

A. 1 said, "What do you want me to cane on the fairth

flooxr foxr?" He says, "Go on," and he waent up and then 1

followed I ime

But you knew what you were going up to the fouarth floor for,

A, 1 knew nothing at all, I

dia you not?
only knew that 1 was going up to turn some pastee

Now, then, didhe take you by the hand as he tookx you up?

A. No, sir, he dian't.

Did he kiss yai before he got you up on the fairth flo or

ves or no? A, No, sir; it was only when 1 was

on the flowor that he kissed me.
DPid he put his arms around you befure you got on the fourth

floor? A. H e daidn't touch me going up, be-

cause he was before me on the fourth f loore

Now, when you got up on the faurth floor, is it a large
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floor there, or z room through which yal have to pass?

A. The room is a large room, about half this roome

Immediately after getting on that floor wvhat did the defend -

ant do? A. As soon as 1 gét there he caught

held of me with his arms aroamnd myg body, and threw me on the

ffloore.

That was the very first thing that was done?

As Yes, sir.

Just as he put his arms

Eefore he threw you on the floor,

around you, did he kiss yo?

A, Yes, sire.

Did he put his arm around your neck?

A. No, sir, he caught hold of me with both arms, SO

that 1 could not move'-

Did he put his hands in yoir dress, &6n your bosom?

A, He did note
Now, then, after he took you around the waist, that way, -

around the shoulders, did you immediately fall down with

A, He threw me on the floor, he

him?
caught hold of me and threw me on the floor.

Was he on top of you wken you were on the floor?

court:

Did he fall on top of her?

A, He threw me on the floor, and then he came on top of

meo

LeBarbier:?

Now, are the stories very high in that building?

Objected to as immaterial.
Object ion overruled.

A, 1 don't know; 1 didn't measure any of these housese.
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When you were thrown down that way, did he immediately get

on top of you? A. He did.

Did you scream out? A. 1 started screaming

and shouting, but then he put his hand on my mouth and pre-

vented me doing sSoO.

What did you think he wvas going to do?

Objected toe Obj ect ion sustained.

Now, then, whey you were down on the floor, did he

iately get on you?

Obj ected to, on the ground that it has already been

answered tlhree or four timeso.
Obj ect ion sustained,

How did he do that, did he pull your clothes up?

dres.s—

A. When 1 was on the floor then he took hold of my

es and lifted them up, amd did the thing.

pid yvyou try to get away frdn him?®?

Objected to, as immatsriale.

Object ion overruled.

A. 1 coaldn't run away Tran him, because he was holding
fast to me.

After he got up fran you, what did yoa do?

A. When le; got up off me, and 1 was free, 1 told him 1

am going to tell all about it to my mother; but he said,

ni1f you dare say anything of the sort 1 will shoot you

first , and shoot myself afterwards.

Did you go down stairs then?
Ao Yes, sir; 1 went down stairs and went to my housee.

When vou arrived on the first floor did youa see Caroline?

A. 1 dido

pid yoa say anything to Caroline of what happened?
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A. No, sir, 1 did note.

Or to the boss, as to what happzned?

A. Mo, sir; 1 was afraid of telling the boss about it.

Then what did you do? A. 1 then went to my house,

and then he af tervards came and toox me awaye

Did vyoi see your mother? A. Well, he dian't =2llow

me, he didn't give me time to go home, but iie caught hold

of me and forced me to go away with him, and he hired a

house whe "2 We wer:=e
Q. What did y ox mean, a moment ago, b saying that yoa went
home?

iInterpreter: She said, "1 wanted to go nome; 1 wanted to g0 hane,

bput he would not let me go hane."

Now, did you come down sia irs with him in that factory?

A. 1 came down before him, and 1 went to try the door,

and tried to open it, but the doour was Jo cked; he came down

and he caaght hold of me, and took me to the house he had
hirede.

i ask you, when you came dow and found that dooxr locked,

how did you get out? A. When he came down

the door, the

aft erwards and caught hold of me he opened

de fendant at the bare.
pid vou all four go out together?

A. He todk me awayand Caroline and the boss remained

behinde.

wow, when you went out of that door where was the first
? b 4

place that you went to ?

A., He took me over to Brodlyne

pDid he take you over immediately, that Sunday?

A, He didn't allow me to go to my house, but he took me
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over that very moment to Broaklyne

You are positive about that, are you not?

Yes, sir, wertainly, 1 am positive.

Tow, then, on y car direct-examination, the gquest ion was

put to you by the learned Assistant District AttorneVd, in

so many words, "How long after this connection did y o1 E£© to

Drooklyn?" and you answered, “"The day after."

A, 1 aian't want to say that, oY probably 1 made =a mis-—

take, butit he gid not allow me to go t omy house; but he took

i

me, that very sazme day, over theree.
1s that answer torrect to that quest ion, that yoa went LO

Brooklyn the day aftar?

The Court: She saidq not, she said it was the same day, if she

said that she aid not mean it e

LeBazrbisr:
Bow, what way did Yy o g0 to Brodclyn that day?

A. We walked two blocks from the factory, and then we

took the cars, at Canal stre=t, then we took the elevated,

at the Canal street stat iorre.

How long were yoa up on that fourth floor?
Court:

At the time the defendant is alleged to have had conrect ion

with her? A. Do yoa think 1 was going to c aunt

the minutes that he l1aid me wnderneath himoe

LeBarbier?

How long were yoa on the fourth floor?

Courts:

I,et her give her best judgment —— half an hour~—-how .long it

seemed to her? A. Probably a quarter of an hoar.

LieBarbier:.

Why, then, did yoa say, on your examination-in-chief, that
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vwe went to Brooklyn at five o'clock?¥
Objected to, as immateriale.
fourts
Ask her if she went to Broklyn at five otclock?

A. 1 canmnot speak of the hours, 1 cannot speak of the
time, as in the factory theve wer = no clocks and 1 had no
wateh in my nardse.

LeBarbier:

Can you state about what time yoa got to tne house tnat day,
trs. Moore's? : A. Probably between six and
halt-past sixe

pid you take supper at Mrs. Moore's that night?

A. That nignht when we got there hhe bought some meat, and
he cooked it, and we ate ite
On the following morning daid yoa come to New York witii him?

A, Yes, sir; he broaght me over tomy work the next mom-
inge.

Mow, did you yemain all that day at the factory?

A. 1 worked all that day in the factory up to five
o'clocdk, and at that hour he took me back to the house at
Brooklyne
For how many 4days did he repeat this?

A. 1 remained wit‘h hinm up to the next saturday after the
Sunday that this thing occurred.

When was it yoa went to yoar mother's house , for the first

time? A, 1 went bhack to meama when she had him

armested; it was on a Saturday eveninge.

Now, do you know when it was that he was arrested?
A+ Saturday evening.

How long after this act that he did to you?

23 A. He dAid this to me on Sunday, and he was arvrested on

R oy T
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the following Saturday.

A Juror: When was this?

The Court: A year ago,

By Mre.

Qe

lWhen you want to elevated r

the 7th of February, 1892.

I,e Barbierr:
Now, will y o1 swear that yoa stayed with him a week there,

and that the following Saturdny after the act that he did

to yoa1, he was arrested? A. 1 doe.

Court:

Did shie ever stay with hin after that week ?

A. No, sir, beczause he was arrested, and 1 went to the

House of the Good Shepard.

Are you now in the family way from being with him a yezar

ago? A. 1 was delivered of a baby while 1 was

in the House of the Good Shepard, and the baby is now in

the hands of the minse.

LieBarbier:

What montih was your baby born in? A, 1 don't know

the month that the child was born; he is dead nowa.

Tyry to remem.er, if you can, wh at month?

A, 1 don't remember the month; my moth er knows every-

thing about it.

Court:
The child is dead you say?
A, He died before he was born, five and a half months.

Five and a half months before it was born, you say?
A. 1 had a miscarriage.

IreBarbier:

you can't state, you say, the month?
A, Mo, sire.

Macdonna:
out

ailroad,,\hm this place
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where dida you go from the Canal st reet station, what stirezt

did vou go to? A. Thirty-fourth strezate.

And then you went down 341h street to the feryy?

A, Then we walked to 34th st reat and took the ferry-boat.
And went over to Erooklyn? A, Yes, sir.

Now, ask her ~ slie can Fix the date, and the month which

she left tnis place and went over to Brooklyn, that Sunday?

A. The 7tnh of February, Sun daye
Court:
Last year? A, it will be

Macdonna:
Ask if it was not in April?

A, 1t was in Winter -- mama knows it
what month was 1it, if she can loecate the time thiat she left

this factory she described, on that Sunday, and went to

Broaklyn?

The Court: She said the 7th of February, 1892 .

By Mre. Macdonna:

Qe 1s she positive about that ?

A, Yes, sir, because it is written on some pPapersSe.

that the only reason she knows it?

A, Yes, sir.

Q. Ask her how she knows it was in the Winter?
interpret exr? She answered your quest ion; e saia, "1 know,

my mothaesr Knows about it."

Qe She is not certain about the daate then?

A. No, sir; mother knows all about it

Qo Hexr mind is clear as t o the occurrence, but not

date; is that right?

Objected to, on the groind that he cannot impeach

his own witnesse
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- A 1 am sure, positive, about what happened with the

prisoner, but 1 am not sw e about the dateeo My mothier knows

about 1te

Now, was the reason that yoa didn't tell when you came down

out of the loft, that he had threatened to kill you -- was

that the reason yoir didnot tell what oceurye d?

Objected to, on the gywund that she has answered

the question alr=ady,

what was the reason she did not tell, whan she came down

stairs? A. 1 was ashamed and Ifrighterned af speak-

ing about it.
why was she frightened, what frightened her, was it what

he said? A, He told me not to tell anybodye.

in the fac-

On the day that this act tock place with yoa,

tory, did you o to Brooklyn?

A. Yes , sir, it was on a Sunday; on that Sunday that he

took me over to Brooklyn.

pid yoa see the defendsnt after he was arrested?

A. No, sir; 1 was with the nuns and 1 neve r saw him amny

moxr o

Court:

Unt il you sasw hin in court?

LeBarbier:

is it not a fact that, about two months aftexr this act was

yvou saw the defendant ?

-r

done LO 37 A,

A. I haven't seen him any more, after he was arrested.
Pid yaa go to his house any time after he was arrested?

A, 1 was shut up with the nuns, 1 couldn't go to his

housee

Is it not a fact that you went to his house with him,

months after his arrest, and stole his gold
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A. 1 didn't rob nis gold watch, he gave it to me.

1s it not a fact that, two months after the arwrest, you

went to his house? and broke open the door of nis room?

A. qow carld 1 break his door if 1 was locked up in the

col lege?

Yes, or no; 1 want an answer?

A. 1 did not break into his house; he gave me the watch

that Sunday at the i'aectory, and he said, "Keep it in yaar
pocket for me.t"

Did he give youa that watch before he took you up stairs?

A. He gnve me the watch before the thing happered.

Now, 1 have exmmined you prett, closely and pretty severely

as to what took place whan the defendant met you on that

di 4 you?

first Tioor, and you s aid nothing about the watch;

A, You never asked me about ite

You have stated when yoa were on the Tirst floor the defend-
amt and the boss ceme in, and the first words he said, were

"Caroline stay here, and yoa come with me to the fourth
floor, to turn over the paste." 1 asked you if that was

everything that was said, and you said, "Yes." Now, 1 ask

you, was it before he invited you to thefourth floor, or

just after he invited you to the Ffaarth floor that he gave

you the watch? A, e gave me the watch on the
fourth floor, and he says, "Keep it for me in your pocket."

Then 1 asked you, and 1 pressed the guestion very closely,

when he got you up on the fourth floor wha t was the first
thing that was said, and you said he seized you by the amms
and threw yoi on the floar, and threatened you. Now, did

he give yaa the watch befors he threw you on the floar?

A. He gave me the watch before-hand, 1 wanted to give it

yoar po cket o "

X =

back to him; he says, "No, yoi keep it in

A -
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Q. Did he give vou the watch before he put his arm arocound your

body, yves or no?

lnterpreter: Shall 1 give her answer?

The Court: Yes, what is her answer?

The Witness: He gave me the watehh to dcecceive mee.

Tlie Court: 1 will strike that oute.

By Mre. LeBarbier:

Qe Did he give yoa the wateh hefor= he put his arms around
Lody, ves, or no? A, Yes, sire.
watech to him?

When was it thhat yoau of fered to return the

A. 1 wsnted to return it whilst he was putting it in

my hand, and 1 said, "Take it back."
No,w 1 repeat, was that all the conversation that was said

when he got yoa on the Tirst floor, the first WOras were,

“"Here is this watch?"

A. She says the only conversat ion that we had is that:

"Tak e and keep my watche."

Didhe tell you what for to tgke and keep his wateh?

A. To deceive me, to do what he did.

Mr. LeBarbier: 1 move to strike that oute.
The Court: That is in answer to your question, but 1 will starike

it out.

By Nre. LeBarbien:?

Q. what were the first words he said to yaa, all 1 want

is the converszat ion? A, 1 dian't want to tazke
the watch; he and he gave it t o me, just

to do what he

Then how long yvyoi1 keep that watch?

A, When he was arrested 1 had the watch in my pocket, ami

1 gave it to my mother.

A Juror: is she a Miss or a Mrs.?
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every been married?

1s it not a i act that 2bout two montits afteor you say the

de fendsnt did this thing to you, you went to his rooms and

broke in the door and took out this gold watch and a new
suit a eclothes; yes ¢r no will satisty me?

A, 1 told you already no, that 1 wes in the House o1 the

Good Shepsar? —- how could 1 open his door.

Macdonas

Wihen he was arrested, you were taken in charge by the So-

ciety for the Prevent ion of Cruelty to Children?

A, Yes, sire.
And then you went to the House of the Good Shepard, and ya

are still in the House of the Good Shepard?
A, Yes, sire
And you csme from the House of the Good Shepard into cart?

A. Two days 1 have been in the Society's roomso.

She went to the Society from the House of the good Shevard?

A. Yeus, sire

Now, how long were in Brooklyn with this men, how mnay days?

She said about a week.

Macdomars
yvou had this wateh with yom during that week, yoix carxied

it with yoa? A, Yes, sir, 1 had it all the

week when he was arrested; then 1 gave it to my mothere.

And hhe saw it with you, you used it during that week you

were withh him in Brooklyn? Ao

knew it, kecause he gave it to me.
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Friday, February 10, 1893.

We TRAVIS GIBB, sworn, ard excmined by Mre. Macdonna:

Doctor Gibb, yar are a regularly graduated physician?

A.
Practicing in this city?

po you hold any of ficial position?

A. 1 am lnstructor of the Diseases oF Woman, at the New

York University, and the Examining Physician for the Society

for the Prevention of Crﬁelty to Childrene.
Now, were you Examiner for that Society in April last?
A. Yes , sixo

Did you, it April last, or subsequent tO that time, examine

Mzriana Peluso? A, On the 19th of last April 1

examined hexy; yes, sire

Where did yar examine her? A. At my office, MNo.

365 Liexington =aveme.
Now, what physicial condition did you find her in?
A. 1 foand her genital organs were well developed, and

that there hal been a complete rupture of the hymen, a con-

plete penetration of her genital organs by some blunt ob-

srie with child at that tine?

A. There were no special signs of pregnancye In a case

1ike that 1 make no examination of the utteras, on ac count

of the danger T ryom rupturing the vagina, the rymen.

vour examination was just as to the ext ernal parts?

A., The external genitals; there was no reason to make an

internal vaginal exaninat ion.
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CROSS EXAMINATION:

Lebarbier:?

A physician can detemine, though, after the expirat ion ofza

month , Whether or not a woman is with child?

A. No, sire.

state whather this womz2an was with drild o not?

Can you

A. Bo, sir; 1 canmnoto. 1 made no exsaminat ion with the: i de

in view, of linding that oute. 1 had no suspieion of it,

there was no suspicion of it, and nothing w=as said to me

Q. That she might be with child?
A. No, sir; she spoke no FEnglish, and the Society Agent

who broaght her to me spoke no ltaliane. 1 got her history,

her n=me, L{rom him, and nothing from hexre.

Did you not consider it your duty also to determine whether
or not she might have been with child?

A, No, sir, 1 did not consider it my duty in a case of’

that kind, because, in a case like that, it was too soon

to mak e a positive diagonosis of pregnancye. An absolutely

positive diagnosis cannot be made until 2 1/2 or & months,
and then only undey the most favorable cilircumst an cese.
phis examinat ion took place what day ?

A., The 19th of April.

That is almost a month and a half after the 7th of Febru-

ary? A, Yes, sir.

pon't yoa think by some little further examinati on you could
have detemined whether or not she was with child?

(Objected to. Objection sust ained. Question withdrawne.)

Is that the only time that y ar examined her?

A, 1 never saw her from that day until the day before

yesterday —- the 19th of April.
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you are not a physician of the Society to attend to the del-

ivery oi women pending their detention?

A. The Society nas ro physician for that purpose that 1

know ofe.

ANGELINO PELUSO, sworn, and examined By Mr. Macdonna,

through the interpreter, testified:
Where do voa live, Mrs. Peluso?
A. No, 71 Mulberry street, city of New Yorke.

sSire

Are you & married woman? A, Yes,

How many children have you? A, Four.

is this one of your children, Marina Peluso?

A, Yes, sire

This one he re (pointing to the complainant)?

A, Yes, sirTe
How o0ld is she? A, She was fifteen years
Jast Julye.

Where, in April last, was her (the witness's) child working?

Objected to, on the ground that it is impeaching

the complainant, for the reason that the complainant has

sworn that in Fehruary, on the 7th, she was working at

this factory, that she went with the de fendnnt one weedk,

and =2t the expiration of that week she was then taken in

custody by the Scciety, and therefore she was not working

at that factory in April.

The Court: i1t is not an impeachment, it is not offered to impeach,

as 1 understande 1 will allow the questione

Hr. DI.eBarbier: Note an except ion.

By Mre. Macdonna?i

Qe Where was she working early in the month of April, 18927

A. 1n the shop of a man named Angene.
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By the

Qe

The Court:

By Mre.

Qe

Where is the shop? A. 1 gon't know the nane of the

streete.

po vou know whethsr it is Birminghan street?
A. 1t sounds something like that, bBit 1 con't sy e

She knows the boss of the place, doesn't she?

A. Yes, sire
While, her daughter was working in that factory, did she

live with her, at her house? ire

When aida snhe cease to live in that house?
A. She was taken away in the month of Aprila.
what time in the month of April?

A. 1t was a week before Easters.

what was the last day she lived at h ane?

A. 1t was the week before Easter that that man took away

my desughtere

Courit:

Which man, the prisoner? A. The prisoner at the bar.

it is conceded to be the 17th of Aprile

Macdonmna?l

Do you remenber wh at day that was, Mond=ay o¥ Sunday?

A. 1 don't remember, 1 forget.
Aft er your daughter went away fvom the house did you go to

the Tmctory where she was working, the factory of Angene?

(W =

Objected to. Obj ect ion overrulede. Exceptione.

A, 1 aid go to the factory of Angenee.

Once or many times? A, 1 went there every daye.

Did you see this de fendant there?
A, Yes, sir, 1 did.
pid yoa tell him you wanted to see yor a aughter?

A. Yes, sir, 1 did.
that he wanted to

What did he say? 2 told me

- S Wamr i
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marr>y my daughter; 1 told him, "You can't marry my d=augiter,

because she is still young, @nd yoa have got sons of your

owne."

sons of your own? A, Children o ¥ your owne.

well, what did he say to that?

A. He sa2id that he wanted to marry her on the Brookljyn
Bridge, and 1 saia, "1t is impossible.” 1 told him, "It is
impossikle for you to maryy my daughter, because she is

take her back to ltaly.Y

still very young, and 1 want to

Court:
How o0ld is her daugnter, the compla inant in this case?

A, She was Tifteen years last July.

Qe She is not sixtecn yet? A.

Qe Has she ever been married?
Her daughter, according to her testimony, disappeared,

onn the 10th of April, and not on

The Court:
went away Irom her hane,

the 7th of February, as she has testified.

LeBarbier i move that all the testimony of this witress may

be stricken out, as immterial, irrelevant and in competent.

The Court: Mot ion deniedos

Mr., LeBarbier: Note an exceprtione

CROSS EXAMINAT 10N

By Mr., LeBarbier:

ow long had yoir known the def endant , previous to seeing

Qe
him on the 10th of April, or about that?

A. 1 only knew him a few days before.
Where was it that yoi had seen him then?

A, 1 saw him once before, in the factory, and 1 saw him

asking me to let him marry

af terwards, when he sent for me,

my daughte re.




Was it at this conversation tlhat you have testified to that

he sent for you? A. He sent Tor me, and when 1l

saw him then we h ad that conversation.

Had you ever been toO the factory before that conversat ion

yvou had with him? Ao, Only once.

And, if 1 am corxect, WAS that about four days previously

to this time when she had the conversation about marrying

the Anughter? A. 1t was many days before, it

was on the day that 1 took the brezakfast to my daughter.

vou took the breakfast to yoar deaughter, at the factory,

whet do yoai mean by that? A. Yes, sir, 1 did.

Had yoa been in the habit of tsking the breakfast to the

daught ex? A, 1 only took the brealzfast to

my daughter onceo

How was it that yoa did it only once?

A. She ask ed me before she left home to get hex some more

bread, and 1 took ite.

,T'his was about wh at time in the mo rnlng?

A. 1t was before twelve o'clock.

Had you had any conversation with the defendant about your

daught er before he sent for you, and you had this conversa-

tion that yox hhave related?

A, 1t was only once that 1 spoke to him, 1 met

the FTactory.

But at the time, this once that she spoke to him,

him in the factory, nothing was said at that time

daughter and the defendant ?
A. No, sir, he did mnote

How was it yoxr czamée t o receive word from the defendant, in

A. A man from the factory

what way, wy whom?
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came and called mee.

Up to thnis time had wvour daughter in your house con-

tinuously? A. £1Yre.
the

Ask her if she understood my last question,and is "yes"

prop er answer? A. While this m=mn came to

see me she was working at the factory still.

Up to the time this m=n came to see her hadl her daughter

been living with her, cont inuously?

A_ Yes, sir; she was all the time in my housee.

Wwhen you called upon the de fendant, upen this invitation,

as you have stated, aid he speck first to you about your

daughtex»? A. He commenced talking, st ying,
damage

"{ seduced your daughter, and 1 want to repay her the

that 1 hnave done."

And did he say he caxld repay her th at damage on the Brook-

lyn Bridge, by marrying nher there?
and he always wanted to take me the rea.

A, Yes, sir,

What part of the bridge wWere they to be married on, accord-

ing to his idea? A. 1 do not know, 1 e=nnot

say; 1 refused to goe.

Was anything said about the Statue of Liberty?
A. No, sir, he aid noto.
When he said that to Yy, about seducing your daughter, aid

you then reply, "You are a maryied man, and @anmnot 4o it?"

A, Yes, sir, 1 dide

When was it yor had learned he was a married man?

A, 1 was told by the man from the factory that came to

call me, when he sent for mee.

Theman when he came t O see yaoa, stated to you —— wh at were

his first words, that the defendant is a married man and
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wants to see you?

A. He says, "Come with me, as Michele Pacciarelli has

something to tell you;" and then 1 went and Michele Pac ciar-

elli told me that he had sedu ce d my daugnter, and was ready

t0o marry here

But she snid, a moment ago, that she knew the defendrant was

fyom him had toléd her;

=
=

married man because az man that came

is thiat correct? A, Yes, siie

Now, in what way was tat said?

A. When he ceme and Aasked me to go sand s=2e him, 1 asked

thim, "Who is this man that wants to speak to me? 1s he a

young man or is he a married man?" He answered"He is =2

mar i ed mane."

po yoa know thhe nfme of the man that came Lo see you?

A, 1 don't know; he is a Siciliane.

pia yoa ask him for his name?
A. Mo, sir, 1 did note.

Have you seen him since? A. 1 saw him once,

ai't er thate
tiana you seen him before that?
Yes, sir, 1 knew him, by sight, befor =.

Where daid you see him? Ao, He lived in the same

yvard where we lived.
pDid yvyoa know him by his first name?
A, I didn't knowe.
When yar spoke to him, did you ecall h im by any n ame ?
A, No, sir, 1 did not.

pees he still live in the same premises where you live?

A, Wo, sire

Do yair know where he now lives?

A, No, Vsi.r,_ :1 do riote
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Was he working at the fzctory a2t that time?

A, Yes, sir; he dide

How (o yaa know that he w2 S working at the factory?

A. 1 knew it because f rom the meighlors that lived

the smme yard, that went to0 work t ogethe r.

Can you give me the name of any of the other neighbors that

went to work with h in?

A. One of them was named Caroline.

she a girl? A, Yes, sire

voa know what her last name is?
A. 1 don't know ite.
yrou know vhether it was Russo?

A. 1 don't knows

Did she live on the first floor?

A. She did.

You lived on the top floor?

A. 1 live on the second floor.

And did Caroline go with this men to the factory?

A. Yes, sir, he was the uncle of that Carocline.

1ow long had yai Xnown Caroline?

A, About a yesare.

Did she go to the factory with your dnughter?

Ae. Yes, sire

And would she come hom e with yoar daughter?

Object=a to, as jmmaterial and irrelevant.

Obj ect ion overruled.

Yes, sire.

Qe When Caroline came back with your daughter Tfrom work, on

those days, did the uncle return with them?

Objected to, as immaterial and irrelevant.

Obj ect ion overruled.

R AT S IR
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A. Sometimes ne came in their compmy, and sometimes he

crmme after they did comee.

After the 10th of April., when the Sociecty, as 1 undzrstand

it, took your child, did you see jyour daughter again?

A, 1 saw her arft emyards orily once a monthe.

van you state wheéen it was the Society did take your
A. Fne Society tock my child after
1 had the def sndant arrest ede

Has yvour child been in the custody of the Society ever

since? A. Yes, sire.

po you know when it was your child was delivered of a fetus?

A. Yes, sir; it was in the month of August; 1 have got

the letter there that cmn prove it; there is a man that has

got that letters
Macdonnal

what is his nname ?

A. Thomas Bochero; he is outside.

IseBarbier:

po you know when it was that she had this chila?®

A. There is thie number, and the address of the hospitadt

in this 1lettere.

Macdonna:
Tell her to take that in her hand, ani find out fyom that

naper the date of that paper, and wiere it ocearred?

A. 1 cannot read, but this is the let ter that 1 received-

pia you re:celve that let ter?

A. 1 received this letter, t hrough the post, and then,

the Aasay

aft er receiving this letter, 1 went up to the hos—

pitale.

I,eBarbier?

pid you see your daughter in the hospital?
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. She was sick in bed, and they did not allow me to

il e

see her.

Aft er you had this conversation with the defendmmt, when he

told you he sedueced your daughter, did you sez him after

that again? A. No, sir, 1 did not.

Court:

Did the defe dant tell her the circuwnstances of the seduc-

tion, where it took place and all about it?

A. He only told me that he seduced her, and that he was

ready to marry here.
The defendsnt told her that he had sedu ced her daughter,

and he was ready to marry her?

A. Ready to maryy her, yes, sir, yoar Honor.
LeBarhier:

Cann she give the year of the birth of her daughter, an d

vhere it was? A. 1 don't know the year that

she was born, but she was born in Beanio, the Province of

Aublinoe.

A Jurox:

Qe Vhereabouts, what hospital was it that the child was born

in? - A. 1 ecannot say; 1 know that 1 went to

that hospital, crossing the river on a ferry-boat.

Another Juror: 1 would like to ask her how long she has been

rmarried, yoir Honoro.

By The Court:

Qe How many years has she been married?
A. Twenty-four yearsSe

By a Juror:

1s this her eldest child? Ae I have got an

older gixrl than that one; she is marwied, and this is the
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second oOnee.

vnat is the dif ference between the nges of the older one

and this one? A. In Augsust last slh:e is seven—

teen vears; she is going oOn ner eigshta2enth year nowe

The eldest daughter is seventeen? Ask her how long she

married when her first €hild was bhorn?
three
A. 1 lost ‘A before these two here.
Maocdonnas:

in rosponse to this letter, which

regeiving through the mail, in thhis envelopc,

that 3 i across the water to the hospital to see her

daughter, and found he dauvghter in bed, and they wouldn't

aldow her to see her?

A. 1t was alfter receiving that letter that 1 went over

across the river in the stsamboat; and 1 asked to see my

daugnter; 1 was not al lowed t o see her; they told me she
was in bed.

Q. What with, what ailed her, aid sha see her, does sge know?

A. Because she hai a misearriageo.

Macdonna: i of fer that envelope in evidence, fixing the date

plainly; it is August 11, 1892.

LeBarbier:

How long wvas it ai ter your marriage that your Tirst enild

was born? A. 1t was not a year.

And the second c¢hild?

A. About anotihier year alterwards.

And the third chila? A. And the third

the [ auarth child? A. 1 cannot

a year oOor two years, aft er the last one diede.

yvyoa certain that yrou have been marriedl twenty-four years?

Ao YeS, Sll", 1 am.
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There was three tnat died b=tore this one w:xs borrn, 1

to say?
A. Three died betre the eldest daughter
When weas thie fourth child born?

Ae 1 czmnrnot say; that is the b2st answver

sure that the conplainmt is not sixteen y e3rs ola,

3

A, Positive that srme is not sixteen

LeBarbier:

But you cannot say what year this ecnild was born 1in, <can

you? A. She has been tifteen years in the
montlhh of last Julyo.

Macdonnal

Who was with yvou when you went to the factory to tyy to see

vyour daughter, anybody?

A. 1 went with a vounger daughter of mine.
kr. LeBarbisyr:
Qe That child just before this one is how 014d?
A. The one before?
Mariana, how old? A. She was thirtzen years
in the month of last Decembero
thbat the child born before

The Court: She has stated already

Mariana was seventeen years cldo.

MARCELLUS BARLATTO, sworn, and exanined by Mre. Macdonna:
Mr. Barlotto, whare do yai iive?

A. Bo. 101 Bast 9thh street.
Where did yoa live in April last?

A. 1 lived there, the same addresse.

Where do yoar do busines:s?
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A. 1ln April last 1 w=s at 55 1/2 Mulberry streete.

in this city? A. Yes , sire

Do yai know thhe delendant?
Didd you see him on or about the 11th of Avnril

your of'fice, 55 1/2 Mulizerwyr strecet, in this cilty?

A. Yes sire

Did you have any conversation with hrim, concerning this

case oy of the girl, Peluso? Ao 1 didoe

Plense stote exnctly what it was?

A. 1 don't remere r ex=ctly thne woral that wer'e usede.

Give us the sub stance as pesr ss vol can recollect] he come
> o

os
]

in Tfivst, aidn't he? A. Ye

You hadn't sent for him? A. No,

What didhe say that he wanted you to ao?

A. He wanted me to intercede withh Lthe Lamily, that they

should not mress this charge,
The fanily of Peluso?
mit ted theat he was giilty.

what aid he say whe n he admitted it?

A, He s2id that the girl was a bad one, that she had

A
1

connecction with other men, that he, too, had comection witl

ner, something to that eflecto 1 do notl say tlhiose are

exrcectly the words that he usedo

Did he say anything as to what you should s&y to the fam-
ily whren you went? A. He tolcd me that 1 should

interfere in his behalf, not to press the chargee That, if

the e was any oxpenses in the case, that he would pay than.

Did he say anything further to you, about money?

A. Well, he said, if there was any expenses in the

that he woauld be willing to pay any amount to zet out

this cases
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CROSS EXAMINATION:
LeEartier:
How long hinve you known the def endant ?

Ae 1 adidn’t know him =2t all, only knew him when we went
away with 0fficer Price to aryrest him, and found him on the
roof, i he wes pointed ot toc me as being Michele Pacciar-—

2nd that is the only time 1 ever saw him.
Whnhen was that? A. 1t
1 think, in the bLeginning of April.
Can you state the date? A, 1 could note
Did voa have any conversat ion with him, then, at the time
of hhis arrest? A Yess', sire
Did he tell ya:r then, also, tlnt he was guilty?
A. No, he did not, he said he wes not guilty, he didan't
know the girls.
Court:
He said he didan't know the girl?
A. Yes, sire.
LeBarki ers
Any other conversnat jonn thot yai had?

A. 1 had sevaeral conversations witly Irimo
With him, at that tihne?

A. Yes, sir , at that time.

What other conversat ion did yoa have with him? .

A. That is about all the conversat ion 1 had with hin; he

denied knowing the girl at alle.
Did yeoa spezk to hin in italian or in Bnglish?
A. In ltaliam and in English, both. He speaks good
Englishe
piad you tell him what he was charged with?

As 1 dide
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s2id ne diin't know the girt?
A. phat's whrat he told me.
Did aa o to the witn 2 im?
A. 1 dide.
Do you know thre canplainznt in this =action?
A. Not thhe complainant; 1 know the fathe>e.

The father of the Hirl? A. Yes, sire
You have kriown him some time; have you?

A. Yes, 1 have known him some y=2arsSe

170w long wes 1t after this that yar sav hiim in the of'fice?

A. 1t was two or three days affter he was arrsested, 1 do

not recollect the exact date, bt two oy thwree day s al ter.

Court:

you mean the aefendant? A, The prisonegrTe

Two or three days aftor he was arrestedny yoa saw the pris-—

onew, in your oifice? A

phe second t ime? A. No, no; that was the

first tine, the coanselloy means.

vou saw him fFirst when hhe was arwvest ed, and then, two or

three days =after, re came to youyry ofiice?

A, Yes siTe 1 don't balieve it was the second t ime,

beeause 1 saw him thhe same day, in ecourtoe.

LeBarbiew:

How long was it after his arrest that yar saw h im in your

of fice?® A. Two or three days after he vwas

arryest ed.

Had yor told him to call uron yu? A, 1 did note

Had vou ecve y known him before the arrest?
Ae 1 did note
Had yor given him yoar name?

A. 1 had g iven his boss my
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Had you ¢iven him your nme? A. No, sire

where is your oi fice? A. 1t was then at
1 z2m =t 50 nowe

55 1/2 what? Mulbery»y streete.

thiast time?

-

witlh whom were yod employed at

A. 1 was with M Caponigrio

A money b roke r? A, Yos,

pid voa give Ti1im the nane of Caponigri?

\e

A. Not nim, no, =ire.

e

A. With wvhom?

How long were you with h im?

- AT

he time of Ihis arrest, in comp wny

Wwith the detfendant—---- at t

. -\‘.

witih him? A. As long =2s it takes to o

fyrom Birmingh=amm str2zt vp to the station howsee.

How long did it take? six minutes, 1

supPo seo
pid you enter the s tat ion house with im¢®?

A. Yes, s ire
Did you go up before the Judge?
You had never seen him before; had yoa?
A. No, sizxre
Yet you went wifh the officer t o identify Irim;
A. 1 didn't identify him; no, sire.

you said you pointed 1 im out?®

How did yoa point h im out,
Aes 1 dian't say thato

ATter these Iive minutes, and when you left hhim there in

you didn't see2 him before he called at

the stat ion house,

your office, 1 understand you toO say?

Ae. No, sir; 1 saw him in the Tombs Police Courte.
Did@ yvou see him fron the fime of his arrest, between that
time and the time he called in your office?

Ae. 1 saw him in the Tombs Police Court.
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Was that in the mesnwhile?

A. Yes, sir; it was alter he was up in the station
house, nnd the sergeant sent Of ficer Pricc down with hiim,
to the Tombs Police Court, and 1 went down with hiim.

jad you tolada him, up to this moment, vour n -me?
tne n2me of your employer?

How long weas it atfter you saw hin 2t the Tombs that he

ecalied at vouxr of fice, or rather yar employer's of fice?

A, i srid, two or three days af ter.

what time of day was 1t? Aes 1 think it was

around noon-—t imeo.

Was anvbody ther=? A, Yes, sir; Angene vas thor=.

Who is Angene? A. Mr. Pacciarelli's employer.

1s he here, in coart?

A. 1 don't know whether hhe is here or note.

Was he here yesterday?

Ao lsaw him here yvesterday; Ves, siroe

He is one of the proprietors of that macaroni factory; is

he not? A. 1 believe he 1 s.

Don't you know that 12 is? A. 1 don't knowe

What is the n@=me of that factory?

A. The name is Angene, Leone & Co. 1t was that way, but

1 believe it hhas been changed.

Was it that way in April, the time you saw this defendant?

Oobj eeéted to.

Was it Angene Leone, the man who called with the defendamnt

in your of'fice? A. Yes, sir.

Was anybody else there? A. Mr., Caponigri was there.

Did he te ar the conversation? A. He did not.
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YWhy not? . A. They came in my private

it is in the rear of the hank.

carried on altogether private

The convers=tion was

office, was it not? A, Yes,

Did vou there tell him anything furthexr =out this chorge?

1 did note

vou speak about the clhiarge atall?

A. VWVell, they spoke abhbout 1it.

pDaad you say you coi1ld do anything?

A. 1 tolda them 1 - would see the parcents, and try and see

whether they would not withdraw the charge; but 1 thought

it was impossible, because the father was hall-crazy OVEer

this mat tere.

is it not the Tact that, in that converssation there, you

cnid to the defTendant, if he gave you i ve hundred dollars

you could settle the case?

A. Wo, sir; they said something sbout tive nundred 4ol-

larse.

ive hundred dol lars was m entioned?

Ae Yes, s ire

Then yoa said you would see tihe fanily?

A. That's what 1 said, but not about the Tive hundred

dol larse.

You said yair would see the fanily? A, 1 aide

Did you not tell him that you could tske Ihim to a lawyer;

ves or no? A, 1 didnot, he had a lawyer
there.

Who was his lawyer? A, Man of the name oFf

Goy¥man, 1 believae

Did you say you would tszke him to the ol'T"ice of Blake &
A. 1 aidnote 1 couldn't say that,

sul livan?
: s 85 1y 7
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because Blake & Sullivan were counsel complainant.

They were counsel for the complainant?

Ae Yes , sire

Macdonras

Did yar go over to Brooklyn with the def=ndant?

A. 1 did, with the defandint and Officoer Barkley,

Societye

He was undaer arrest aat the tinme?
Not with the def andont the complainmnt; 1 went

And with Officer Barkley of the Society?

Yes, ire.

Where was the number, 17'7 Kast 4th street?

Ae Yes, sir; 4th street. 1 don't rememicer tne numbher,

it was nesr the river, the house of Mrs. Moore.
You have se=zn her here? Ae Yeu, sire

You had & convers~tion with Mrs. Moore?

Yes, sire

Myr. IseBarbiex: 1 move that the test imony of the last witness, on
the gquest ion of goipg to Brooklyn, be stricken out, upon
the ground that no time was srecified, and, therefore, it

is dryelevant and immaterial.
The testimony is in already, without

The Cour t: Mot ion denied.

ohject ion.

Mr. LeBarbier: Note an except ione.

ANN MOORE, sworn, and examined by Mre. Macdonna:

Where do you live, Mrs. Moore?

A. ILiong 1sland Citye.
Noe. 177 Bast 4th street.

What street =snd number?




| ’_"— | | . POOR QUALITY |
L/ = e ORIGINAL

How long have voa 1i ved there, Mrs. Moore?

A. Five wve: next Maye.

You rent rooms thewe don't you?

A. 1 own the housee.

in the menth of Apr&l last, aid you rent a room to a man—-—-—

the defendant will stand up----

Mr-. L.eBarbier: Objected,to, on the cround that it is long after

the oceasion of this abduction, in the month of April, and

this is centering around the 7th of Februaarye.

The Court: 1 will allow ite.
Mr. LeBarbier Note an exceptions

By the Court:

Qe Pid you rent a room to the prisoner at the

A. Yes, sir; to that mane

By Mr. Macdonna:

Qe mhis is the man who came to ¥ ai, you hal a conversation with

himn? A., He came 1t ome on a Sundsay, nd

asked to see the rooms, and went up stairs and looked at

“them, and asked the raent. 1 told him eight dollarsSe He

asked me if 1 would let them any less, and 1 told hiinm ng,

that 1 could let them o ften since they had been vacated

if 1 would take children. Ie sa2id he got no children, but

himself and wifeo.

Court:
Nobody bui hinself =and his wife?
Macdonna:

And did he pay you some money to secure those roans?

A. He paiame five dol lzrs deposite.

on account? A. Yes, sir; he asked for a re—
ceipt for the five dol larsSe.

And voir gave it tohim?®
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And then he went away fron the house;

A. lle went aw=zy fran the hrouse.

When did nne return, Mrs. Moore?

A. 1 can't say, was it in April?

over the trninge.

When did he return after this Sunday?

A. He crme on the following Monday, he moved in with some

furnitur e. asked him when he vas going to move , and

he tald me 2nd thar e moved on Mondaye Who=n

1 seen him moving up st.aiyrs 1 went up and asked him, "Why,

was noet zoing tomove before Wednesday," and h 2

I thought hie

said, "Well, Lie ot ocf'f tiiat day." So on Thursday, 1 saw
a woman thex: 1 occupied hiali the floor on the same [ loor
he does, and oceupied tns floor down stairs. 1 had a bed~-

ryoun up stairs, and went up to see Iiim: wheaen she saw me she

opened the door, she came out on her back door, it is the

rear part of the house that she occupi =d.

They took a rear romm? A. Three roomse.

What tine in tho morning was it thhat vou saw this woman

come out of the rom that this man had hired?

A. About nine or ten O'clock. Of course, 1 don't i'emam-

ber positively the time, because 1 passad no ranarkoe.

Was hhe thee in tho 2 ath the timea?
A, That 1 don't knowe

Had that woman gone into that room the night before?

A. I don't know, sire. 1 hain't heard them come in.

You didn't near them going in? A, No, sir.

is this the girl yor saw out of that room? (Pointing to

A., Yes, sir; she lookegd

the complainante. )

much olde» then, because she vas kind of poorly clade.

That is the girl? A. Yes, sir.
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Macdonnas You are not reguired to

CROSS EXAM1INATION:
LeBarbiaer:
is your husband l1iving?

Have you & family?

You h=ove lived tihiee about [rive

A. Five yezrs next May.

Do rou voont rooms? Mo, © ir; 1 own the lhousCe

Do you rent roums? A. Yoes , 81 Te

How long havse »roa i tne niabit ol ronting rorms in Lhat

house? Coing on foary yearse

Do you demand any rel erence whan Yoo rent yoar ro ans ?

A. Yes, sir; 1 would like to know wh ere parties comes

frome

Dida you demand any ref erence of the de? endant ?

A. Yes, sir; 1 asked him whore he came from, he told me

he coaldn't just remenber the strewt; 1 asgked him wh at he

aid, and he toldre he was an engineere.

He s=idhe was an enginesr? A. Yes , siTe

You do not think, Mrse. Moore, that yor may be mist ake n?
A. No, sir, 1 don'to. 1 think that 1is the mane
You say he is the man, or yai think he is the man?
A. Well, 1 ecan't positively sayto recognize nim; as far
as my baliefl is, he is thae mane
Cour t:
According 1o your best judagment
Ae. Yes, sir, he is the mane.
L,eBarbier:
he bar is the man that

Can vai1 say that the defendant at t

hired the room from yoa, by answering yes or no?%

- s o o o

A. As far as my bestujudgment-—

answer yes or no.
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as my best judgmmmt = is the mane

wWill yon swear that the defendant is tilic man?

A. No, ir; I will note

Court:

But yoa will swear, Lo yoar best jadgment?
A. To my best judgment, ;ox:r Honor.

LeBarbi 2re
What month was it that this man came?

A, can 't say; 1 kept no rz2corde The gz 1l emen that

came toms, 1 told tnem that 1 haven't let them (the roans)

since

Have yai had any conversation, sines rest crday , withn manybodls

about this case? A. No, sir, not that 1 know

of, unless the gentlemen ask ed me nhere in the coart house———

S

Nid vou hear testified yesterday that it was on the 7th day

of TFebruary? A, ‘"o, 8ire

Was it on that day that the defenidant and this girl went

there? A, o, sir; the yoams wexre occupl ad

then by anothex party-

TTow long did thege other parties occupy the rooms ?

A Refore that?
" fter the 7th of February, aftervard, they were init?

4. They werez out on the Pirst of "ay, before the month

was up ——- he was out befors the month was oute.

Oon the 7th of February, 1892, these rooms that yoa speak of,

the rear rooms, were remted out to whom?
A.a To a wede lady.

tow long had st been in the hiouse?
A. About eight months.

Mad you rented the rooms by the month? A. Yes , sire
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i1 she was thsre on the 7th of Fubruary,
tiirougn the month of February?
A, No, sir; she moved the 18th of
Patrick's day. That 1 pos
And a fter the 18th of March
A, February, 1 mean to say, shhe moved in Februaar

i+ after the 18th of February before

Now, then, how long was

you say the man that it R e defermant rented rooms

from yoa? A. That 1 can't saye

Can vou say it was a montih or two montl: s7

p
A. No, sir, it wrs not two monthise.

Was it a month? A. 1 czn't say, the only

thing 1 cen say is, 1 throught of it here to-day, 1 had been

whetnh 2> 1t was Marchh oxr

planting the garden at the time-—---

April, it was the last of the monthh he took the roumse

But yor cannot say thhat it was the month of April or May ?

A. 1t was in either March or Aprile

Bitheyr the last of March, when the moved out, was it, or

the last of April? A. 1t was in April, if they moved
out , or else in May—-—-— 1 can't say wh sther they moved into
the rooms the Tirst of April or the first of Maye.

¥ou know the defendant is charged with @& very serious crime?

A. 1 suppose so. 1 don't want to g0 against hime.

With that recollection in youar mind, realising the serious-—

A, He is the only man that rented ro ans from this to now,

and b efore but only one lady; Wwe€ oceupy the rooms ourzse lilves .-

After he went into the rooms, how long did he stay there?
A. He came and mowved his iurniture on Monday e

Q. Did he come alone? A. No, siyr; there was aman, who

nad the load of furniture, with I im.
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When he came and made the agreement did hre come alon&?

A. Yes, sir; there was nobody with him.

Can you say¥ whst day of the weesk that was?
A, That was on Sunda ye

Then 1 e moved when, on Monday?
A., Yes, sir; the naxt darye

Now 4did ne cane

Vs alone? A, 1 didn®*t see
come in at all, 1 heard him walk up stairse.

any woman with .him? A. 1 can't sazr.

you say whether there was or not? A, 1 ean't
Did ¥ou see any woman in the house?

A. 1ot wntil Thursdays.

what time Thursday did this man, who resembles the defl end-
ant, as you say, eall with a woman?

A, 1 didnt'lt sce any womine

That was the first you saw of a woman, Thursday?

A., Yes , sir.
in the morning, or afternoon?

A, 1 srw her in the morning, coming out of tihhe room and

oing down stairs with a b asket and 1 went out in the
=) & >

to the store; and 1 had been out may be

afternoon myself,

~wo hours, and when 1 came back, she stood on the stoops,

and then 1 notieced her to be an ltaliane.
voir spesk to her, in English?

1 said, YGood-evening."

didn't answer me at alle
vYou saw her quite frequently; did you or did yoa not?
A, Yes , sir, right at the doore

vou say she looked older t han she does now?

A, Yes,sir; 1 took her to be a gifl of seventeen or
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< A - s * w3 — .
eipghteen; 1 didn't know her age, 1 am not speaking about

that; 1 only speak to what she lodted likee.

of course you don't know amything wboui the law of this

State, concerning cge?

A. 1 don't know =nyrthing about lhe parties.

You don't know anything zbout the law of this State conecern-

ing age; do yoa? A, Bo, siro

vou say she was poorly clad? A. Yes, Sire

was she clad? A, She lhad an old shawl over

hes shoulders, and a calico dress; nothing on her head.

Was anything covaering h=r face? A. No, sire

So you saw her face? A, Yes, sire.

Was 1 e iface older than it is now?

Ae 1 don't know. 1 only just partly locked at the woman

when 1 passed —-- wie ther she was the woman was to live in

the rooms, 1 had no idea. She didn't answer me.

vou didn't pay any attention to her f ace?®

A. No, sir; 1 bid her good-evening, and passed 1ine.

Did you see her after that time?

A. Yes, sir; 1 had been in tie garden -- 1 coulan't tell

month —-- 1 thought it must be in May, 1 can't A Ve

she in the garden? A, Mo, sir .

The voa saw this girl, you say, was in the hall-

way? A. Coming out of the rooms, into the hall.

And that then you did not observe her closely; daid you?
A. No, sire.

When was it, after that, that yaoi sav her?

A. That s=zme aflternoon.

Where? A. On the stoope.

Dida yoa observe her 'ace?

A. No, sir, more than bidding her good-evening, and pas s- |
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ed in; she dian't answer m=.

From observing her on those two oceasions, coald rou have

idsniified her &ftexwards?
Ae Well, 1 think 1 conidn't. Thoss two i-m tlamen took

her L0 the room; but she is the same girl thaat I have seen

here to-cay that those two men have takene

After that second time when yoai saw her, Wisn was it you saw

A. 1 haven't seen ner from the

ner again?

time 1 lodced out of the window ~-- 1 hesrd one of thhe men

go out mnd close the door; 1 lived then_on the ground floor,

and 1 went to the front room and raised the window and 1

1ocked out, and 1 saw the two goup the street. That's all

1 ever saw —-— a man and woman, their backs were turned t o me.

Macdonna:

This man? A. 1 don't know, sir; they

simply passed out of the stairs, going out of the front door.

VeBarbisr:

long was that girl in yoar house?

A. She moved in there whatever Monday he took the roomse.

The Thursday after 1 seen ner cone out of the roomse She

has not been many nights in the house, bec&u s thare

the dooi wiren he put in his furniture.

pad~lock on
How long do yoa tnink she was there?

A, 1 don't think she was there more than fairr or five

times altogetheie.

you think she remained a week, after that Thursday?

Do
A, I xept no record at all of her being in the house.

He took the rooms on Monda ye Rithew that day week, o Tues -

day, or the next day, 1 heard him walk up stairs, over ny

heades i l1ived down stairs.

You didn't see them up stairs, though?
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Aes 1 went up stairse.

Did xrou see than?®

A. I knocked on the door, znd tike man opened the door.

Now, then, how long did they stay in your house after that?

A. 1 couldn't tell you how many days they have been, but

1 don't think they were more than a nignt or two from that

until they moved their things awvay altogether. There was

a pad-loek on the door, and, of course, when the door was

lock=d on the outside, they caoaldn't get in therse.

Did 3y oa ment that roam after thney left?

A. No, sire
1t hasn't been rented since?

A. 1 oceupy tiien myself.
Did yor have any oiher rooms rented in that house?
A. The top floore

Déuble rooms, wer=2 they? A. Floors, but 1 oceupied

There is water in the back and front;

-

the front myselfe.
there are faoir bed-rooms off the sidese.

i mean to say rooms fTor couplss or single?

A. No, sir, 1 nevsr let out single; 1 let out three rooms;

1 ozcupy the front myself, down st airs, floore.

You never let out single rooms, youd say®?

A. Wo, sd 1

You spoke about being in t he garden?
A. I was in the gaxrden, and she sat by the window, and
1 seen hs ro

Now, vhat time, do you think, what month, can yoi say, thati

was? Ao, Positively 1 can't say, was it

April or was it May -— that 1 can't tello

1 ask you, has her face chunged to this day from what yoa

had seen her? She lodks maich bett er.
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In what way? A. She lodks fattier, =and much

better.
Macdonna:
Regular living?

LeBarbiazr:

Are you prepared to say she is the same girl?

A, She is the girl the gentlemen took me to me,

asked me if 1 recognized h zr.

Will vou say that is the gi 1 who raenained in yoar

A. 1O, sir; 1 will not.

Court:

To the best of yaiyr judgment is 1it?

A. To tne best of my Judgnent it iso.

FRANK S. PRICE, sworn, and examined by Mr. Macdonna:

Officer Price, you are attached to what precinct?

J

3
E i
!
{
'

'Ao The 29tihh precinet , now.

sy

And do you remember, on tle: complaint of the motner of the
Peluso girl, arresting ths Peluso girl and this defesndant

at the bar? A, Yes, sir.

Where did yoa arrest them?
No. 4 1 think the number 1iSo.

A, At Rirmingham street, i,
in 2 macaroni fact ory? A. 1 @aidn't arzest

him in the macaroni factory.

You went to the macaroni factory?

A. Yes, sire.

What time of day was it? A. About eleven o'clocke.
On what day? A. 1t was on a Saturday, 1 think

the 9th of Aprile.

Who did you aryxest first? A. 1 TPirst went up

stairs, and asked the foremmn if the girl was theree 1 took
v R e e N D e e . . " 2 ;
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i ster-in-law,

aovwn and broigiat har to her mother

was down in the street, 1 braight her down three Tlights

and left e with ner mother, and went up to the macaroni
factory ag2in Lo see if this man was there, tlhhrs defendsante.

{1 went all the way to the roof, the scuttle on the roof was

open; 1 didn't see ambodye. 1 asked th= bOsSs where he wase.

vou had a conversation with the boss?
and the

A. Yes, sir; 1 had a conversat ion with the boss,

boss said he was around —-—-----

You goil no into:mat ion Irom the boss as

Aes Moo
vou went out on thne roof énd look edd for hrim yourself?
A. Yes, sir. When 1 got on the roof 1 dgidn't see him,
put 1 saw the way he could jump to tlhre oth er woof; 1 didn't
want to jump it, the other roof was about <¢ight feet lower.
1 went down the street, 1 went down to the third ¢ enem ent
and he was behind the

house, and went up on the roof there,

chimneye.

on the third house south of the factory?

Ao Yes, sire.
in what pos it ion was he wike n you Bound 12 im?

A. Sitting down, he was crouching behind the chimney

Had yox known him before yair arrested h im?

A+ NOo

You had a conversation with the boss, on wnat floor?

A, On the ground Tloor.

When yoi went up stairs did yo have the girl with ya, to

identily the prisoner? A, 1 aid nota.
Mr . Barlotto was

Did you gOo up alone? A. 10>

with mee.
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Did yaxr go up on the wof? A, Yes, sir.

Had you anybody, besides Mr. Barlot o, witl yar on the rooifl?
Ao NO, sire.

Had you spoken t o an:body beside the boss before going up

on the roof? A. There was a girl coald talk

she talked Englishe

<

English, up on the third floor;

Because of her talking to you, did you £O up on the roof?

A. Mo, she didn't know nothing. 1 saw the scutile open,
and 1 wenit up.

When you got on the roof,dlid yoa seg the de tendant ?

A. On the rouvf of the Tactoxy?
Yes? A. Mo, 1 did note.

You walked over on the roif, did rou?

A. 1 welked over {o the edge of the building, the factory.

Then there is a lower house thare? A. A lowexr house.
Diad you see the defendant there?

A. 1 didn't see him then.

Did ror g¢ back? A, 1 came backe

30 that yo1r hadn't seen him at all, @l this t ime?

A. Not up to that time 1 hadn't seen anybody on the roof .
ghen did you go to Officer Barlotto?

A. Mo, 1 came right down stairs thsne Barlat to was

there, and 1 said, "1 think he is on the otihi ey roof, comea
up with me, " and he went up.with mee

pDid yyroa go up on the other roof?

A. 1 went up on the roof of the t enement house, two Or

three houses belowe

Did yoa f£ind him there? A. Yes, sire.

pDid vou say anything to him? A, 1 placed him under

arrest and told him 1 wanted him to cane tO the stat ion

nhouse; he said, "Let me go in and see the boss;" 1 said,
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"1 have no ime for bosses, 1 want you Lo

tion housee"

Was Barlotzo with yoar at the time? A, Yes , sire.

any other caversat ion tinat ;- nad withh the de-—

fendant ? A. No; no othere.

Did yoa take him down into the factory?

A. 1 todc him down into the street,

into the 1 act orye.

Then rouw :toock him Lo thie stat ion house?

A.
pida conversat ion about the crime charged?
r» ard

Ae they were all cattering, the moth iy

thisgirl and him, they were all chattexing, in ltalian;

conldn't tell what they were saying.

Where did yai taks him from the stat ion house?

A. To the Tombs courts

Did you have any conversat ion with himn?

A. MO

Or any conversation with him since?®

Was Barlot to with you when you arreslted im?

A. Yes, siroe

And did he continue with you in the stat ion house?®

S ire

And with you at the Tombs? A. Yes, sire

Was he bailed at the Tombs, aftex the exanination?

Ao, The court was closed; we went back ,1 took him down

and he was commit ted, and 1 undewrstood

there Sunday Mo rning,
he was bailed afterwards; 1 don't know.
Did yai1 go to Pit tsburgh, on the extradition papers, t o

bring him pack, when hhe forfeited his bail and went away?

A, No, sirs.
Objected too Obj ect ion sustainede.

N ¢ Larnee St T feex
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SEPEAPHINE BUCClVR1l, sworn, =2nd examined by Mr. Macdom:a,

thraigh the interpreter.

yar know this defendant? A, Yes, sitre

y oa know Mr. Barlat to? A, Yes , sire.

yoa know vhers Barlatto's office was, in April last?

A. Yes, sSires
What numbex? A. 155 1/2 Mulberry street.
Do yot know a man named Angene?

The employvey of this man? A, Yes,

Do you remember when this man was arrested?
A., 1 don't remember the cdate.

You remember about his being arrested?

A. Yes, simre.

Do you reremabe r, two or three days alftcr he was arrested,
seeing h imand Angene in the oifice of BarlotZo at 55 1/2
Mulberary street, in this city? A, Yes, sirs
Did Angene and this man, and Mr. Barlotto, while yoa were
ther=, g0 back into the back of fice alone?

Ao No, sir; 1 lodced out of the window; 1 seen Angene
and Michele Paceiarelli went into Barlotto's officee.

you only saw thzm go in? A, Yes, sir.

CROSS EXAMINAT ION?®
LeBarbiaez:

Did vyar see them o in the front door?

A, Yes, sir.

V

ou were wh cere? A. At the window, Jjust across

the waye

And you saw the defendant , and Angene, the boss of that

factory, ;o into this office t ogether?

A, Yes, sire.

Aftey» that did you see them? A. T saw them go out.

PO
R B N




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

You saw them cane cut?

, s ] -
But you didn't hear any conversation?

Ae. Mo, sire.

Or see Lhem go into any back office?

A, No,sir; 1 saw them go into the office, but 1

see whatever they done in tlyere.
Wnen you saw them go into the o I'fice, dida you lose sight of

them? A. No, sir.

Couxrt?

You didn't sees them after theygot in the of fice; 4&id yoca?
A. Ohh, NOe.

LebBarbier?

gow long have you knovn Angene?

Ae I never knew hhim, only 1 knew
Where did yaa first meet Angene?

A. 1ln nis place there, the factorye.

Did yvou ever work there? A. Mo, sire.

When did you first meet him? A, The day Angel-
ino Peluso snd myself came over to +the ol fice and took Mar-

iana; first we went over and took Mar iana away, and Mich-

ele Paceiarelli cane up and he says, "Let us alone, she is
my wife, " or whatever ne salde.

what day was this? A, The day we got him ary-estea.
"She is my wife?®

The day yox got hin arrested, he sadd,

s Siroe
Cour t:

That is, the def=sndant said, "Let us alone, she ismy wife?"
A. Yes, sir; and he says, "She has got my gold watch in

her pocket; let her cane in."
LeRarbilex:

What day was this? A. The day we got him arrest ed.

vt T & eI e ST R




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINZAL

Phis was just beforre he got arrest ed?
A. Yes, sir, just the same dav, in the morninge.
You were at the factory?
A. Yes, sir; with Angelino Peluso.
pid vyou see him under arrest?
Did vou see the officer goup to hin?
A. Yes, ©ire
Where did the officer arrest him?
A+« At the roofe.
You did not follow him on the roo ©?

A, No, 1 was waiting down —=---

Did the officar cane down with Nnim?®

Macdonna:

po you yemembex the orficeyr caning down nd bringing down

the girl, first, and giving her t o mer mothe»?

Ae IO -

The oi'ficer did not ‘cane down first with Mariana wh en he

went up into the factory, Officer Pr ice?

A. No; Mr. Barlatto took Mariana Peluso, and Price tcok

the delfendante.

pid he bring down Michele Pacciarelli from the factory or

from another house? A, From the factory.

You are guite ce tain mbout that; are youf?
1 4

A, Yes, sire
When the officer says he didn't bring him down from the

factory but that he got him on another house, two oy three

aoorys away -—-———"7%

A, 1 saw him, he went in the factory, and he went th roagh

the roof, 1 aidn't see the regular door, wherever he we nt
or anythinge

vYou don't know how he got out?




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

«

A. No, sir; we weres waiting outsidee.

Didhe not go on thc street with Price, vihiere wou were all

chattie ring? A, Yes, sire.
You don't know wheths» Price came down out of the factory,

or +heth 2r lIre came down out of another building?

Ae 1T Sire

All you know was he came there, and had Michele with him?

A. Yes , S1re

LeBarbier:
Fou saw the ol ficer go in the building?
A, Yes, sire
Did vou see him go in alone?
siry with Mrae. Barlatito.
Now, then, was that the first time fiicer went into

the buildaing? A. that was the first

time.
How long did he stay in the building?
A. About half an hour; he was lodking allaround.

Did voi see him comne out of the buildin g%

A, Certainly we dido.

vou saw him come out of the building daid you?

A. Yes 3 ire
When he eame out of the building did he h2ve Michele Pacec-

iarelli with him? A. Yes, Sire

phere is no mistake about that, is there?

A. No, sir; no mistake.

cour t:

The deteetive says he went out of the building and went up

in another building, and behind the chimney he foand the

prisoner; all yoi know is what he t dada yoau?

A. Yes, sir, I only saw him when he was brought
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street: 1 don't know where thizy brougnt him from.

LeBarbie>»?

pid v oaa see him brought out of the taectory by the officer?

A, NO, sir; we was waiting outside; we saw Michele Pace-—
arelli, and the officer broight him out.

pid he coame out of the factory?

A. 1 ain't sure of it, whiether it was the next door or

the factory; 1 se=n it was just next to ite
Macdonna: That is the case tor the People.

THE CASE FOR THE DEFENCE.

T,eBarbier: I ask youy Honor to d irect the Dist et At torney

to elect upon which coawnt he will go tO the Jurye

Court? 1 deny th= motione

LeBarbier: 1 ask that the count for rape be taken from the

suryv, on the ground that thesre 1is no covrroboxration.
J >

Cour te I ++i11 submit this case to ths jury on the second
count of the indietment -- the crime of perpetrating an act

of sexual intercoarse with a Ffemale, under tha age

teen vears, not his wifieo.
Mr . LeBarbiexr: i swmit to vour Honor that on that count there
no corroboratione.

The Courtse 1 deny yairy motione.

Mr. LeBarbier: Note an except ion.

M1 . LeBarbier opened the case for the Defencee.
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CAROLINE RUSS0, sworn, and cxamined by Mr. LeBarbier:
You are an 1ltalian; are you nct? A. Yes, sire

What is the n:me of your husband? A. Liasaruo.

Wheres do you live?
A. 108 Mulberry street, in this citye.

Did vou ever live at 71 Mulberry strecet?

A Yes, sire.

Did vou 13ive there in t e month of February, 18927

A, Yes, sire.

Did you ever work in the macaroni factory at that time?®

A Yes= sire

rar know wiisse that factory was?

A, 1 don't know the n:me of the street.
i know Mariana Peluso? A. Yes, sir.

that the girl (pointing to the complainant)?

Did vou aver work with her in that factory?

A. Yes , sSire

Did she l1ive in the same howuse that jou did?

A. Yes , Site
On vhat floor «id yar live?

A, We lived on the first {loor, and tiey lived on the

top floors. Qs Did you go to work with Mariana, in the

mo rnings, to the factory? A: Yes, sir; and we

czme back in the evening t ogeth ere.

And was that done svery day? A. Every day.
Do you raecollect that the defendant was arrested, early

last year? A. 1 remenmber that he was arrested,

but 1 don't remenber the day.

rec.al lect wie the r you and Mariana, down to that time,

Can yoa

went to the factory tégether and returned?




A. We went tLogether

ways, that the defendant

Dida you =aver go to thini factory on

the boss?

Do yoa know Angene,

yyou a key, on any

Did he ever give

cane back on a Sunday 10 urn over

to the I"actoczry
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up o tie dazte, al-

vias arrcstede

2 Sunau=z:?

<N

A. Yes, sire.
S= turday , telling you

tne paste?

A, ile never gaveme tne kevy of the factory, and

nover besn there on &2 Sundaye

_ CROSS EXAM1NATION.

Macdonna

When were you married, what yea »?

A, 1 was married on the 17th

been married for seven 0¥ &

How lorg. is youxr child dead?
A k‘fsr baby is alive_.

How long after you

A. Seven month s.

What becsme of yair husband,

went

A, He

born?

burgh.

Was it on account of the promptness of the

neir that he lLefft?

anything; but foand work there and

When? A, 1 do not

went e

Has ne sent for you since he

Did yaoa gof? A. No, sir;

Where is your child now? A

You have been down here two days,

ol June

were married was

Lasaruwo,

af't erwards to

Ao

remamber th=

At my

in this case,

st year; 1 have

ight monthse

the baby born?

after the child was

work at Pit ts-

arrival of the
He was not afraid of

went to

Pit tsburghe.

month wvhz2n he

went away?

1 aidn't g0e
hane.

haven't
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A. This is the oniy aay that 1 nave beven hs

You: h=ve b=en h=re all day; havan't ouw?
A. Yes, sixre.

And how olg is »rax - baby? A. Two monthis 0lde

And who is nursing the baby? A. My mother has

got the baby; 1 nurse th= - but my motin2r is holding it

NnNowe
Dicd she testify that she was f"actory on this Sunday

or Aany Sunday? A. 1 have never been in that

Factory on a Sundaye.

Never was in that factory on a Sanday ?

A. NWo, sir, 1 nevay have bgen on a Sunda ye

Do yvou know & man bnamed Angen 2?

Ae 1 know him; he is thne bosSe
isn't it the that, on the Sunday testified to by Mariana,
she, the wilness, was down stairs, on the first floor of

that factory, having connection with Angene, the proprie-

tor of that place, while the def endant and Mariana were

up stairs? As 1 repeat that 1 have never
been there on a Sundaye.
Any other day —--— ask her about that & ain, repeat it to her?
A. 1 had nothing to do with Angene.

Ask her, was she aver in that factory when Angene and this
bl

dei cndant snd Mariana weére there, and nobody else was in it?

A, Wo, sire
Tell her that we would li_ke to have 1 2r here Monday mornirg,,
with the two months old baby?

A, She will bring the babye.

MARIANA PELUSO, recalle:d by the Court:
went that Sunday with yoa to

Is this the girl Caroline who

your employer's place of business?

S
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A. She is the s#sme girl that came and called at my house-

Anda vou went with her that Sunday to the place whiere the

macaroni was made?

A, Yes, sir; we did; she came and called at my housee

And went with rou that Sunaay? A, Yes, sire

CAROL1INE RUSSO, recalled by Mr. LeBarbi=r:
say that 1is not trie,

You h zve neard heir statement; you

do ;a1 not? A, 1t dis a 1lie - she can saj
never have beeaen

whateve » she thinks prop=¢«, dDut on a Sunday 1

in that placeo.

I,INA PACCIARELLI, sworn, 2nd ex=amined by Mre. LeBarbier?

Are yoa the wife of the defendant? A. Yes, sir.
Have you any children? A. Yes, sire.

How many have yoa? A. Twoe.

How o0ld are theay? A. 1 have a little girl,

she is th ee vears of age; and a lititle boy, he is a year

arnd a h=alf old.

Have vou always liwved with y air hu sband from the t ime of

your marriage? 5, sire

Down to what date? A. Dow to the 9th of April.
Where did yoa live? A. 1 live No. 22 Spring strest
During all that time? A, Yes, sire

Does yair husband sleep with yvou every night?

A, Yes, siroe
No doubt an your mind at all about that?
A. No, Sire

Why did vou not sleep with him on the night of the 9th of

April? A. Bacause he was arrest ed.

When did he return to yoa? A. The 10th of April.
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The following day? A. To the third of May.

The 10th of April was the fol lcwing dzar?

pia vou sleep with him that night? A, Yes, sir.

And daid yoa continue t o sleep witpn him, v Y night?
A. Yes,;, sir; zvery nignt.

Without interruption? A. Without interirup tion or

anythinge

pown to what date? A, Downto the 3yd of Majye.
When, 2a2fter that, didyor sleep with him, afiter the 3vd of
May ? A. About the 20th of May ag ain.

where was it then yoa slept with him?

A. in Chicagl.

on the third of May, 1892, did yoary hu sband go to Chicago?

A, Yes, sire

Yyou are ertain about that?

MROSS EXAMINAT ION?

Macdonna:
Now, you testified that vou-ralways 13 ved w ith youar husband,
A, Yes, sire

sinee y o1 were married?

Ever Sinece yoi were married, every night he slept with yoa,

except the might he was arvest ed? A. Yes, sir;

except the night he was arrest ecd.
vou said all this oceurred at Spring street, in this city---

that is where yoa lived? A, Yes, sire

Where was youyr husband on the 27th day ol June, 189272
A, He was in Pittsburgho.

Were voi in Pittsburgh with him? A, Yes, sire

pid yoa go to Pittisburgn after h im?% A. Yes, sire.

How long ahead, had he got to Pit tsbur gn?

go, and £rom QGhicago

ra Ty S

Ae 1 f£irst time 1 went to Chica
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went with hin to Pittsburghe
Did vou ever ses that young lady before (pointing to the

girl Giaccia)? A. Yes, sir; 1 se=n hor be-

forece

Where did yoi1 see her? A. 1 saw her about

three months ago, in Pit tsburgh.

This husband of yairs, who has slept W th yoir every night

sinece yvo1 were married--—-during all these three ysars he has

been a Faithful, loving hw sband?

Yes, sire

He coalnd't be bett or? A, He couldn't be bettere.

And you never nad any cause of camplaint?

A. 1 Nave never had any touble at alle.

You never said to anybody ¥y &t had? A. No, sire.

pid you ever see that man( pointing to & memn in court)?

Where did you see h im? A. 1n New York, 1 knew

hhime
pDid you @ver see him amnywheres else?
A. No, sir, 1 didn®'t see him anwhere else, because 1 know

nim, because he wvwas a neighbor, living in my mother's yard;

1 never had anything to do with him.

I

You never spoke to him about your husband; didy a1 ?

Aa NO, Sixe

Or about his daughter? A. No, sire

Do yvou know whether your Il sband went to Pit tsburgh, be-—

cause———— T T T T T T T T

Objected to. Obj ect ion overruled.

po you know why? A. Yes , six.

Why? A. He went because T or work, he had a good

that is the reason —-— in Chicago he could’

job over there,
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not get a good place.
i1t was not becaus2 he was called here, in tnis coirt, to

be triesd for this crime? A. Rrnai do yoi mam

by this?
This articular thing that is here now ---don't you know
that nis bail was forfeited in this court, and he fled the

jJurisdiection? A. Yes, sir.

And that he had to be sxtradicted?

Objected toe.
you may

The Court: They have & right to show that he ran awal;

disprove ite

Mr. LeBazyrbiexr: We claim he 4did not run awaye.

Mi*e Macdonna: We will produtece the PDAperse

Qe You know why he left; don't yrou?
want to stay in New York, on ac-

and

A, Beeczuse he didn't

count ot ne hadn't lived good, but he went to Chicago,

1 went aftex» this, elsven days after, to Chicago, and from

Chicago we went together to Pit tsburghe.
hecause he was indicted and skipped his bail me ran
away? A, 1 don't know; 1 think so.
Now, will you tell us what conversat ion yoa ever had, if

any , with that lame man whom 1 produced here, concerning

voar hushand?

Obj ected toe. Object ion sastaine=d.

LeBarbi er?

Do vou know why yoar husband went to €hicago?

A, Yes, sire.

Can you state why he went to Chicago?

A. You mean how many days alter?
Why did yoea go there? A. Because

WOTrKe
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He went there for wo rk? A, Yes, sir.

Do you know that he was told to go to Chicago? You can say

vres oy no¥? A. 1 don't know.

Do ;o2 know Angene? A. Yes, 1 do know Angene.

Now, 1 repert, do you know whethe r oy not nhe wvas told to go

to Chicago? Yes or no.
A. 1 don't know.

He didn't 1'ind any work in Chiczgo; aid ne?

A. WO, s ire

And from there he went to Pittsburgh?

And he did {ind work there; did he not?

A. Yes , sir; he daid tind wo rkoe

1t was work unde r contract; was it not?

A. Yes, sire.

Do vor know the parties with whom he worked?

A. Yes, sire.
What &' Sii2ily names?

Ae. Bonastile & Bisie.

was he weo king down to the tine when ne came back to

York? sire.

you were with him?®
say you knew the girl Giaccia?®

A, Yes, sire
vou know hez as a married woman; doO you not?
A, Yes, sir.
Do v o1 know her husband? A. 1 don't know her

husband; 1 never seen her hisban de

She told you she was maryied?
she told me she was mar vi ade.

(9

A. Yes, sir;
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M1CHELE PACClARELLI, sworn, and examined b

You =z=re ths defendant in this act ion?

Yes , sire

A. Twenty—-thrce.

How o0ld ar= wvou?
You are a married man, the lasi witness was your
and Yy aor have two children?®

A. Yes, sire.

Have yvou always lived with your wifei except the times that

have be2en mentioned here? A, Yes, sire

Did vou worxk in the facbtory oi Angene, Leone & Coe.,

city? A. Yes, sire.
Whazn did yoa work there?
Ae 1 worked since they put up the shop the Lirst

You work ed under contract there, did yoa not?

A. Yes, sire.

At so much p=r barrel? A. Yes,l worked
thevre, and worke d some places else, at so much per barrel,

in another shop, in another Tact ory, 1 used to do like thate.

When was it he f'irst commenced working with Angene?

A. 1 think, 1890, thre=s years ago; 1 don't yvemamber; 1

think so.

Did they have girls in that factory? A. Yes, sir.
was aboul six oxr SevVelle.

How many ? A. Oh, there

How many girls were working there in the month of February,

18927? A. Since he put up his factory?

No. In February, 1892, how many girls were: working there?

As There was seven givls and one boye.
You were superintendent of that factory?

A YGS, Sire
You heard the canplainant's statement, yesterda}, about the
5r

£irls being there; did yoar not? She said there were only
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th>ee girls in the month of February?

A. 1 know better —— 1 was superintendant—--— there

six or scven girls theree.

You know bat ter, becsuse yoa were superint endent ?

A, Yes, sire

Did they work on every Ifloor?

A. Bvery floor was occupisd, three ppeoble on each floor.

On the 7th of February, 1892, which was Sunday, did yoa go

to the Tactory with Angene? A, wo; we didn't

nesed 1o go to the factory on Sundaye.

pid yrou go tnere? A. Noo

“

Were yoa there at any time on that day with Mariana Peluso?

A. No, nothing of. the kind.

She says that she went theare with Caroline, that Caroline

had the key and opened the ®@or and went 'in, that they lock-

ed the door after they were tHere, and that you came in with

Angene, that yarx found them on the First floor, and that

you took Mariana up to the faarth floor , and head comection

with her on that floor?

A. No, ne w v do nothing of the kinde 1n mnmoth er shop

there was twenty girls -—-- 1 ne ver was a man to do such a
thinge.
You nevey adaid that w ith her on any occasion; did you?

A. No, 1 was in Pittsburgh, and 1 took a girl out of the

shop—~--

That when you got there, or, rather, just before yor did

this to her, yol gave her your wateh; is that so?

A. Oh, no; they stole my watch, a gold chain and silver

watch, and locket.

That you came down sta irs, and that you we:nt out with Mar-—

iana, and that yoa took her then immediately to Brodklyn?
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A. Nothing of the kind.

That yoa went to the house occupied by Mrs. Moore, and that

there you engaged rooms?

A. This is the first time 1 saw Mrs. Moore, here in court.

This is the first time?
A, The rirst time 1 =ver saw here.

o doubt in y car mind; is tle re? A. Mo, sir.

Mariana says ya kept her there a week?

A. prothing of the kind.
When were yos arrestead?
A. 1 was arrested on the g9th of April.

Mariana says that on that Sunday jyou todk her to Brooklyn,

and that tne +ollowing Saturday you were arrested; is that

t rue ? A. That 1 took her on the Sunday

after 1w as arvested?
No. On Sunday, the 7th, she says yoa took hexr to Brooklyn,
and that on the following 'Saturclay vorL wesre arrxrested?

A. Wo, sire

That is not true? A. No.

You were not arrested until the 9th of April?

A. The 9th of April.

Whers wer2 yoo arrested? A, 1 was arrested right

up on thne roofe

You heard the testimony of Of ficer Price here to-day, in

this coart? ) A, Yes , sir.

He says that, on the adjoinging roof, behind a chimney,

you were crouching, and he arrested you; is that so?

A. No; 1 was just at the end of the pipe, the water pipe

comes on the roof, 1 was standing near the pipe fixing it

up, I hada to fix that pipe, it was leaking thragh the

building, inside the buildin ge
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Did you wmn up on the roof to get away Ifrom =ny officer?

Ae. No; 1 didn't have any business to TN &Wa Ve

pDid vou know that the oificer was after o1 on the 9th of

April? A. No, 1 naver suspected amything
of the kind; becatuse 1 didn't do amythings

You he ard the testimony of Mrs. Peluso, on ti2 witness-
stand, today; did yo? A, Yes, sire

She says that she had known you, lthink, for two or Lhrec

days befor: she went to sce you at thsa t'actorye. Did she

see you at the factory? A. Noo

pid she ew r, at any time or anyvhere, have any conwversation

with y ax about her drughter?

A. 1 dan't underst and thes lawyer, explain it again.
a man, around to

Mrs. Peluso says that yoar scent somebodl ,

her house? A, 3O

That then she came to your factory and the first thing yaa
o o 85 ¥

said was, "1 seducsd yoar daughter, but 1 will maryy her

yoir to say to that ? Did

on the Brooklyn Bridge." What hiave

you say that? A, No, sir, 1 never saw her;

may be she was in the shop, am 1 was up st alrse

Courts

You newr saw the mothey in yoar life?

LeBarbi ¢»:
You saw her today? A. 1 saw her to-day; 1 saw her
here, bui not in the shope.

Were yar always in any particular place in that factory,
or up and down, on every f£lo or?
A, 1 was up and dowvn, on every floore

Anda if she did cane, she didn't see yaa?

and she be

A. No; because may be 1 was on one floor,

down stairse.
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On the 9th of April you weres arrosted; and released

following 4ay’? A, Ye., sire.

Did you remain in the c¢ity of New York -—- an+til what t ime?
A. Until the 1st of May.
And did vyoa go to Chicago then? sire

in the mearwhile, had you been indicted -- that is to say,

broaght up to this ba» and asked ul: ther you were guilty

or not guilty? A. Noo

Hed yoa been brought down here, to court, do you recol lec t?

A. Noo

vou did not plead until January 6, 1893°%
Bsire
Now, why had yoi gone to Chicago?
A. 1 went to Chicago because the bhondsman i had came down
and pled, whe ther 1 was guilty or not guilty, but 1 told the

owner of the property tha 1 didn't know anvthing of the

matter; he went bonds for me, and he says, "1 will Fix eWery-

thing all right," and then 1 was brought to the lawyer,

and the lLavyer told me: 1 had to come on a *onday, and then

the bondsman says, "1 will fix the mat ter; you can g0 ," be-

wse 1 wsed to tell the ownexr of the property 2ll the time

what 1 have been in such twrouble for, if 1 d idn't do any-

thinge.
Vho was the owner of the property? A. Ang me.

Angene told you yai could go away?® A. Yeu, sirte

And voa did go away, ¥ or the reason that he said he would

sttend to this me tter, and you went to Chi cago?

A, Yes , sire
And there you obl ained no work; did yoa?®

Ae No, 1 was there for fif'teen oy sixteen daysSe

And then you went té Pittsburgh?




Did you get woirk there?
vou wroked there 'or some time?

A. Yes, 1 vworked for five or s ix monthse.

in the meznwhile, please state uwhe ther o3 not yai wers re-—

ques ted to cane back t o New York, bV Ang en &%

A, Yes ,sire.

Did you come baek? A. 1 dia come back.

1 mesn to say, was there any quest jonn ot trouble about
irls with Angene, that yar would not ¢ ane b ac k?

A. OF coarse, because 1 didn't do anything; they arrest-

ed me

Was there any quest ion about +amales in the faetory, about

vair caning back? A, NOo

Then why did yjou not cane to New vork, when Angene reques ot

ed vou te cane to New York?

A. 1 aidn't come t o New York, beczuse 1 send word to Mre.

So the

Angene that 1 didn't want any female in the shop.

cont ract 1 had in Pittsburgh put the female out, becuase, 1

says, there being sueh trouble -- i dian't do mything.
Q. You daidn't want anything to do with fenales?
A, Yes, sire.

Qe Did Angene agree to that?
A. Angenc said he wanted to have fema les in the shobp,

the same as they used to.

Mre Macdonna: I move Lo strike that answey out, as not responsivee.

The Court: What Angene said is nothing mors than heapsay testi-

mony=—-—--however, it is in nowe. it is not proper to give

conversations in that kind of way, unless it is given under

the sanction of an oath. 1t is in, and let it stay im,

for vhat it is worth.

[P e
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By Mr. LeBarbier:?

Q. Did they send any war-ant to Pittisburgh, to bring vyox back

on a warmant? A, Yes, sire

pid you se= Angene when yoi po0t back?

A, Yes, sir; 1 sav Ang=e when 1 got back.

where did yoi sze hhim? A. 1 seen h im down

CROSS EXAMIMA T IONZ

Macdomyal-:

Now, when you wecnt away ffrom Angene, in May, there wes

going on there; was there not?

A. Yes , sire.

vou went away to get employm-nt elsewhere, you went to

Chicago to tzke a place; dgian't yaa?®

A, 1 went by his o rder.

Hesent yoa to Chicago? A, Yes, sire.

There was work going on in the Birmingham strest ffactory

all the time; was there not? A. Yes , sire

A1l the time yoa were nis superintendent, and he sent yoa

to Chicago?

You stayed in Chgicago itifteen days, without being able t o

get anything to do? You left Angene's factory tull of peo=

ple and full of work, and you went, by Angene's in st ruct ions,

to the city of Chicago? A, Yes, sire.

To lodk fTor work; you were ifteen days, and yox could get

no work; is that true ? That is vhat you swore to already ,

i don't know whether it is true or not.

As Angene told me that, to go, he said he can at tend to

his busin es:s.
And he wanted vou to go to Chicago, and you went to Chicago?

Ao Yes, sire.
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You were there fifteen days without any employment, didn't

get any work?®? Ae NO.

wWill vou explain to the jury why it was that yoa should al-

low Mr. Angene to send you out of this town away a thousard
miles ~-- what did you go that thousand miles for?

A. Because Angene told me that.

But why do you suprose he told you—- what did youa want to

get out of town for?

He wanted to get me out of town because 1 told him many

times 1 was not a man to do such a thing; he went bonds for

me, he said, "1 will fix everything myself, and yor can go

in Chicago."
And that is the only reason you went to Chicago?
A. That's the only reason —— 1 nevex was in the court

before.

Did vou ever se e that yaing lady before (pointing to the

Gracecia girl)? A, Yes, sire.

Did she wovk in the factory? A, Yes, sir.
Did yol1 see her in Pittsburgh?

You don't know how she got to Pitttsburgh; do yaa?

Ae NOo

You broaight her there to get her wo rk%

A. Wo, nothing of the kind. 1f you want me to explain
it, 1 will explain it to yoxo.

What day did you see her in Pittsburgh? VWhat time of the

year, what month? A. 1 don't remaember; 1 was

fifteen days in Chicago and then 1 went to Pit tsburgh—-—-

may be 1 saw her, 1 don't know the month; if it was after

that, 1 can't tell that; 1 was working in a shop.

Did Angene evey ask yoa to come back in the shop? Didn't

he send for you, and ask yai to come back - - answer that
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quest ion?

A. My wife was in New York, and visited his people---his

ffamily.

Mr. Macdonna:l i move to strike that out .

By the Court:

Q. Did Angene ask yoa to cane back?

A. Angene told my wife that he want ed me bsack, and my

witfe told me. 1 sent Wword tomy wife to tell Angene 1

wouldn't work for him unless he tods females out of the

shope. 1 had so much trouble —-1 never used to do such a
tihiing.

MMacdommas

vou did hear from Angene —— OUu neard Angene wanted you to

cone back to New York, and yoa didn't come?

P AT R

Ae NO He went to the house, and asked for my wife; my

wife was outo.

You heard from Angene that he wanted yoi to cane back to

ew York; didn't you, yes Or no <%
A. Of him, no.

gourt:

Your wife told yoa that Angene wanted you to come back, your

wife wrote to you? A, Yes, sir.

Macdaonna:

Wou were maraied in this city, oux wife was 1living here,

and yoar two children were in this city?
A. Yes, sirs.

And you want this jury to underst and that Angene ha d power

enough, by simply telling yoa to do it, to send you away a

thousand miles, and when he want ed you to come back he was

not powerful enough to bring yot back? (To the 1lnte -

preter: See if you can't explain that to him.
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A . Angene wants to have me here 1 didn't know on

what aceount; he wanted me to work 2in; 1 sent word to

him, "1 won't work in yoar shop, 1 d dn't do anything wrong,

may be you and somebody else do wrong, and put it on me,"

and that is why 1 didn't come b=ack any more.

1n the meant ime here was employment and your wife and two

children, in the city of Mew vork , waiting for yoa?

A. 1t was only fifteen days —-=— my wile was with me, she

was 11iving with me eight months . She cmme to Hew York, and

Angene went to the house , =nd asked for me.

Pirst your wife cane b ack to New York to live withh yoar

children? . , sir; she was with me,
s inece 1 was in Pittsburgh, ror about eight months; she left

Pittsburgh to come to Hew vork , whon Angene went to ses her.

Whenn did voa cone b ack fFrom Pit tsburgh to llew York, what was

the month —— what month did Mr. Melaught bring yoa back?

A. Last monthe

Angene wanted you to come back?

What month was it ym h eard

A. Before that.

How many months? A. About twenty five days

before, and then, some other time, they sent wo Yo FPirst

1 heard from Angene about forr or five months ago, and the

i ast time 1 heard from Angene it was when he went to see

my wife, Wwe n she arvived in this city.

When h e heard from Angene, five months ago, did Angene ask

fhim to cane back to go to Work ?

went to the house of

A. Angene, four or five months ago,

my mother—-in-law, and asked her to write to me, and let me

know, so that 1 should come back and go to work with him.

arrested in the city of

Now, as matter of fact, ym were

Pit £sburgh; were you not?® A. Yes, sir.




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

- o T

And you were taken out of jail there by &n ofrficer from New

York, who went all the way from liew York to get you-— Me
Naught; is that twue? Ae. Yes, sir.

And then you were brought back here?

A. Yes, sir.

As soon as you were brought back here you were put at the

bar and asked to plead to this ind ictment?

A. YTes, sire.

On which indictment Mr. Angene was bondsman for yoar ap-

pearyance to plead? A, H“e was my bondsman,

but of course 1 didn't know at the tine what had been done.

You know what ha d been done, since you got back?

A. 1 know nothing at =211, because 1 hazd never been in

coart—-1 don't know what Angene has said or done.

‘ias he se en Angene since he st back?

A, Yes, sir; 1 saw him down sta irs.
Did he tell yox, when yor saw him, that this bond that he

had g¢iven for you had been forfeited, and that the Sheriff
was on top of him asking for the bond, the money?
he tolad

A. He didn't tell me nothing, kecause, before,

me that.
He didn't tell you anything? A. When 1 went
me =nything when

in Chicago he told me that; he didn't tell

1 was brought here.

(The question is put to the defendant by the lnter-

pretexr, and he answered, "He did not.")

Now, he has been sitting here, and heard the test imony of

Of fi cex Price? A. Yes, sir.

WVhere did Of ficer Price arrest him?

A, He arrested me on the roof of the fact ary, close to

the water pipe.
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On the roof of the factory -- you are certain about that?
A. Yes, sir.
1t 3 s not true that you pt down from the factory to the
1ower roof, on the other side, and went behind the chimne y?
A, Wo; 1 aidn't ha any business to g© there.
You didn't go? A. 1 daidn't o, NO.
And that story of the officer's is not t rue?
fe No, 1 didan't go on the other side of the building at
a2all.
You heard what the officer said; did yoa?
A. That is what the officer said; if the Judge will aldow
me to say 8 word-—-- -~ «

Court:

is it tme, what the of ficer said?

TR

R P rerra)

A. Wo, that ain't true, judsece.

You were arrested, yoa say, on the top of the roof, where

you were: working; on the very building uou were working?

it was lezaking,

A. Yes,sir; 1 was fixing the water pipe,

the water ran down through the building.

vou were arrested on the roof of the factory where

working? A. Yes,
Wot on any other yoof?

Macdonnas:

Do y ou know Barlatto? A, Yes, 1 saw Barlatto.

vou heard what he test ified to, about your going to nis of-

fice three days after you were arrest ed; did yoi hear that,

yves or no? A, Yes, sire

is that true? A. 1 went with the bondsman,

because Barlatto wanted to have five hundred dol lars out

P e ——— ———— e —

of 1%, and he told my brother-in-la

Mr. Macdonna:s 1 move to strike out the answer, &S irresponsive.
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(The question was put by the lnterpreter, and
the defen .ant answered, "Yes, we did.")

Qe Did you sy to him, Barlatto, that vou would like to get

this casc settled? A. lio, nothning ot the kindg;

e o e s W e o

he was spesking with Angene; 1 didn'i have nothing to say.

Q. Mrs. lMoore,

%

this woman who caie all the way Tfrom Bro delyn—--—

you never saw before? o, =ir; 1 neer

saw her until 1 seen her in this trial.
Hever saw her before?

Court:

Barlatto says that rFoa told him that you had connection with

this complasinant, but she was &a bad girl, and othhers hhad
connect ion with her, too; is that twme?

A. Hothing of the kind, Judge.
Dida you tell him that?

A. 1 never speak to Barlatto at all, 1 only heard, when

1 came from Pittsburgh and was arrested, 1 hemrd he wanted

Pive hundred dollars; and he told my father- in-law he wanted
five hundred dollarse. -
Did you tell the mother you wanted to marry this oirl?
fe Nothing of 1;]‘1e kind.

Did you tell the mother you had seduced her, and you wanted

to marry her? A, No, siroe

You did not tell Barlatto that you had seduced her?

1 daidn't speak with DBarlatto at all.

Ao
Didn't say a word to lhiim? A. Just the owner of
the property spoke -- Angene.
not a word.

But you didn’'t speak to him? A. Nothing;

Macdonna:

Do you rememnber Mr. Barlatto, his going to Pit tsburght?

A. Yes, sirwr.
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And telling you vwhat you were want ed in New York for, to

answer this charge? A. He asked me, 1 says,

"] never saw you before, 1 don't know you," because he want-

ed five hundred dollars. vhat did he want five hundred dol-

lars out of me for?

Did he tell you what you were wanted in New York for—--didn't

he tell youi to come back, you were wanted on this indictment;

yes or no? A. Yes, sir.

Dien't ne ask you if you would come peaceably-

A. 1 told nim 1 didn't do amything of the kinu,

wouldn't come.

e had to go to get an officer to arrst you, and he did

get an officer and arrested you; is not that true?

A. Yes, sir.

You stayed in Jail until the authorities came for you, you

stayed there until the New York man came and brought yoa

here? A, Yes, sir.
Court:

This conplainant, this little &> Yl, says yoi had criminal

connection with her; is that true or false? Lod at her.

A, 1 daian't have nothing to do with that girl.

New »r 'to_‘(_éhezd her r» touched that giril,

she was as any in the shop.

You never had anything to do with her? A. No.

Do v a1 know, of your own knowl edge, why she makes this

charge against vyoxr, she knew yot were maryied?

A. In the factory 1 used to discharge all the girls, and

discharged them every one; and Mr. Angene wam t to the very

house, amd got them girls, and broxght them to the shop. 1

dian't want to have themgirls in the shop any more.

Did you eve r discharge this little girl?
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A.1 discharged two girls, and this othner

You digscharged this girl, the canplainant?

A. The canplainant, and far Sirlse.
When did yoa discharge her?

A. About s ixteen months 20
What did you discnarge her foxr?

A. 1lsent them all away-

What male you discharge the conpla inant ?

A. 1 discharged thatgirl, idischarged some other girl,

too; 1 discharged them becanse i dian't want any more girls

in the shop; 1 saw things & cing on in the shop were crooked.

What was the crooked things ¥y @ Savw in the shop?

A, 1 sew they were £ odling around; sometimes 1 was down

on one floor, and foand they were fooling with the man;

there was two girls and two men.

But did you evewr see this girl fool with any man?

Ae Two other mene.

You saw her fooling with two other men?

A. Some man in the shop-

Vhat i s his name? A. 1 don't remember; 1

don't think he is there any moree.

You say this girl makes tihi s charge against you becarsz yor

A, 1 discharged the girl.

discharged hh exr?

That i s the reason she m&kes the chnarge, in y air opinion,

against yoa? A. Yes, sir; becauss 1 discharged her.

She was working in the shop just previous t o the t ime—--how

long b ef ore that hald yoa di secharged her, before she made

the eharge against yoa? A. 1 discharged

her before, two or three month s ago.

Two or three months before? A, Yes, sir.

Hadn't she wao ked in that shop three months previous to the




e

—

time yoa were arrested?

A. Sne wrked thsre, 1 discharged her before.

Then you toock hner back? A, 1 didan't taxke her

back; the owvner of the property went and took her back.

LeBarbaer:
That i s, Angene? A. Yes, sir; 1 daidn't

havwe any power to take the girl in the shobe. 1 wanted to

have boys in the shop, not girls any moree.

a Juror:
Qe 1fow did this little girl econe in posses sion of this watch

and chain? A. This watch and chain---

somebody stole it, a silver mteh and a new suit.

A. Ky house.

How aAid she cane in possession of it?
A. That is sare:ithing 1 saw on tihat tsble yest erday, and

1 notifisd the lawyer 1 saw my wateh risht there.

Courtit:
Do yoa know how she becane posses sed of it?

A. No, 1 just seen the wa teh; my wife fawnd it was all

brok em——-1 have a thousand witre sses can prove when they

stol e in my house.

Macdonna:
Did y oi hear yoaur lawyer, yesterday, ask Mariana if dh e was

not arwested for stealing that wateh and some clothes . yran
you -~ Aaid you heay him ask that gquestion?
A. 1 gon't undewrstand that qu est ion.

(The gquestion was put by the inte rpreter, and

the witress answered, "1 did hear the lawyer making
that gquestion to the wi tnes.s.")

Dad you tell yaar lawyer to ask that quest jion?

A. Yes, sir-.
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Was she ever arrest ed for stealing that watch, that that
juryman has asked yoi about? A. Hlo, sir; she
was not arrested, because my wife did n't know who stole it,
although she went to the Department.
Then it is true she had the watch untilyou saw it on this
talkle; is that right?

A. 1 thought that that watch was lost, and 1 only knew
it when 1 saw it on the table yestevda.
And yet, wh=2n ne s»w it on the table, he told his lawyer to
zsk the witness if she had not been arrested and brought
to court, for stealing it 1'rom nim?

A. 1 didan't ask the lawyer to put that quest jon, but 1

told hinm only that 1 was robbed of that jewelry?

By a Juror:

Br.

The

M.

M1 o

93

Were you rol: ed of that watch whilst you wers working in
that factory, or afterwards?
A. While 1 was wr king in the shop.
Court: .
You were robbed of the watch while you were working in the

sho'p? A. While 1 was working in the shop.

I,eBarbier: i have the mother of that little girl, as a wit-
ness; 1 expect her back by four o'clo ks 1 gdgon’'t know
whether your Honor would sit soO longe.

Court: We had better close it to-day, we have spent so mach
t ine. VWhat do vox want to prove by her?

T.eBarbier: 1 want to prove that that 1ittle girl, Caroline,

was always in the house with h er mother, on a Sunday, until

the time of her marriage; 1 consider that very material.

Macdoma: i1f it will shorten the caseé, the People will con-

cede that, if the mother was here, she would swear to that.
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we reste.

Then

,eBarbierxr:

T

Mr.

sidese.

Counsel summed up on both
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District Policec Court.

STATE OF NEW YORK, %

CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK. \
Tt &. W
of Numbgr.. / /WW% Sl ek oy sworn.

deposes and says, that o7 fheo a/g’ma./k,/"‘w_ day of. Z2 v ;?& at the
X e

City of New York, in the County of New York.. M ....... \}7/0: ..............................

7

dhicrefore the complainant prays that th e said.. .

may be s.ppgeldeWstad-—&ﬁH—éealt with a:j:{ng to law.

/é“‘b

Sezwore 2o before me, Ll2ts

day of W ~

Police Fustrce.
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CITY AND COUNTY |
OF NEW YORK, -

e

) 7 A years, occupation

7/ ;émvé UM —

aged

Ryt sy

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

. Ao\

/L,VLL U N G

Police ‘Iz/st
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STATE OF NEW YORK, é’é o Piin O Sy P W 3 _,/z < 2 —2 — ’__),

L.
CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK, { 55 7 ,
of No. / / . 9“2/"/&& - \)l’ being duly sworn, deposes and says,
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. i /’% District Police Court.

See. 195—200,

CITY AND COUNTY)
OF NEW YORK, (%
Alictrok. A »

% I S R < e DEING - duly examined before the under-

and being informed that it is heo right to

signed according to law, on the .uxne.\ul (,h.un-(,
It~ ; that the statement is designed to

make sr‘.tement in relation to the cha irge against
see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h ——~—=

enable h ~~~_ if he
heo waiver cannot be used

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that
against  h « on the trial.

Question. YWhat is your name ¢

Answer. \//WW-’/L j) 1L e BeA T L/LJ

Question. How old are you ¢
\,__7

Answer.

Question. Where were you gorn z

Answer.

Where do you live, and how long have you resided there %

What is your business or profession ?
\

Amn.swer. @J/ L2~

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in _the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

Qrestion.
Answer.

Quesition.

exculpation ¢

oy g

‘907
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crime therein mentioned has beemn

It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the
awse to believe the within named

comnitted, and that there is sufficient c

guilty phereof, I order that 7e be held to ansicer the same, and he be admitted to bail ir the sumnv of
Hundred Dollars,. ... [N - - (7 2 i - committed to the W’ardezfand Keeper of
%}y ..-‘:.:.—4-‘-‘:: —.

the City -. )
: Z . - = Police Ju_sbice.

Dated
/4

T have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the undertaking hereto k

Dateds

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

suilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be discharged.

Police Justice-
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COURT OF GANERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE
IM AMD RQOR THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK;

‘

IR ) e pave -

THE PEOPLE

Vs. BRIEF FOR TIE PEOPLE.

MIGUAEI, PACCAILII.

STATFMENT OF CASE:
Tha Defendant, Michael Pacecailli, is charged with the crime of
rgrpe on Mariana Pecluso, azed 14 rears, residing ol
Straaet, which offansae took plac: at No. 4 Bimin
he [ floor of ihs maccaroni factory of
Qth, 1892,

on or @bowt Feb. =

ourth

WITNESSES:

MR TATIEeY G- Radlllsc,
“Mareellis.Berdatio,
Rociiayro,

R

MARIANA PRLUS0O, aged 14 years, will testify:

That in October, 1891, she obtained employment in the factory
of Angene, Leon & Co., No.. 4 Rivmingham Street,, where some thirts
other girls were employec. That she there fiist met the Defendant
Michmel Pmccailli, who some two months afterwards began to meke
free in addressing her. That she first had sexual intercourse with
defendant on Sunday, February 7th, 1852. That on the Saturday pre-
vious, Defendant told Witness he desirsd her to come to the factory
on Sunday to assist in some work; thal she came the+we about noon;

that Defendant requested her to accompany him to the roof of the
factory where some maccaroni had been spread to dry. That they
started toward the roof, and that when on the fourth floor which
is a large loft, Defendant asked her to lay down on the floor, which
she refused to do. That Defendent then foreced her down, and, al-
though she offered resistance, had complete sexuxl intercourse with
her. That she was unwell at the time of intercowse, and, remember
ing her last courses, is able to fix the time of the occurrence.
> That after the above time, the Defendant frequently had inter-
course with haer, gensarally at the same place, for about two months.
That on the Sunday preceding the arrest (which occurred April
oth, 1892), Defendant, believing Witness to be pregnant, told Wit-
< ness that her parents would kill her when they ascertained the :
“> truth and thus induced her to go to live on the followins Tuesday
. E“: at a room which he hired for her at 177 E.4tn_St.,E.I.City,,where
. q""« she sbayed until Lhe arrest, gZoing Lo work ab th2 fac Tor avarer day

S
Nowavar. .

i WITNESS will Ffuvrther stats: That Defendant gave her his gold

| waboh and chain to care for, which articles are now in her mother's
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possession.
FURTHER: That Witness never had sexual intercourse with any

person other than the defendant, Michael Paccailli.

. MRS. ANGELINA PELUSO, mother of previous witness, will testi-
fy: N ' N

That chil&.,was last unwell about Februa 9th, 1892; that when
she was absent fx Ap=il 3rd, witrigss bgeame anxious
and went to the fae #she was refused 3y FHpportunity to
see her daughter. L gf da#%ly at the factory
with the same result unPfl Saturday, the 9th 6T Apgil, 1892, when
she saw Mariana on o’wark; that she apprg#ched hem, and that the
Defendant Paccaill j#Aided the girl to esg&pe from herh

then went to the #ixth Precinct and cayfed defendant's”

Officer Price. _r g

FURTHER #hat on Monday, April 14% _
¢ knew he had done wropf but that he would take Marian

#n and marry her. Tha #when told he was already married,-
replisd "that would pbke no difference, he had got the

trouble and he wanteg to do right by her".

e
. e

MARGELLUS BAﬁLATTo, of 5@#T§2 Mulbei{y %§§égffﬂwill testify:
That oh April 1lth, 1892, the Defendant .€ame to his off ice
and offered to pay through him (witness) &s€um of money -~ Three

Hundred Dotlars -- to Mrs. Peluso to s:%p“ e prosecution.
W¥tnes% that he had had sex-

riana Peluso.

ual iwfercoursh wi the above ed girl, W
N,
SARAH ROCHERO will corroborate the mother Angelina Peluso
only as bo her visits to the factory.

AL SE thaﬁg)efe nt admitd,ed to

¥Defendant ,
tPeluso, whom s ti
; ¥ & to pay hi

e rooms, as as not pl
Were missed from

FRANK G. BARKLEY, Officer of THE N. Y. S. P. C. C., will tes-

tify:
That he went with Marian Peluso {also Mr. Barlatto and Sarah

Rochero) to No. 177 E. 4th Street, L.I.City, where Mariana iden-
tified a room as the one in which she had stayed, having been taken

there by Paccailli, from April 4th to April 9th, 1892.
ALSO that he has had charge of case from beginming.

w. TR}V‘T’[S @IRR, M.D., 365% Lexingtony ue, will Yes
examina n of the son of NMyfriana Peluso
of thebﬁ epration . er geni
cat®

eﬁ@. - tCertif on file). %

Y
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OFFICER PRICE, of Sixth Precinct (if necessary) will testify:
That he arrested defendant on April 9th, 1892, on ths complaint

of Mrs. Angelina Peluso.

e e o= = ==0000 00000 00 000
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Discrict Atcorney’s OffIce,
City and County of New York.

Czty and Courty : i
of New Yorgk, } 5 oy ﬁ %W/CA/O~
Strezt] aged.. AL 4?/ "

being duly sworn, deposes arnd says.

185> >rat the City of New

A S ==

.-v%z&{e . %ﬁm\ J@W\W
R
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Discrict Attorney’s DLLIce,
City and Counly of New York.

City and Cowrly } }/ - g i

of New York, ) Ko Al O )

Streel, aged... ol years,
being duly sworr, deposes and says.

, al the City of New

of No.
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COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE
IN AND FOR THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE
VS. BRIEF FOR THE PEOPLE.

MICHAEL PAGCAILLI.

STATEMENT OF CASE:

indicted for the crimes of Abduction and Kid-
Mary F. Giaccia on or about May 2nd, 1892,
from 2 & 4 Birmingham Street to Jersey City in the State of New
Jersey and then under the pretense that he was returning her to
New York, in company with a man named Frank and a woman named Nun-
cia Rossa, aged 18 years, took her to Pittsburg, Pennsylvania,
where they went to a hotel where the defendant, forcibly had sexual

intercourse with her.

The Defendant 1is
napping in taking one

WITNESSES:

Marie PFidele Giaccia,
Louis Giaccia,
Juanina Rigzgze, .
Madelina Paccailli.
W.. Travis -Gibu, M. D.

MARIE FIDELE GIACCIA states that she was 14 years of age on

1892, That 3n she last of April, 1892, she met one
Juanina Rizza, aged 20 years,of 202 Flizabeth Street, who asked
her if she desired employment in a factory. That she (Witness)
replied "Yes" and that she was then introduced to the Defendant,
Michael Paccailli, who was a brother-in-law of the said Juanina -~
That after working in the factory a couple of days, on or
_about May the 2nd, 1892, the Defendant met Witness as she was leav~
ing her house and accompanied her to Elizabeth Street near Houston,
where they were joined by a man named Frank, and later the defend-
ant told her that he would make good any loss of wages and asked
her to accompany him and Frank to Jersey City, where Frank expected
to meet "his girl" Nuncia Rossa, aad together they would then re-
turn to New York. That she then accompanied him to Jersey City,
where the defendant told her that it being rather late they had
bettar take a train back to New York. That she demurred but the
man Frank and the girl Nuncia persuaded her to accompany the de-
fendant to the train which they boarded and later she ascertained
from them that they were going to Pittsburg, Permsylvania, and not
to New York. That the woman Nuncia gradually quizied her down so
that when she arrived in Pittsburg she accompanied the others to a .
hotel (nume and address unknown), where she was assigned to a room
and aftsr ltocking the door went to bed. That some time thereafter
the Defendant, whom sine had left in the bar-room of the hotel
drinking with the man named Frank, came to the room door, knocked
thereon and, when she refused to let him in, bursted in and then

by threats and physical force compelled her to have sexual inter-—

course with him.
That on the following morning, the Defendant took her to the

April 25th,

Rigza.
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house of a countryman, where they remained two days and two nights,
durins which time the Defendant had sexual intercourse with her
ceveral times. The third day after arriving in Pittsburg, he re-
moved to another house wherethey remained three days and night
where Defandant again had sexual intercourse with her. The Defend-—
ant then informed Witness that he was going to send for his wife,
Madelina Paccailli, and the man Frank took her to another country-
man's house, where the Witness remained about one month, the De-
fendant visiting her- occasionally but rot havins any sexual inter-
couse with her there. That while at this last house the Witness
met a young man, named Carmeno Cecceri, whom she married after one
month's courtship, and with whom she has been livine since at Ben-
nett's Station, Pemnsylvania. That Witness will also testify to
having written to her father informing him what the Defendant had
done to her; that her father then came on to Pittsburg, found the
facts as she had written, returned to New York, secured warrant for
arrest of Defendant, then again went to Pittsburg and secured De-
fendant’s arrest.

WITNESS FURTHFR POSITIVELY ASSERTS: That she had no intention
of leaving New York; that prior to the time of sexual intercourse
with Defendant in Pittsburg she was a virtuous girl, and that she
is very anxious +to have justice dealt out to Defendant.

LUIGT GIACCIA of 193 Mott Street will testify:

That his daughter, Marie Fidele Giaccia, the foregoing witness
was born in Italy on April 25, 18783 that she is therefore 14 years
of age; that she departed from home on or about May 2nd, 1892, and
that he knew nothing of her whereabouts until he received a letter
from her dated Pittsburg, Pa., and learned the facts as stated by

the foregoing witness.

JUANINA RIZZA, of 202 Elizabeth Street, will testify:

That she introduced the complaining witness to her brother-
in-law, the Defendant, upon which the said Marie Fidele Giaccia
was employed by the Defendant, who was foreman in the maccaroni
factory at Nos. 2 & 4 Birmingham Street.

MADELINA PACCAILLI, wife of the Defendant, will testify to the
fact of having informed Luigi Giaccia (after the latter had re-
ceived information from his daughter in Pittsburg) that her hus-
band, the Defendant, Michael Paccailli, had left New York City and
had taken the said Marie F. Giaccia with him.

W TRAVIS CIEB, M.D., 365 Lexington Avenue, will testify as to
having made a physical examination of the person of Maria Fidele
4 found evidence of complete penetration of her genital

Giaccia an ’ .
organs by some blunt chject.. . (Certificate on file)
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Gomt of Genexral Sessions of fhe Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tre ProriLE oF THE STaTE OF NEW YORK
against

m, @MH-“W i

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New Yeorlk, by this indictment, accuse

- W ~ \_’gO\A&:—. e w P A

of the CrIME or ABDUCTION, committed as follows:

The said ~S o D= @o_ PR N - ,J/

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the jo= = =~

day of ——\\Nm.\&_ N in the year of our Lord omne thousand eight hundred and

P
ninety- > N , at the City and County aforesaid, did feloniously take, receivgaharbor,

axnrpieyatndase one ~me‘ =N ,% ,e&v:\_a > who was then and there a female

under the age of sixteen years, to wit: of the age of ﬁgx\\w years, for the purpose of

sexual intercourse, he, the said e s -~ @M&w—\ BN N , not being then and there

.. against the form of the

the husband of the said G~ r——~g i';./., S‘C\‘QD\"“‘ T S

statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of

New York and their dignity-
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And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

ok

T Sh W = PP A S

of the CRIME OF _&;W”*Qg'_ﬁ

committed as follows:

The said “~<~<vo-ND_. aAd o (Lo c -~ —=mr a2
'/

_—

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year

aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, MM ,\,\.-ob\@»&.\.é
Ml-—%:-\' ;,-.__.\’sz-_ > Kb AT A S P~ m__ (>.o:p~—b\ NGO~ ]
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@ourt of Grenexal Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tae PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

agdainst

I P WL P - W T N A

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

i SN G, W G .. S

of the CrRIME or ABDUCTION, committed as follows:

The sald QN "R . B e DD —_

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the/\c\.w\%(_

) .
day of kM:.n the year of our ILord omne thousand eight hundred and

———3<;»re- » at the City and County aforesaid, did feloniously take, receive, harbor,

ninety-
who was then and there a female

employ and use TN U PPN O, (P, >

under the age of sixteen years, to wit: of the age of ™ M’Kﬂ_\nw years, for the purpose of

. . . .
sexual intercourse, he, the S:.LICIWQ PRGN N N N being then and there

the husband of the said L ot ol QS o, ) against the form of the

statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of

New York and their dignity.
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AND THE GRAND JURY ATORESAID, by this indictment further

.
. — -
accuse the said W

- s
QN.MN\,,@—’

of the CRIME OF PERPETRATING AN ACT OF SEXUAL INTERCOURSE
WITH A FEMALE UNDER THE AGE OF SIXTEEN YEARS, NOT HIS

WiITE, committed as follows:

The said ~C - ST = L r— SRS S P

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and -in the year afore-

said, at the OCity and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon a certain female

. . e —
not his wife, to wit: henm, the said e~ s T G - N =~

then and there being, wilfully and feloniously did make anethss assault, she the said

> Py — CE o D > being then and there a female under the

to wit: of the age of ?\,Q——\M&_sr_ﬂw—— years ; and the said

age of sixteen years,
< >=C o then and there

sly did perpetrate an act of sesxual intercourse with her the said

. — oS ~ :
\’\(\M RS , against the form of the

peace of the People of the State

wilfully and feloniou

statute in such case made and provided, and against the
of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.




